DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

[Student's name typed]

Date

APPROVAL SHEET

STRUCTURAL AND FUNCTIONAL STUDIES OF MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE 1 ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN IN VIRAL REPLICATION

By

LIANG SHANG Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Microbiology & Molecular Genetics

Eric Hunter, Ph.D. [/

[Advisor]

Cynthia A. Derdeyn, Ph.D. [Committee member]

Paul Spearman, Ph.D. [Committe

[Committee member]

Samuel H. Speck, Ph.D. [Committee member]

David A. Steinhauer, Ph.D. [Committee member]

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

STRUCTURAL AND FUNCTIONAL STUDIES OF MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE 1 ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN IN VIRAL REPLICATION

By

LIANG SHANG

M.Sc., Fudan University, 2003

Advisor: ERIC HUNTER, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Microbiology & Molecular Genetics 2009

ABSTRACT

STRUCTURAL AND FUNCTIONAL STUDIES OF THE MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE I ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN IN VIRAL REPLICATION

LIANG SHANG

The membrane-spanning domain (MSD) of the human immunodeficiency viruses type I (HIV-1) envelope glycoprotein (Env) is critical for its biological activities. In this dissertation, genetic approaches are used to study the structural and functional roles of the MSD in viral replication. By examining a series of C-terminal truncation mutants of HIV-1 gp41, we show that the entire MSD is required for normal Env incorporation and viral infection. In contrast, a region of 17 residues (K681 to A698) is sufficient to stably anchor the protein in the membrane, allow efficient transport to the plasma membrane, and mediate WT levels of cell-cell fusion. Truncation to the residues that are N-terminal to F697 resulted in an Env complex that was secreted from the cells. Based on the analysis of these mutants, a "snorkeling" model is proposed for the structure of HIV-1 MSD. In this model, the 12 residues (L682-L693) form an intramembrane helical "core" and the flanking residues K681 and R694 are buried in the lipid while their side chains interact with polar head groups. In order to understand roles of the highly conserved hydrophobic residues and glycine motifs in the MSD "core", we constructed recovery-offunction mutants by initially replacing the "core" with 12 leucine residues and then reintroducing the specific residues. We show here that conservation of the MSD core sequence is not required for normal expression, processing, intracellular transport, and viral incorporation of HIV-1 Env. However, specific residues in the MSD do play a critical role in the Env-mediated virus-cell fusion and subsequent viral infection by modulating conformational integrity of the Env ectodomain. Substitutions in the MSD "core" result in several minor and localized conformational changes in gp120 and the gp41 ectodomain. These conformational changes impair initiation of the early events that are required for formation of the 6-helix bundle and subsequent fusion pores; while they does not influence the specific virus-cell attachment, nor the recognition of HIV-1 Env to the CD4 receptor and CXCR4 coreceptor.

STRUCTURAL AND FUNCTIONAL STUDIES OF MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE 1 ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN IN VIRAL REPLICATION

By

LIANG SHANG

M.Sc., Fudan University, 2003

Advisor: ERIC HUNTER, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Microbiology & Molecular Genetics 2009

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my mom, Yunxia Yang, my dad, Zhangtao Shang, and my sister, Yang Shang, for their love and support of so many years.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I sincerely thank Eric Hunter, my mentor, for his support and guidance during the training. I do appreciate that, as a student in the Hunter laboratory, I was given the freedom to manage the projects on my own pace and do the work that I was interested in. In Eric's lab, the time of science and the life out of research are both very enjoyable. Being an international student, I am grateful to Eric's patience to my English and a lot of non-science suggestions that made my school life smooth. I also sincerely thank my committee members Dr. Richard Compans, Dr. Cynthia Derdeyn, Dr. Paul Spearman, Dr. Samuel Speck, and Dr. David Steinhauer for their critical feedback on my thesis work and for their interest in the development of my scientific reasoning.

Before I entered a Ph.D. program in Emory University, many people were supportive of my interest in the Microbiology. I would like to thank Professor Yuxiang Li for teaching me the knowledge and techniques of Mycology in Nanjing Agriculture University. Also I would like to thank my mentor, Professor Changsheng Fan, in Fudan University for his guidance in the training of Bacteriology. I always remember and appreciate the tremendous help I obtained from Dr. Jiang Zhong in Fudan University. It was the enthusiasm of Dr. Zhong in Virology that encourages me to join the HIV research. I am grateful to the help from Dr. Casey Morrow and Dr. Alan Zajac during the year I spend in The University of Alabama at Birmingham.

I am thankful for my friends, Xiaodi Yao and Lei Xin, who are both graduate student in Emory University. It was so fun talking science, having dinner out, and going vacation with them. They made my life in Atlanta more colorful. I thank the past and present members of the Hunter laboratory for all the help I obtained and all the wonderful time I spend with them. They are Melissa Alexander, Jon Allen, Effie Bartley, Debby Basu, Carla Belk, Sushma Bhakta, Debi Boeras, Daniel Claiborne, Chandrima Chatterjee, Jasmine Clark, Ted Diehl, Susan Dubay, Paul Farmer, Richard Haaland, Paulina Hawkins, Marintha Heil, Amber Johnson, Wendy Lumm, Christina Ochsenbaur, Lara Pereira, Jessica Prince, Malinda Schaefer, Adrain Smith, Tshana Thomas, Ajay Vishwanathan, and Ling Yue. I will definitely remember the times we have spent together.

Thanks also go to the friends and collaborators on the first floor of Yerkes Vaccine Research Center: Yaohui Bai Bing Li, Rebecca Lynch, Natalia Makarova, Bob Mittler, Megan Murphy, Grace Rong, Yuanyuan Chen, Benyue Zhang, Chunxia Zhao, and Jing Zhong.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION1
Enveloped Viruses and Envelope Glycoproteins1
Membrane Fusion and Fusion Mediated by Viral Envelope Glycoproteins7
Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type I15
HIV-1 Envelope Glycoprotein28
The Membrane-spanning Domain of HIV-1 Env45
TRUNCATION OF THE MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE I ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN DEFINES ELEMENTS REQUIRED FOR FUSION, INCORPORATION AND INFECTIVITY49
ROLE OF THE MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE I ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN IN CELL-CELL FUSION AND VIRUS INFECTION
RESIDUES IN THE MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN CORE CONTRIBUTE TO CONFORMATIONAL INTEGRITY AND FUSOGENICITY OF THE HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE I ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN
DISCUSSION154
GENERAL REFERENCE LIST163
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS194

LIST OF TABLES

	Faye
Table 1. The Enveloped Viruses and Their Envelope Glycoproteins	4
Table 2. The Virus-encoded Proteins of HIV-1/SIV	27

Page

LIST OF FIGURES

INTRODUCTION

Fig. 1 The orientation of viral envelope glycoproteins in lipid bilayer
Fig. 2 Viral fusion proteins in the pre- and post-fusion forms13
Fig. 3 Membrane fusion14
Fig. 4 The structure of a mature HIV-1 virion and its RNA genome25
Fig. 5 HIV-1 life cycle26
Fig. 6 The Env sequence structure43
Fig. 7 Membrane fusion mediated by the HIV-1 Env44
Fig. 8 The biological activities of the HIV-1 Env44
TRUNCATION OF THE MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE I ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN DEFINES ELEMENTS REQUIRED FOR FUSION, INCORPORATION AND INFECTIVITY
Fig.1 Amino acid sequence of HIV-1 MSDs66
Fig. 2 Expression profiles of HIV-1 Env glycoprotein67
Fig. 3 Cell surface level of Env glycoprotein and cell-cell fusion examined using SV40-
based Env expression vectors
Fig. 4 Cell-cell fusion examined in the context of provirus expression
Fig. 5 Infectivity of HIV-1 Env truncation mutants70
Fig. 6 Incorporation of Env into virions71
Fig. 7 Two alternative structures for the HIV-1 MSD74

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Page

ROLE OF THE MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE I ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN IN CELL-CELL FUSION AND VIRUS INFECTION
FIG. 1. Amino acid sequences of HIV-1 MSD104
FIG. 2. Expression profiles of HIV-1 Env glycoprotein105
FIG. 3. Cell surface level of Env glycoprotein and cell-cell fusion examined using SV40-
based Env expression vectors106
FIG. 4. Infectivity of HIV-1 Env mutants107
FIG. 5. Cell surface level of Env glycoprotein and cell-cell fusion examined in the
context of provirus expression108
FIG. 6. Incorporation of Env into virions109
FIG. 7. Virus-cell fusion assay110
RESIDUES IN THE MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN CORE CONTRIBUTE TO CONFORMATIONAL INTEGRITY AND FUSOGENICITY OF THE HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE I ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN
FIG. 1. Kinetics of cell-cell fusion mediated by the Env138
FIG. 2. Examination of hemifusion intermediates139
FIG. 3. Sensitivity of MSD core mutants to the levels of CD4 and CXCR4 on cell
surface140
FIG. 4. gp120 virus capture assay141
FIG. 5. gp41 virus capture assay142
FIG. 6. C34 and T20 inhibition of cell-cell fusion mediated by the Env and viral
infection143

INTRODUCTION

Enveloped Viruses and Envelope Glycoproteins (Env)

Enveloped Viruses. Enveloped viruses are viruses that have viral envelopes covering their core structures that are mainly composed of nucleocapsids. These viruses include both the DNA and RNA virus, including flaviviruses, togaviruses, retroviruses, coronaviruses, filoviruses, rhabdoviruses, bunyaviruses, orthomyxoviruses, paramyxoviruses, arenaviruses, hepadnaviruses, herpesviruses, baculoviruses, and poxviruses. Viral envelopes are made up of lipid bilayers and are typically derived from host cellular membrane, either plasma membrane or intracellular membranes.

Envelope Glycoproteins. Virus-specific transmembrane glycoproteins, which are encoded by viral env genes, are incorporated in the envelopes during viral assembly. Structurally, most viral envelope glycoproteins are the type I integral membrane protein, with a single transmembrane α -helix linking the ectodomain and the cytoplasmic domain tail. In some positive-strand RNA viruses, such as the flaviviruses, where structural proteins derive from a polyprotein precursor, the transmembrane region may be a α helix hairpin that traverses the membrane twice. Viral envelope glycoproteins (Envs) must carry out at least two functions: binding to receptors/coreceptors on the surface of target cells and mediating the fusion between the viral envelope and the cellular membrane. The extracellular domains of viral Env, which also tends to be the most glycosylated region and major antigenic domain of the Env, typically performs both functions. The membrane-spanning domain (MSD) of viral Env is usually responsible for anchoring the entire glycoprotein in the viral envelope and may be involved in the oligomerization of Env monomers. Most viral envelope glycoproteins have a small cytoplasmic domain; however, some retroviruses, such as Human and Simian Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV and SIV), have a long cytoplasmic domain of approximate

150 amino acid residues. The long cytoplasmic domain interacts with capsid proteins during viral assembly and usually contains signals for the intracellular trafficking of the Env. The enveloped viruses and their envelope glycoproteins are summarized in Table 1. In addition to the virus-specific envelope glycoproteins, viral envelopes also contain some nonspecific host membrane proteins, such as the MHC molecules and integrins (238).

Types of Envelope Glycoproteins. The viral envelope glycoproteins can be categorized based on either **(I)** the number of membrane-spanning domains and their orientations (Fig. 1) (138), or **(II)** the mechanisms by which viral Envs mediate membrane fusion.

(I) Translation of the Env mRNA takes place on the surface of the ER The N-terminal signal peptides of envelope glycoproteins membrane. introduce nascent peptides to a ribonucleoprotein complex known as the signal recognition particle (SRP), where the translation continues and is coupled with the translocation of polypeptides across the membrane into the ER lumen. The number of membrane-spanning domains in an Env protein is determined by the number of stop-transfer, membrane-anchor regions. Most viral envelope glycoproteins contain one stop-transfer, membrane-anchor region, which is generally located towards the C-terminus of the protein. The translocation process of such proteins results in Envs of a Type I orientation with a relatively long N-terminal region in the ER lumen, one transmembrane domain, and a relatively short C-terminal tail in the cytosol. In some viral envelope proteins, such as the influenza virus neuraminidase, a signal peptide at the N-terminus, which is not cleaved, also functions as the membrane anchor with the sequences C-terminal to it are translocated into the ER lumen. The product of this process is an Env of a Type II orientation,

with a long C-terminal region in ER lumen, a transmembrane domain, and a relatively short N-terminal region in the cytosol. The envelope glycoprotein of a Type III orientation possesses multiple hydrophobic sequences that are recognized as stop-transfer signals, which result in a multiple membrane-spanning domain.

(II) One of the basic functions of envelope glycoproteins is to mediate the viruscell membrane fusion. As to date, three different classes of viral fusion proteins have been revealed (Fig. 2), based on their structures and mechanisms of mediating membrane fusion (see the section " Viral Membrane Fusion" for more discussion).

Family/Virus	Env	Receptor/coreceptor 0	Orientatio	n Fusion
Flaviviridae				
TBEV	Е	Laminin receptor	I	II
DENV	E	DC-SIGN, Bip (144, 294, 308)	I	II
JEV	Е	HSP70 (72)	I	П
YFV	Е	Lectin-independent (13)	1	П
WNV	Е	DC-SIGNR, integrin (61, 73)	1	П
HCV	E1, E2	CD81, SR-B1, LDLr (4, 16, 187, 254)	I	II
Togaviridae				
Alphavirus				
Semliki Forest Virus	E1, E2	MHC (5, 128)	I	П
Sindbis	E1, E2	Laminin receptor(325)	I	11
Coronaviridae	,			
SARS-CoV	M. E. S.	ACE2 (185)	111	
	HE		1	1
Rhabdoviridae			•	•
Rabies Virus	G	NACR_CD56_p75 ^{NTR} (108_150_311_31	5)	-
VSV	Ğ	Negative charged lipid		Ш
Filoviridae	U	rtogativo onargoa ipia	•	
Marburg Virus	GP	AsialoGP recentor (18)	1	1
Fhola Virus	GP	Integrin (304)	i	i
Paramyxoviridae	01	integrin (304)		•
Mumps Virus	F HN	Sialic acid	1.11	1
Mumps virus	SH		.,	•
S\/5	F HN	Sialic acid		1
000	SH		.,	•
NDV	F HN	Sialic acid		1
Parainfluenza Virus	F HN	Sialic acid	1, 11	i
Sendai Virus	F HN	Sialic acid	1, 11	i
Measles Virus	F H	Sialic acid CD150 (232)	1, 11	i
HRSV	F G	Henaran sulfate	1, 11	i
TIKOV	г, О, SH	rieparan sullate	.,	i
Orthomyzoviridae	011			•
Influenza Virus	НΔ	Sialic acid	1	1
	NΔ	Oldife dela	ii	•
Bunyaviridae	IN/A			
Hantavirus	Gn	Integrin β_1 β_3 (100)	1	п
Tantavirus	Go	integrin p1, p3 (103)	i	
Aronaviridao	00		1	
	CPC			1
		$\alpha DG (43)$	111	1
Lassa viius Dotroviridoo	GFC	αDG (168)		1
	Env			
	Env	LDLR-like (17)	I	1
		B° (123, 266)	I	1
		mCAT-1 (156)	1	1
		D-glucarate transport like (262)	1	1
		GLUT-1 (199)	1	1
	Env	CD4, CXCR4, CCR5	I	1
211	Env	CD4, CXCR4, CCR5	I	I

 Table 1. The Enveloped Viruses and Their Envelope Glycoproteins

Family/Virus	Env	Receptor/coreceptor C	Drientation	Fusion
Herpesviridae				
Herpes Simplex Virus	gC, gB, gD,	GAG, Nectin, HVEM, 3-OS HS	-	III
	gH, gL	(65, 218, 294)		
Varicella-Zoster Virus	gB, gC, gE,	Heparan Sulfate, IDE, MPR ^{ci}	-	-
	gD, gH, gL	(54, 140, 184)		
HCMV	gB, gH:gL,	Heparan Sulfate	-	-
	gM:gN			
EBV	gp350/220	CD21, HLA-II (306)	-	III
KSHV	K8.1, gB, gH,	Heparan Sulfate, Integrin α 1 β 3, xC	CT -	-
	gL	(5, 6, 150)		
Hepadnaviridae				
HBV	L, M, S	-	III	-

Table 1. The Enveloped Viruses and Their Envelope Glycoproteins(Continued)



Fig. 1 The orientation of viral envelope glycoproteins in lipid bilayer.

Membrane Fusion and Fusion Mediated by Viral Envelope Glycoproteins.

Membrane fusion is a process of merging two separate lipid bilayers to become one, in which the original asymmetry of lipid components is maintained. It is essential for the communication between membrane-delineated compartments in all eukaryotic cells (201). Many cellular processes require membrane fusion events including: the transport of intracellular vesicles to target membranes in the secretory pathway, merge between late endosomes and lysosomes, fusion of mitochondria during its development, cell-cell fusion events which are critical for fertilization, development and immune responses, and entry of enveloped viruses into target cells (201, 341). Our current knowledge of the molecular mechanism involved in membrane fusion derives from studies in three areas. First, the protein-free physical models of lipid bilayers described, in detail, the process at a molecular level. Then the structural and mechanistic insights obtained from the investigation of viral fusion proteins revealed the critical functions of proteins during lipid rearrangement. Moreover, the study of fusion events in eukaryotic cells, mainly the SNARE proteins system, uncovered the regulatory mechanisms of cellular membrane merging.

Rearrangement of Lipid Bilayers. Our current understanding of merging of two lipid bilayers has been modeled in a fusion-through-hemifusion pathway summarized in Fig. 3A. Membrane fusion is a spontaneous process; however, it has to overcome a high energy barrier without certain artificial conditions (123). For the initiation of membrane fusion, two lipid bilayers must be in close contact to each other. But even a long-term contact is not sufficient for initiation of membrane fusion. In order for lipid mixing to occur, membranes need some distortions in their local structures, for example point-like protrusions. In a protein-free lipid system, such a structure forms through spontaneous curvature of the membrane monolayer and is regulated by its lipid composition (58). Lipids such as lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) and polyphosphoinositides tend to self-

assemble into curved monolayers bulging to polar heads, while the monolayers formed by unsaturated lipids such as phosphatidylethanolamine and diacylglycerol tend to bulge in the opposite direction. Following the lipid mixing of the outer monolayers of the membrane, the fusion process presents a hemifusion intermediate, in which two inner monolayers are combined into a lipid bilayer structure. Further membrane-disruptive forces break this temporary structure and result in a small fusion pore between the two lipid bilayers. The fusion of lipid compartments continues as the fusion pore expands until the stress forces that drive the expansion disappear.

Hemifusion. The hemifusion step allows membrane fusion to proceed without disrupting the barrier function of the membrane and also prevents contents from leaking (Fig. 3A). The hemifusion intermediate in eukaryotic cells was initially identified in the study of influenza virus HA-mediated cell-cell fusion. Recent reports suggest that SNARE-mediated membrane fusion also occurs via a hemifusion stage following the two-membrane-spanning protein intermediate (194). The hemifusion intermediate to full membrane fusion is detected as lipid mixing in the absence of content mixing. Hemifusion connections are reversible structures and are probably stabilized by protein scaffolds.

Fusion Proteins. Although membrane fusion can occur as a spontaneous process, all biological fusion events are mediated by fusion proteins, such as viral envelope glycoproteins and vesicular SNARE proteins. The main role of fusion proteins is presumably to generate and control the membrane elastic stresses, helping overcome the high energy barrier between the prefusion stage and the postfusion stage of membrane fusion (57). When activated, fusion proteins undergo structural rearrangement, which brings adjacent membranes together to form a much closer contact and also generates stresses by curving membrane monolayers. Fusion proteins may drive membrane merging by influencing the local lipid composition that may results

in different curvatures of membrane monolayers (41, 159, 270). Moreover, some amino acid sequences in fusion proteins contribute to decrease membrane stability, such as fusion peptides and HIV-1 C-terminal lipid lytic peptides (LLPs). Fusion proteins and their associated proteins may drive hemifusion and fusion pore expansion towards an irreversible direction (166).

Viral Membrane Fusion. Virus-cell membrane fusion is an essential process in the life cycle of enveloped viruses. This process is mediated by virus-specific surface glycoproteins. The viral fusogenic glycoproteins when expressed on the plasma membrane of a host cell are capable of mediating cell-cell fusion that contributes to viral spread and pathogenesis. The study of crystal structures of pre-fusion and post-fusion forms of these viral glycoproteins has unraveled some of the molecular mechanisms leading to the merge of lipid bilayers. Viral fusion proteins have a rich diversity of their structural properties that determine the molecular details of protein rearrangement during membrane fusion (340). Currently, all viral fusion proteins are categorized into three classes (Table. 1 and Fig. 2).

Class I: The structure of class I viral fusion proteins have been extensively studied in the Influenza HA, Paramyxovirus F, and HIV-1 gp41 (87, 340). Fusion proteins in this group are trimers in prefusion forms with a linear fusion peptide at the Nterminus of each monomer. In post-fusion forms, a central N-terminal trimeric αhelical coiled coil is surrounded and packed tightly by three anti-parallel Cterminal helices, forming a 6-helix bundle structure. This structural rearrangement brings the N-terminal fusion peptides of fusion protein, which are released and inserted into target membranes after being activated by receptorbinding or low pH, close to its C-terminal membrane-spanning domains in the viral envelope; thereby, forming a trimer of hairpins and initiating virus-cell membrane fusion.

- Class II. Alphaviruses and flaviviruses have class II fusion proteins (155, 300). The prefusion form of this class is an anti-parallel homodimer lying along the viral surface. They are associated with a viral chaperon protein prM, which is cleaved during or soon after viral assembly. Each monomer contains three domains that all mainly consist of β-sheet structures. Fusion proteins in this class contain an internal fusion loop at the N-terminal of domain III. During fusion, three homodimers realign into two homotrimers that project from the viral membrane in a threefold axe. This presents the fusion loop in domain III to the target membrane. Subsequently, the linker between domain I and III allows domain III to fold back to the side of domain I; thereby, clustering three fusion loops and the three C-terminal transmembrane anchors at one end and resulting in a similar hairpin structure as that of the class I fusion proteins.
- Class III: This class of fusion proteins has recently been identified in rhabdoviruses and herpesviruses (12, 127, 271). They are homotrimers of the subunits composed of five distinct domains. The domain I harbors bipartite fusion loops in two independent regions of the β -sheet (303). The domain III is a long central α helix, which forms a trimeric coiled coil with the helices provided by the other two monomers. During fusion, only domain III undergoes significant conformational changes and results in the transformation of three coiled-coil structures in a dimer into a 6-helix bundle. This process results in a complete flip-over of fusogenic domain I from viral membrane towards to target membrane, allowing the interaction of the bipartite fusion loops with target lipid monolayers. In the postfusion form, the fusion loops and viral transmembrane regions are close together, forming a trimer-of-hairpin structure. Another distinguishing property of class III fusion proteins is that the conformational changes are reversible.

In general, in spite of the difference in the molecular details of membrane fusion mediated by above three classes of viral fusion proteins, the common theme among them is that, after being activated, all fusion proteins convert from a fusion-competent state to a trimeric pre-hairpin, and then to a trimer-of-hairpins, which brings the target membrane-attached fusion peptide and viral membrane-anchored transmembrane domain into close proximity; and thereby, facilitating the merge of viral and cellular membrane (Fig. 3B).

Mechanisms of Triggering Membrane Fusion. Although viral fusion proteins have converged on the same general strategy to mediate fusion, they are not of fusion-competent at native states on the viral surface. The fusogenic states of these proteins must be activated by an environmental fusion trigger. A number of different stimuli can induce the change to a fusion-competent state (340).

- (I) Low pH. Low pH is the only known fusion-triggering factor for orthomyxoviruses, rhabdoviruses, alphaviruses, flaviviruses, bunyaviruses, and arenaviruses. Attachment receptors are a prerequisite for virus-cell entry but do not appear to play an active role in mediating membrane fusion. These viruses enter cells through endocytosis and then are subject to low pH value in early or late endosomes where the fusion-inducing conformational changes take place.
- (II) Cellular Receptor Binding. The fusion proteins of most paramyxoviruses, retroviruses, herpesviruses, and some coronaviruses are activated at neutral pH by binding to host cellular receptors. For some viruses, like MoMLV, the interaction of fusion protein with a single receptor is enough to trigger the fusion-competent state (340). On the other hand, the activation process of paramyxoviruses and herpesviruses involves an independent viral surface glycoprotein, which binds to cellular receptor and subsequently triggers the

fusion-competent state of the viral fusion protein (127, 174, 224). For lentiretroviruses (*e.g.* HIV and SIV), multiple cellular receptors sequentially interact with the viral fusion protein, and the accumulated changes in the conformation of the glycoproteins release the previously restricted fusion state.

- (III) Receptor Binding Followed by Low pH. Avian retroviruses (ASLV) require a two-step fusion activation process (340). Binding of the surface glycoprotein of ASLV to the cellular receptor causes limited conformational changes that result in a pre-hairpin structure. Subsequent exposure to low pH in endosomes after endocytosis converts the pre-hairpin to a 6-helix bundle structure and then mediate membrane fusion.
- (IV) The Ebola virus glycoprotein GP uses an apparently novel fusion-triggering mechanism (340). It seems to require both low pH and endosomal cathepsins (B and L), implicating a proteolytic processing of the glycoprotein during the activation reaction.



Fig. 2 Viral fusion proteins in the pre- and post-fusion forms: (A) Influenza virus HA, (B) Paramyxovirus F, (C) TBEV E, and (D) VSV G. The domains in dark blue contain the fusion peptides in red. The membrane-connecting C-terminal domains are in purple. Dashed purple lines, purple triangles, and red triangles represent the C-terminal linkers, transmembrane domains and fusion peptides not visible in the structures. (White, JM, Delos,SE, Brecher M, and Schornberg, K, *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol.* 2008, 43(3):189-219. Copyright © 2008 Taylor & Francis)



Fig. 3 Membrane fusion. (A) The fusion-through-hemifusion model of lipid bilayer fusion. (B) The trimer-of-pairpins model of membrane fusion (White, JM, Delos,SE, Brecher M, and Schornberg, K, *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol.* 2008, 43(3):189-219. Copyright © 2008 Taylor & Francis)

Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type I (HIV-1)

HIV-1 is the viral etiology of the Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) and is currently a global epidemic in human population. As of 2007, an estimated 33 million people were living with HIV and 2.7 million became HIV infected (UNAIDS, 2008), mainly through sexual, maternal and parenteral transmission. HIV directly infects and kills cells that are critical for effective immune responses. This, combined with a chronic activation of the immune system, results in a progressive and ultimately profound defect in the cellmediate immune protection against a variety of normally innocuous agents. This immune disregulation is eventually the major reason for the morbidity and mortality in the AIDS population.

Classification. HIV-1 is a lentiviruse in the retroviridae family and is phylogenetically closed to Simian Immunodeficiency Virus (SIV) from chimpanzees (SIV_{cpz}). It is now generally accepted that the origin of HIV-1 derived from the cross-species transmission events from SIV_{cpz} in central Africa to human beings, and HIV-2 from SIV_{sm} in west Africa (103, 104). Based on the genetic distance, the HIV-1 primary isolates are classified into three groups, M, N, and O. Group M, accounting for the 95% HIV-1 global isolates, consists of at least nine discrete clades or subtypes (A, B, C, D, F, G, H, J, and K) and 15 circulating recombinant forms (Fields Virology, 5th p2110). In group M, the interclade genetic distances are 15%-20% in *gag* gene and 20%-30% in *env* gene. The intraclade distances are 3%-10% for *gag* and 5%-12% for *env*. Coinfection of a single cell with two genetically distinct viruses gives rise to a high rate of recombinant strains as a result of template switching between two different viral RNAs during reverse transcription.

Viral Structures. HIV-1 is an enveloped positive single-strand RNA virus with a coneshaped, cylindrical core in the mature form (Fig. 4A). As shown in Fig. 4B, the RNA genome is about 10 kb in length and encodes 3 structural (Gag, Pol, and Env) and 6 nonstructural proteins (Vif, Tat, Rev, Vpu, Vpr, and Nef) (Table 2). The long terminal repeats (LTRs) sequences at the 5'- and 3'- end of a HIV-1 genome contain multiple cisacting RNA elements that direct the balanced and coordinated production of progeny virions. These elements include the Tat-responsive region (TAR) for mediating transcriptional elongation of viral RNA transcripts, major splice donor for viral RNA splicing, and polyadenylation factor-binding site. A single HIV-1 virion contains two copies of the viral genome that are associated with each other through the RNA packaging site ψ . The virus is initially assembled and released from infected cells as immature particles containing the genomic RNAs and unprocessed Gag/Gag-pol precursors. The immature viral particles are spherical with 100nm in diameter with a characteristic electron-lucent center. During maturation, Gag precursors are cleaved, which leads to drastic changes in the structure and morphology of HIV-1 virions and results in particles exhibiting a buoyant density in sucrose in the range of 1.16 to 1.18 g/ml and a sedimentation rate of about 600S. The viral proteins of HIV-1 and their main functions are summarized in Table 2.

HIV-1 Replication. The Figure 5 schematically presents the life cycle of HIV-1 viruses. HIV-1 viruses use CD4 as the receptor and a chemokine coreceptor (CCR5 or CXCR4) during entry into susceptible cells. The main target cells of the HIV-1 virus are the CD4+ T-helper subset of lymphocytes, CD4+ cells of the macrophage lineage, and some subsets of dendritic cells (DC). Most human CD4 T-cell lines are susceptible to HIV-1 infection and able to release large quantities of progeny virions. The X4-tropic (CXCR4) virus strains only replicate in T-cell lines (TCL-tropic), not in macrophage cells. These viruses usually grow rapidly with high titers of infectivity and often induce the formation of syncytia. In contrast, the R5-tropic (CCR5) viruses grow relatively slow and yield lower viral titers. These viruses are infectious to macrophage cells (M-tropic) and do not form syncytia. Some viral isolates showed a dual-tropism and are able to infect both macrophages and T cell lines. Like X4-tropic viruses, the dual-tropic viruses grow rapidly and induce the formation of syncytia. Viruses isolated from individuals shortly after they have been infected with HIV-1 are frequently R5-tropic (272). This is consistent with the fact that the CCR5-expressing memory CD4+ T lymphocytes, are depleted during the acute phase of HIV-1 infection in vivo (209). The X4-tropic virus strains appear during the later symptomatic stage of infection in approximately 50% infected persons (163, 290). The emergence of X4 viruses is associated with the accelerated CD4+ T-cell depletion and more rapid progression to AIDS (67, 163). Dendritic cells express relatively low levels of CD4, CCR5, and CXCR4, but higher levels of DC-SIGN that captures HIV by binding to the virion-associated gp120 (110). DC-SIGN expressing cells have the capacity to retain viruses for several days and to efficiently transfer virions to CD4+ T-cells.

Virus Binding and Entry. The HIV-1 infection begins with an interaction between viral envelope glycoproteins (Envs) and cell surface CD4 molecules (31). This interaction results in conformational changes in gp120 and initiates its recognition of the chemokine coreceptors CCR5 or CXCR4. Additional conformational changes following coreceptor binding activate the gp41 fusion protein that mediates the fusion between viral envelope and cell membrane. While this is the primary means of HIV-1 entry, some studies reported that certain viral isolates of HIV-1, HIV-2, and SIV enter target cells through a CD4-independent pathway (91, 202, 258, 268). Furthermore, in addition to CCR5 and CXCR4, many other chemokine receptors have been found to serve as alternate coreceptors during HIV/SIV infection, including CCR3, CCR2b, CCR8, APJ, STRL33, GPR15, and US28 (21). The gp41 fusion protein mediates membrane fusion by a spring-loaded mechanism, in which the N-terminal fusion peptide is released and then binds to the target membrane when gp41 is activated. The trimeric heptad repeats 1 and 2 (HR1 and HR2) generate a 6-helix bundle with a central coiled-coil structure formed by HR1 and tightly packed by HR2. The conformational changes in gp41 result

in a trimer-of-hairpin structure that brings the fusion peptide and the transmembrane domain close together, thereby, decreasing the distance between viral envelope and target membrane.

Reverse Transcription. After cellular entry, the viral nucleocapsid core is partially uncoated in the cytoplasm, and the reverse transcription of the viral RNA genome into a double-stranded DNA sequence initiates (2, 95). First, the tRNA^{lys3} binds to the primerbinding site (pbs) in the 5'-end of the RNA genome and the synthesis of minus-strand DNA is initiated from the 3'-OH of the tRNA. Second, RNaseH digests the RNA portion of newly formed RNA-DNA hybrid. Third, the strong-stop DNA is transferred to the 3'end of the genome where it binds to a homologous sequence in the 3'-R region. Fourth, the synthesis of minus-strand DNA continues and is coupled with the degradation of RNA templates by RNaseH except for the polypurine tract (PPT) region. Fifth, a fragment of RNA at the PPT region is used as the primer to initiate the plus-strand DNA synthesis. Sixth, the synthesis continues until a portion of tRNA has been copied, which allows the hybridization between 5'- end of plus-strand DNA and 3'- end of minus-strand DNA. Seventh, the plus-strand DNA synthesis continues until it reaches the central termination signal. The newly synthesized dsDNA is transported through cytoplasm and into the nucleus in the form of a preintegration complex (PIC) that, in addition, contains the reverse transcriptase (RT), integrase (IN), MA, NC, and Vpr. The MA, IN, and Vpr have been shown to regulate nucleus import of the PIC (36, 141). A cis-acting, centrally located, and triple-stranded DNA structure known as the central DNA flap has also been proposed to facilitate nucleus import of the PIC (295, 360).

Integration. The integration of viral DNA is catalyzed by HIV-1 integrase. The IN generates a preintegration substrate with 3'-recessed ends by removing two or three nucleotides from the 3' ends of each DNA strand. In cellular target DNA, the IN produces two 5'-overhanging termini that join the 3'-recessed ends of viral DNA. The

gaps are filled by cellular DNA repair machinery. This process results in two 5 bp direct repeats that flank the integrated viral genome. In addition to the linear and integrated viral DNA, 1-LTR circles and 2-LTR circles are also generated in the nucleus as the result of a homogenous recombination and a nonhomogenous end joining (182), respectively. Several cellular factors have been shown to facilitate the integration. The high-mobility group A1 (HMGA1) protein stimulates strand transfer activity in vitro (93, 183). The IN interactor 1 (IN1) protein binds HIV-1 IN and target the viral DNA to transcriptionally active regions in the host genome (151). Another cellular factor BAF (barrier-to-autointegration factor) prevents the viral DNA termini from integrating into internal sites in the same viral genome (53). In addition, a number of functions have been proposed for the lens epithelium-derived growth factor (LEDGF/p75) in HIV integration. This protein facilitates the strand transfer in integration, enhances the binding of IN to DNA, and protects IN from degradation (39, 56, 188).

Gene Expression. The transcription of the integrated HIV-1 genome is carried out by the host cell RNA pol II holoenzyme. The 5'-LTR plays an important role in the regulation of viral gene expression by providing cis-acting elements for both cellular and viral transcriptional factors. The recognition of the HIV-1 promoter, which is mainly composed of the Sp1 elements (121) and the TATA box, requires several general transcriptional factors from host cells, including the TFIID that binds TATA box, TFIIB that recruits RNA pol II, and TFIIH that releases the transcriptional complex from the promoter. After binding to the promoter, the elongation activity of RNA pol II is triggered by phosphorylation of its C-terminal domain (CTD). The cellular kinases which induce the hyperphosphorylation states of the CTD include the CDK7/cyclin H subunits of the CDK-activating kinase (CAK) complex associated with TFIIH, CDK8/cyclin C component of the RNA pol II, and CDK9/cyclin T subunits of the positive transcription elongation factor b (p-TEF-b). In T lymphocytes, three transcriptional factors, NF-κB, NFAT, and

AP-1, which are activated by the interaction between the TCR/CD3 complex and peptide-loaded MHC molecules, are the main regulators of cellular and viral RNA synthesis. The HIV-1 5'- LTR usually contains two NF-κB-binding elements upstream the Sp1 element. The cooperation of NF- κ B and Sp1 enhances the binding of both factors to their cis-acting elements in HIV-1 5'-LTR, and then dramatically upregulates viral transcription (248). NFAT binds to sequences at the 3'-terminal portion of the NF- κ B elements in the LTR (157), and then acts in synergy with NF- κ B to regulate HIV-1 gene transcription. When activated by JNK and ERK, AP-1 binds to DNA sequences upstream of NF- κ B elements (152) and cooperates with NF- κ B to stimulates transcription from the viral promoter (356). In addition to cellular regulators, HIV-1 gene expression is also regulated by virus-encoded regulatory proteins, Tat and Rev. The Tat protein enhances the steady-state levels of viral RNA by increasing the processivity of the RNA pol II transcription complex. Initially, Tat interacts with the cyclin T1/CDK9 complex by binding its activation domain to cyclin T1. Then the binding of human P-TEFb to Tat induces a conformational change in Tat, which trigger the binding of Tat to TAR, a stem-loop structure in viral RNA. Subsequently, the P-TEFb kinase phosphorylates the RNA pol II CTD and then stimulates its transcriptional processivity (249, 327). The newly synthesized viral RNAs are exported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, where they function as either the viral genomic RNA for packaging during viral assembly or the mRNA template for translation. Generally, only mRNA that does not contain intronic sequences is transported out of nucleus; however, HIV-1 RNAs contain many intronic sequences due to the multiple splice sites in the genome. This inhibition of incompletely spliced RNA from nuclear export is resolved by the HIV-1 encoded Rev protein (302). The Rev protein recognizes and binds to the RRE element (Rev Responsive Element) in viral mRNA, which spans the junction between the gp120

and gp41 region. After translation, the Rev is imported into nucleus by binding to the importin- β and then dissociate with it via interacting with the RanGTP in nucleus. The free Rev protein binds to RRE-containing viral mRNA. Subsequently, the additional binding of the CRM1 and RanGTP converts the Rev-RRE RNA complex into an active nuclear export structure, which mediates the transport of intronic viral pre-mRNA out of the nucleus.

Virus Assembly. After its synthesis, HIV-1 Gag Pr55 precursor is rapidly targeted to the plasma membrane, where it assembles into infectious virions with the viral genomic RNA and other viral proteins. In certain cell types, particularly MDM, the virus assembly and budding takes place in an intracellular compartment, the multivesicular body (237). The Gag-Gag interaction is sufficient for the assembly of a noninfectious virus-like particle (VLP) without the genomic RNA or other viral proteins. Shortly after budding, the viral protease cleaves the Pr55 precursor into the MA, CA, NC and p6 plus two spacer peptides SP1 (CA-NC) and SP2 (NC-p6). The membrane-binding region of Gag has been mapped to the MA domain, in which both the myristylation at the N-terminus and the downstream sequence that is rich in basic residues contribute to the membrane association of the MA. NMR and X-ray crystallographic analyses suggest a patch of basic residues on the membrane-contacting face of MA (204). Moreover, MA is also shown to interact with host factors such as the phosphatidylinositol (4.5) bisphosphate and AP-3, which, thereby, regulate the intracellular localization and trafficking of the Gag (81, 234). The CA domain of Gag is composed of a N-terminal domain (NTD) and a Cterminal domain (CTD), both of which are highly helical. The NTD contains a cyclophilin A (CypA) loop that incorporates CypA into virions (101). The CypA is important for enhancing viral infectivity (125, 298). The CTD of CA mainly mediates the CA interaction, which results in a hexametric lattice of CA in the shape of spheres, cones, or cylinders (34, 102). The main function of NC domain of HIV-1Gag is to encapsulate the

viral genomic RNAs. This is carried out by binding the two zinc-finger motifs of CA to the RNA packaging signal ψ . It has also been shown that the NC-RNA interaction is critical for stabilizing Gag multimerization. In addition, the NC functions as a nuclear acid chaperon that facilitates the reverse transcription (181). The C-terminal domain of Gag is p6, previously known as the late domain, which interacts with the host cellular ubiquitination pathway and endosomal-sorting pathway (77, 222). The p6 binds to the ESCRT-I component Tsg101 via its PTAP motif (107). It has also been shown to interact with the cellular factor Alix (301). In addition to associating with the cellular endosomal sorting machinery and promoting virus budding, p6 mediates the incorporation of Vpr and Vpx into virions (246, 349). The incorporation of viral Env gp120/gp41 into virions mainly attributes to the interaction between the MA and the cytoplasmic domain of HIV-1 Env (82, 98, 225, 226, 348).

Virus Maturation. Soon after virus budding, the PR catalyzes an intramolecular cleavage of Gag Pr55 precursors to release the viral protease (250). Subsequently, the Gag cleavage takes place as an ordered, step-wise cascade. This results in a dramatic change in virion morphology. The immature HIV-1 particles appear doughnut-shaped vs. cone-shaped as in mature virions.

Viral Pathogenesis. Although the course of disease caused by HIV infection varies dramatically among infected persons. The time from the acute infection to the development of AIDS can be as rapid as 6 months or more than 25 years. It is now generally accepted that early events at the time of acute infection such as viral load and CD4 counts, together with viral and host genetics, play a critical role in and can be used to predict, the ultimate clinical outcome of the disease (196). The median plasma viral load at the time of peak viremia in the acute infection is approximately 10⁶ to 10⁷ RNA copies/ml, which drops to a mean of 30,000 copies/ml within the first 6 to 12 months (196, 273). Infection of a large number of the memory CD4+ T-cells (both the resting

and activated) in the gut during the acute infection may be the source of initial viremia peaks, which also stresses the following adaptive immune responses (205, 209). Multiple mechanisms of cell death appear to account for the CD4+ T-cell depletion including the accumulation of unintegrated viral DNA (291), interference with cellular RNA processing (160, 299), loss of plasma membrane due to vial budding (179), elimination of HIV-1 infected cells by immune responses, syncytia formation (94, 263), autoimmunity, innocent bystander killing (227, 330), inhibition of hemapoiesis, and apoptosis. During acute infection, roughly 1×10^6 HIV-1 infected resting memory CD4 cells harbor the integrated latent proviruses, which establish a latent viral reservoir (62, 361).

Immune Response. HIV-1 infection induces a broad host immune response in an infected individual. Viral RNA activates TLR-7 on plasmacytoid dendritic cells and stimulates the production of IFN- α and IL-6, which induce a profound activation of the immune system (19, 126). The number of NK cells increases in the acute infection, which is associated with the decline in viremia; while in chronic infection these cells seem anergic (10). Moreover, the expression of KIR3DS1, a NK cell inhibitory receptor, is associated with slower disease progression (203). Most of the anti-HIV antibodies generated by humoral immune responses are not neutralizing because of the viral escaping mutations. Those who have the capacity to neutralize virions usually target to the CD4-gp120 binding events or membrane fusion. Because of the high mutation rate of HIV-1, the immune pressure from neutralizing antibodies contributes mainly to the evolution of viruses in infected individuals, rather than to clear virus particles (269, 329). The appearance of CD8+ T-cells is associated with the decline in viremia after the primary peak of viral loads (30, 164). Although all the viral proteins of HIV-1 contain stimulating epitopes, the Gag, Nef, and Env seem to be the main targets. However, the breath and magnitude of CD8 T-cell response varies widely among infected individuals

and are not correlated with the control of viremia (26) except for some HLA B57 positive individuals. In contrast to the wide spectrum of CD8 T-cell responses, the CD4 T-cell response mainly targets to the Gag. At the early stage of infection, a large number of the virus-specific CD4 T-cells appear, which is correlated with the induction of CD8 T-cells, suggesting that its function is to help the CD8 T-cell response. Although HIV-1 infection induces a wide spectrum of innate and adaptive immune responses in infected persons, they fail to control viral replication and disease progression. This is partially due to the functional defects in these immune cells. CD8+ T-cells may become exhausted and are prevented from progressing to memory cells in the presence of chronic antigenic stimulations (338, 339). The overexpression of PD-1 can also render these cells ineffective (14). The high mutation rates in HIV-1 replication contribute to the failure of immune control as well. The HIV-1 viruses can rapidly escape from the epitopes targeted by current circulating neutralizing antibodies and CD8 T-cells when they are under immune pressure.


Fig. 4 The structure of a mature HIV-1 virion (A) and its RNA genome (B).



Fig. 5 HIV-1 life cycle. (1) HIV-1 infections begin with the attachment of cell-free virions to the cell surface and then the interaction of viral envelope glycoproteins with the CD4 receptor and chemokine coreceptors. (2) HIV-1 virus enters target cells through viruscell membrane fusion meditated by the viral gp41 glycoprotein. (3) Following the cellular entry, the nucleocapsid core undergoes partially uncoating. (4) Reverse transcription occurs within the subviral particles in the cytoplasm of the infected cells. (5) The preintegration complex (PIC) containing the double-stranded DNA is transported into the nucleus through the nucleus pore. (6) The viral DNA genome is integrated into the host chromosomal DNA by viral integrase (IN). (7) The integrated viral DNA serves as a template for the host RNA pol II and leads to the production of viral genomic RNA and mRNA. (8) The viral mRNAs are transported into cytoplasm and undergo different splicing processes. (9) The envelope protein is translated and transported to the plasma membrane through the host vesicle transport system. (10) The Gag protein is transported to plasma membrane. (11) The viral assembly and budding takes place at the plasma membrane. (12) The viral protease cleaves the Gag/Gag-pol precursors leading to a mature particle of virus. (13) The gp120 Env glycoprotein sheds off the cell surface.

Protein	Major Proposed Functions
Structural Protein	1
Gag	Capsid protein, including matrix (MA), capsid (CA) and Nucleocapsid (NC) in mature viral particles
Pol	RNA-dependent DNA polymerase, Integrase, Viral Protease,
Env	Surface glycoprotein, containing surface unit gp120 (gp140 in SIV) and transmembrane unit gp41,
	Receptor/coreceptor-binding & Virus-cell fusion
Nonstructural Protein	
Vif	Deactivation of APOBEC family of cytidine deaminase
Vpr	Cell cycle arrest, Import of viral preintegration complexes (PIC) into nucleus, viral and cellular Transcriptional activitate, apaptosis inducer
Vnx	Nuclear import
Vpu	Enhancement of particles release via interacting with tetherin, CD4 degradation
Nef	Downregulation of cellular surface protein such as CD4, MHC-I, MHC-II, CD3, and CD28; enhancement of viral infectivity
Tat	Activation of viral transcription via binding to TAR
Rev	Binding to RRE (Rev-responsive element) in vial genomic RNA and mediating its nuclear export

Table 2. The Virus-encoded Proteins of HIV-1/SIV

HIV-1 Envelope Glycoprotein (Env)

HIV-1 Env (gp120/gp41) is located on the surface of virions and plays a critical role in viral replication. The Env interacts with the cellular CD4 receptor and chemokine coreceptors, and mediates virus-cell membrane fusion. Additionally, it induces both the humoral and cellular immune responses in infected persons.

Env Structure. The HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein is encoded by the viral env gene (HXB2 K03455 6225-8795 2571bp) (Fig. 4). The env gene contains overlapping coding sequences with the vpu gene (6062-6310), and the second exons of the tat gene (8379-8469) and the rev gene (8379-8605 or 8653). The RRE sequence is also mapped in the env coding region (7710-8061). HIV-1 Env glycoprotein is synthesized from a 4.3kb, single-spliced bicistronic mRNA, which is also used as translation templates for Vif, Vpr, Vpu and Tat. This pre-mRNA is transported into the cytoplasm via the Rev-RRE nuclear export pathway that requires the cellular importin- β nuclear transport machinery. The product of the env gene expression is a 160 kD glycoprotein precursor that is cleaved into a surface unit (SU) gp120 and a transmembrane unit (TM) gp41 by a protease of the furin family in the trans-Golgi network. The HIV-1 Env complex on viral surface is a trimer of gp120/gp41 heterodimers. The ectodomain of the Env contains the SU gp120 and the N-terminal portion of the TM gp41. The gp41 glycoprotein has a single membrane-spanning domain (MSD) followed by a long cytoplasmic domain (about 150 aa). The examination of the Env complexes on viral surface by cryoelectron tomography (cryoET) has demonstrated that the viral Env trimer displays a tripod-like configuration with a gp120 head and gp41 stalk regions (274, 362, 363). The sequence structure of HIV-1 Env is shown in Fig. 6. The biological functions of the HIV-1 Env is summarized in Fig. 7 and Fig. 8.

(I) Surface unit gp120. The HIV-1 gp120 consists of 5 conserved domains (C1-C5) and 5 variable domains (V1-V5). (i) Constant Regions. The C1 region is predicted to be an amphipathic helical structure and the C5 region is shown to have a turn-helix configuration in solution (117). Several studies suggest that the C1 and C5 regions directly interact with the immunodominant loop in gp41 (28, 129, 139). The C1 region has the capacity to directly interact with complement factor H (255, 256), which may contribute to the early steps of viral infection. Antibodies against the C5 region showed cross reactivity to the HLA class I on activated cells, which is due to the factor that epitopes in C5 region mimic the HLA class I alpha 1 peptide-binding domain (75, 190). Monoclonal antibodies against the C2 region are not able to bind the gp120 on viral surface, even in the presence of sCD4, indicating that this region is sequestered in the oligomeric structure (177). Further studies demonstrate that the C2 region is involved in the oligomerization of gp120 (286). The binding of CD4 to HIV-1 Env requires multiple conserved regions in the gp120, including C1 (167, 239), C4 (223), and C3 (133, 134). The V3 region may interact with the C4 region, which is also important for the CD4-gp120 binding (220). The comparison of sequence profile of HIV-1 and SIV Env shows that the C2-V3-C3 region is involved in the contact with chemokine receptors (292). The C4 region is accessible to antibodies on the surface of gp120 (207). The fact that mutations in the C1 and C4 regions were reversed by those in the V1V2 region indicated a possible interaction between these regions (326). Additional studies also showed that the V1V2 region binds o the C4 region (97). Some studies have shown that the HIV-1 gp120 is able to crosslink membrane IgM on normal human B cells and to induce their activation. This superantigen (Sag) property is attributed to the C2 and C4

regions that may be involved in the contacts (154). (ii) Variable Regions. The V3 loop is a hyper variable disulfide-bonded structure that determines the tropism of HIV-1 virions (124), but is not involved in CD4-binding (353). The crown portion of the V3 loop has been shown to carry a homologous structure to the $\beta 2$ - $\beta 3$ loops in the ligands of CXCR4 and CCR5 (44). The structural modeling of the V3 loop shows a charged patch with positively charged amino acid residues at positions 11, 24, or 25 for X4-tropic viruses and neutral ones for R5-tropic viruses (44, 124). The V3 region is accessible on the surface of most viruses for neutralizing antibodies (114); however, its tremendous variability protects it from being targeted by either generating escaping mutations in epitopes or introducing glycan shields (124). The V1V2 region also influences the HIV-1 cellular tropism. A single amino acid substitution in the V1 region of HIV-1 JRCSF alters its cellular tropism and enables it to infect X4 T cell line (33). In the macrophage-tropic strain, HIV-1 SF162mc, the V1 and V2 regions, in addition to the V3 loop, are required to maintain the full macrophage tropism, suggesting an interaction between the V1V2 and V3 regions (161). Consistent with these finding, the V1V2 and V3 regions contain the major determinants of the SI capacity (116). In addition, the V1V2 and V3 regions have been demonstrated to play a more important role in using other chemokine coreceptors such as CCR2b, CCR3, STRL33, and APJ, in addition to CCR5 or CXCR4 (132). Moreover, the V1V2 and V3 regions are not involved in the interaction with gp41 or CD4; however, they do demonstrate the capacity to mask conserved neutralization epitopes of the HIV-1 gp120 glycoprotein from antibodies (208, 353). Some studies showed that the V1V2 could influence the replication in macrophages by affecting viral spread (313). Other studies suggest that the elongation of the V2 loop is

a good predictor for slower disease progression, while rapid progression is associated with basic residues in the V3 loop and a shorter V2 region (293). The V4 and V5 regions of gp120 are necessary for efficient utilization of CXCR4 (60, 172). Substitutions in the V4 region dissociate gp120 and gp41. Three N-linked glycans in the V4 and V5 region are dispensable for CD4binding and fusion activity of the gp120 (115). In the dual tropic strain 89.6, the V3, V4, and V5 regions are involved in the CCR5, CXCR4, and CCR3 utilization (297). Comparisons of the population changes in the V4/V5 and V1/V2 suggest that the V1/V2 and V4/V5 regions often evolve independently during chronic infection (122). (iii) Glycosylation. HIV-1 Env ectodomain is extensively glycosylated with approximately 25 potential N-linked glycosylation sites and 8 O-linked glycosylation sites in the gp120, and 3-4 sites in the gp41 (25, 111, 145). Some of these glycosylation sites are critical to maintain the biological functions of HIV-1 Env such as the viral infectivity, receptor binding, oligomerization, and gp120-gp41 interaction (230, 326). However, many N-linked glycans on the HIV-1 Env ectodomain are not necessary for viral replication (76, 88). It is generally accepted that the heavy glycosylation plays an important role in protecting HIV Env from neutralizing antibodies by forming a glycan shield covering the epitopes of neutralizing antibodies (253). In the V1V2 region, some glycans may interact with the C1 and C4 regions, which could be critical for WT viral infectivity (326). The loss of some other glycosylation sites in the V1V2 regions results in an increased sensitivity to a number of neutralizing antibodies and a loss of dependence on CD4, which is probably due to a global change in the gp120 structures (162). These changes also depend on the sequence context of glycosylation

sites. Consistently, the glycans in the V3 and V4 regions were shown to mask neutralization epitopes in the gp120 (89, 284).

(II) Transmembrane unit gp41: The HIV-1 gp41 glycoprotein is the fusion machinery that directly mediates virus-cell membrane fusion. When activated, the ectodomain of gp41 carries out the fusion function, while the membrane-spanning domain and cytoplasmic domain are both important for its fusogenecity. The ectodomain consists of a fusion peptide, two heptad repeats (HR1 and HR2), and a membrane proximate tryptophan rich domain. The cytoplasmic domain contains signals for intracellular trafficking of the Env, and three lipid lytic peptides (LLP1, LLP2, and LLP3) that are suggested to play important roles in membrane fusion. The details of the structures of the gp41 and their functions will be discussed below.

Env Biosynthesis and Transport. The translation of the Env mRNA occurs on the rough endoplasmic reticulum (ER) associated with ribosomes. The nascent gp160 peptide is immediately glycosylated and forms disulfide bonds that link the V1 and V4 regions with the help of the host chaperon BiP/GRP78 (86, 178, 344). The gp160 undergoes trimerization in the ER, which is necessary for transport from the ER to the Golgi apparatus (240). The determinants of Env trimerization have been mapped in the N-terminus of gp41 (85 aa) (259), while the V1V2 region in the gp120 appears to be necessary for a correct oligomerization (49, 78). Studies, in which the gp160 remained in the ER after translation, showed that the events during the expression of gp160 do not influence the later viral assembly events (251, 279). The gp160 trimers are transported to the Golgi, where (in trans Golgi network) they are proteolyctically cleaved into gp120 and gp41 subunits by the protease of cellular furin or furin-like protease family that cleave a conserved sequence motif at Lys/Arg-X-Lys/Arg-Arg (118). The gp120 and gp41 are noncovalently associated by weak interactions and a substantial amount of

ap120 is shed from the surface of Env-expressing cells. The ap160 undergoes additional glycosylation processing in the Golgi apparatus, which results in the factor that approximately half of its molecular mass is composed of oligosaccharide side chains. Some studies also observed a sulfation modification of the gp160 (24). During the synthesis of the Env, the majority of gp160 is retained in ER and subsequently degraded via the proteasome pathway. Only a small portion is correctly folded, cleaved, modified, and then transported to the plasma membrane (PM). Two segments of peptide (750-763, 764-785) have been shown to be critical for transporting Env from the Golgi to the PM (37). Following its arrival at the plasma membrane, the HIV-1 Env is rapidly internalized through the clathrin-dependent endocytosis pathway (171, 275). This has been attributed to the interaction between the membrane-proximal tyrosine based signal Y(712)SPL in the cytoplasmic domain of the gp41 and the µ2 chain of the clathrinassociated AP-2 complexes (37, 69, 231). Recently, the C-terminal dileucine motif (LL) has also been demonstrated to mediate Env endocytosis via the clathrin and AP-2 pathway (40). Truncation of the cytoplasmic domain of gp160 results in an increased level of Env on cell surface. Some studies suggested that another membrane-proximal tyrosine based signal Y(802)W(803) is also a major determinant of the intracellular transport of the HIV-1 Env (175). This motif interacts with TIP47, a protein required for the transport of mannose-6-receptors from the endosomes to the trans-Golgi network (TGN), and facilitates the retro-transport of the Env to the TGN after endocytosis (29). Overexpression of the Env decreased the cell surface level of CD4 by forming a gp160-CD4 complex that is retained in the ER (70). This can be reversed by additional coexpression of the HIV-1 Vpu, which is probably due to the fact that the Vpu can induce the degradation of CD4 via the cellular proteasome pathway (71, 345, 346). The HIV-1 Nef downregulates the surface levels of the Env in a CD4-dependent manner (285). The interactions between the Nef, Vpu, Env, and CD4 can be reconciled as that the Nef and

Vpu induce the degradation of CD4 via lysosome and proteasome, respectively, and the Env is bystandly degraded by forming gp160-CD4 complexes (173, 252, 342).

Env Incorporation. A single HIV-1 virion contains approximately 14 Env complexes on its surface (362). While the assembly of viral genomes and Gag do not require the Env, the Env directs viral budding at the basolateral side of polarized cells, probably through the interaction between the cytoplasmic domain of the Env and the matrix domain of the Gag (189, 242). The mechanism by which the Env glycoprotein is incorporated into budding virions remains ambiguous. Several studies showed evidences suggesting the direct interaction between MA and the Env cytoplasmic domain. Mutations in the matrix domain block the Env incorporation, which can be reversed by removing the cytoplasmic domain or pseudotyping virions with a heterologous Env (82, 96, 98, 198, 358). A small deletion of the α -helix 2 motif in the HIV-1 Env cytoplasmic domain impaired its incorporation, while it was reversed by an additional mutation in the matrix protein at V34I (225). The C-terminal truncation of Env at Y(712) blocks its viral incorporation in PBMC and macrophages, even though the mutant can be incorporated in certain cell lines such as Hela and MT4 (226). Shorter C-terminal truncations are deleterious to Env incorporation (84). Therefore, the cytoplasmic domain of the Env plays a critical role in Env incorporation. Presumably, the long cytoplasmic tails take a tripod-like configuration and fit into the 3-axes symmetric gaps between the HIV-1 Gag that is organized as hexamers array on membrane (7, 8). Additionally, some other indirect interactions are probably also involved in Env incorporation. HIV-1 Env and Gag may be associated to each other by both binding to TIP47 (191). HIV-1 virions can incorporate heterologous Env glycoproteins of other viruses such as MuLV, HTLV, VSV, and HCV. The HIV-1 Gag is associated with lipid rafts through its M domain, I domain and myristate group (80, 228, 235, 260). However, the association between HIV-1 Env and lipid rafts appears to depend on the Env-Gag interaction (27). Nevertheless, some studies show

that the coexpression of the HIV Env and Ebola GP in the presence of HIV-1 Gag results in two distinct viral population carrying different surface glycoproteins because of the segregation of them in lipid rafts (180). These suggest that the association with lipid rafts may contribute to Env incorporation in an unknown way. In infected CD4 T-cells, Both actin and tubulin are required to direct the clustering of Env and Gag at a polarized, capped, raft-like assembly domain (148).

Virus Release. In T-cells and DC cells, the HIV-1 Env and Gag are accumulated in a tetraspanin-enriched microdomain (CD9, CD63, CD81, and CD82) for replication, assembly, and budding (106, 149, 229). This domain is associated with the Tsg101, VPS28, and AP-3 (105, 229). Tetraspanin has been reported to function as a costimulatory signal to increase the expression of HIV-1 genes through the NF-κB, NFAT, and AP-1 pathway in the primary CD4+ T-cells (307). Moreover, overexpression of tetraspanins appears to negatively modulate the Env-mediated cell-cell fusion (113, 335).

Binding and Entry. The first step of HIV infection is the attachment of virions to cell surface. Both specific and nonspecific interactions contribute to the virus-cell attachment. Although the interaction between CD4 and gp120 provides a viral specific binding to target cells, the binding of CD4 to virus-associated gp120 is weak, and infection can take place in a CD4-independent pathway (316). Studies have shown that the cyclophilin A that is incorporated into virions is translocated to the surface during maturation, and then plays an important role in the virus-cell attachment by binding to be a dominant force to mediate virus-cell attachment as well. These include the binding of gp120 to the HSPG, mannose receptor, and Galcer, and the interaction of adhesion molecules on virus and cell surface such as Integrin and ICAMs (314, 316). However, for most of HIV-1 strains, the binding of gp120 to CD4 is critical for a successful entry

35

into target cells. CD4 is a 55kD member of the Ig family. It is composed of four extracellular domains, one transmembrane domain, and a highly charged cytoplasmic domain. The gp120-binding site on CD4 has been mapped to a small fragment in the Nterminal extracellular domain. The CD4-binding sites in gp120 are located in the C3 and C4 regions (Fig. 5), which is conformation-dependent. In the crystallographic structure of the gp120-CD4 complex (170, 350), the CD4-binding site has been demonstrated to span parts of the outer domain and portions of the bridging sheet that is composed of the V1V2 regions. These regions are predicted to form an open cavity, which is occupied by the Phe43 in CD4 molecules and probably is shielded by glycans. The Env-CD4 interaction is not sufficient to induce virus-cell membrane fusion. Some chemokine receptors, which are members of the G protein-coupled receptor superfamily with seven transmembrane domains, have been identified to be required for the activation of fusogenecity of the gp41 subunit. The two major one are CXCR4 and CCR5. The viral determinants of coreceptor usage are located mainly in the V3 loop of gp120, while the V1V2 regions are also involved in the selection. The binding of coreceptors to gp120 is highly stimulated by CD4 (282, 310). This suggests that HIV-1 binding and entry consists of sequential events: first, gp120 interacts with CD4; conformational changes in the gp120-CD4 complex expose the coreceptor-binding sites; further binding to the coreceptor triggers the activity of gp41 to mediate membrane fusion. However, the appearance of CD4-independent virus isolates and the discovery of a number of other chemokine coreceptors such as the CCR2b, CCR3, CCR8, APJ, Bonzo (STRL33), BOB (GPR15), and US28 indicated that the coreceptor-binding event is probably the key step to activate the gp41 fusion machinery (21, 131, 162). The binding of gp120 to CD4 induces the reorganization of the actin skeleton and the clustering of CD4 and chemokine coreceptors particular in the viral synapses (147). The Env-coreceptor interaction activates Rac-1 GTPase (257). Studies have shown that moesin, a

membrane-actin linker, and filamin-A, an actin-binding protein, are involved in the actin reorganization process (15, 143). The primary function of the Env glycoprotein is to promote the virus-cell entry by mediating the fusion between the viral envelope and the cellular membrane. After the sequential binding of gp120 to CD4 and chemokine coreceptors, the conformation of gp120 undergoes dramatic changes that result in the exposure of gp41, which is previously shielded by gp120, to target membrane. The gp41 glycoprotein is the fusion competent part of HIV-1 Env. When activated, its Nterminal 30-aa hydrophobic peptide, known as the fusion peptide, is released from a compact structure of the gp41 and becomes associated with the outer monolayer of the target membrane. Following the fusion peptide are two conserved and amphipathic heptad repeat sequences, HR1 and HR2. The structure of the gp41 ectodomain has been resolved by crystallography and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (42, 50, 305, 332). These studies demonstrated that the HR1 and HR2 are both α -helices, and packed antiparallelly with a loop connecting the C-terminus of HR1 and the N-terminus of HR2. In the postfusion form of the gp41 trimer, the three HR1 segments form a coilcoil structure in the center, and the three HR2 segments are tightly packed into the hydrophobic grooves of the coiled-coil structure on the outside. This results in a six-helix bundle, which is similar to the fusion-competent form of influenza HA and SIV gp41. The anti-parallelly packaged heptad repeat sequences in the postfusion form of the gp41 trimer suggests a model of membrane fusion, in which the formation of a 6-helix bundle brings the viral membrane and cell membrane close together to facilitate lipid mixing. However, little has been known about the details of how two lipid bilayers merge into one. Several questions still remained to be answered: what is the factor that triggers lipid mixing; does the HIV-1 Env-mediated membrane fusion has a detectable hemifusion stage; what is the viral and/or cellular factors that contribute to the expansion of fusion pore? Nevertheless, the sequences C-terminal to the HRs are also important

to the fusogenecity of gp41. The membrane proximal tryptophan-rich domain which is C-terminal to HR2 has been shown to be important to the Env-mediated cell-cell fusion and viral infectivity (278). This domain forms a well-defined amphipathic α -helix that is predicted to locate at membrane-water interface (283) and to contribute the disruption of viral membrane during fusion (319). The cytoplasmic domain of gp41 also plays a role in modulating the fusogenecity of HIV-1 Env by regulating the surface level of the Env via its Y(712)SPL, Y(802)W, and the C-terminal dileucine motif, and by influencing the conformational integrity of the Env ectodomains (32, 354). Moreover, this region contains three lipid lytic peptide segments (LLP1-3) that are all amphipathic and suggested to be associated with the inner monolayer of viral membrane (55, 158). The synthetic peptides of these LLPs have been shown to induce the leaking and fusion of artificial lipid vesicles; however, their roles in the context of the gp41 sequence are not known yet (66, 212, 309). Additionally, the lipid composition appears to influence the virus-cell membrane fusion as well (236). HIV viral envelope is rich in lipid rafts components (9) and the membrane fusion may take place at lipid raft microdomains. Studies have demonstrated that cholesterol and glycosphingolipids are critical for viruscell membrane fusion (35, 137, 321).

Env Immune Response. The HIV-1 Env is a strong immunogen and elicits a number of antibodies. However, only a small number of them are able to neutralize virions. There are two groups of anti-Env neutralizing antibodies that have been studied (153). The first class is anti-V3 loop antibodies, which are usually narrow in their range of neutralization due to the hypervariability of the V3 loop. These neutralizing antibodies can be rapidly escaped by viral mutations in the V3 loop. The other class consists of some rare antibodies with broadly neutralizing activity against functionally conserved surface epitopes in the context of functional gp120 or gp41. Only 4 broadly neutralizing antibodies have been well defined, b12, 2G12, 4E10, and 2F5. Based on the epitopes

of these Nabs, several strategies have been explored to design novel immunogens to elicit Env neutralizing antibodies. The CD4-binding site seems to be prospective for immunogen design because b12 binds to this region and results in a broadly neutralizing activity (38). Studies have shown that the CD4-stabilized CD4-binding site approach increases its ability to elicit neutralizing antibodies (79, 355). The 2G12 binds to glycans on Env surface, suggesting that the alteration of surface oligosaccharides based on the 2G12-glycan structures could be a very promising idea. Other targets in the gp120 for immunogen design include the V3 loop and the regions involved in CCR5 binding. In the gp41 glycoprotein, the membrane proximal external region, where the epitopes of 2F5 and 4E10 are located, may present another interesting target for the immunogen design. In general, the current immunogen design to elicit neutralizing humoral immune response against HIV-1 Env is focused on either the concensus sequences that are functionally conserved, or the surface glycan structure of gp120/gp41. HIV-1 Env also elicits virus-specific CD4 and CD8 T-cell immune responses. Both the MHC class I and Il pathway are involved in the epitope-presenting process (176). However, viruses can escape the T-cell mediated immune attack by generating mutations that influence the processing of epitopes and their binding to the MHC molecules. These epitopeescaping events may be associated with certain HLA genotypes.

Env Signaling and Pathogenesis. It has been reported that HIV-1 gp120 induces apoptosis in CD4+ T-cells, CD8+ T-cells, and neurons (20, 23, 130, 211). The Env related cell death can be induced by several distinct mechanisms (247). The soluble gp120 can kill cells through signals that are transmitted by CXCR4 chemokine receptors. The Env-CD4 complexes on the surface of HIV-1 infected cells can kill uninfected bystander cells that express CD4 and CXCR4 or other chemokine receptors. The Env-CD4 complexes can be transferred to CD4-expressing target cells by transient contacts with lipid exchanges, and then induce cell death in the target cells. Moreover,

Env-mediated fusion between infected cells and bystander cells forms syncytia that then yield to apoptosis. This occurs through a complex signaling pathway that involves the activation of several kinases such as Cdk1, Chk2, mTOR, p38 MAPK, and IKK, as well as the activation of several transcription factors including NF-kappaB and p53. However, if the Env-expressing cell is at an early stage of the imminent apoptosis, the apoptosis in syncytia occurs via a mitochondria-dependent pathway but does not involve Cdk1, mTOR, p38 or p53. Additionally, HIV-1 Env contains two calmodulin-binding domains in its cytoplasmic domains, which are involved in the Fas-mediated cell death (213, 243, 264). Binding of HIV-1 Env to the chemokine receptors CCR5 or CXCR4 activates calcium flux and chemotaxis in CD4+ T-cells (333). This calcium flux is both CD4- and coreceptor-dependent; however, the physiological threshold of signal activation is decreased to as low as two virions per cell compared to the calcium flux induced by coreceptors and their natural ligands (210). The consequence of this calcium signal has not been understood yet. Recently, studies have demonstrated that the entry of virions requires actin reorganization in target cells. The binding of Env to CD4 and coreceptors activates a signaling cascade resulting in activation of Rac-1 GTPase and subsequent actin cytoskeletal reorganization that is critical for virus-cell membrane fusion. It has been suggested that the Galpha(q) signaling pathway may be involved in the signal transductions (120). The cell surface level of CD4 is regulated by the HIV-1 Env via two mechanisms. First, the Env-CD4 complex on a cell surface triggers the internalization of CD4 molecules (31). Second, the Env-CD4 complex formed intracellularly can retain CD4 in intracellular membrane compartments for degradation mediated by Vpu and Nef. Some studies showed that dendritic cells secret IFN- γ in the presence of viral particles probably through the interaction of gp120 and mannose receptors (214). The cross linking of CD4 with viral particles induces the signaling pathways that activate cellular transcriptional machinery (20).

Entry Inhibitors. The virus-cell entry step is one the potential target for anti-HIV drug development. So far several HIV entry inhibitors have been found and some of them are under clinical trials. These inhibitors include small molecules, antibodies and covalently modified natural ligands, and can be grouped into three classes: attachment inhibitors, chemokine receptor antagonists, and fusion inhibitors (92, 169, 261). Initially, recombinant soluble CD4 was used as the molecular decoy; however, it is not able to neutralize primary HIV isolates. An exotoxin (PE40) conjugated rsCD4 only showed the modest reduction of viral RNA levels. Several small molecules, BMS-378806 and BMS-488043, which block the gp120-CD4 interaction, have potential anti-HIV activities, but their neutralization activities are either not broad or high dose-dependent. A monoclonal antibody, ibalizumab, has the ability to lock CD4 conformation after attachment and inhibit following events. Initial clinical trial study has shown its potency to decrease the viral RNA level in plasma. A number of the small molecule CCR5 antagonists have been tested for their anti-HIV activities. Four of them, aplaviroc, maraviroc, vicriviroc, and INCB009471 showed potent inhibition of both the lab-adapted and primary isolates, and are in the process of advanced clinical trials. A few CXCR4 antagonists, AMD11070, AMD3100, and plerixafor (AMD conjugated with G-CSF) have shown potent inhibition activity as well. Several broad anti-CCR5 monoclonal antibodies including HGS004 and PRO140 have been tested in HIV-1 infected individuals and proved to efficiently decrease viral RNA level and increase CD4 T-cell level (233). Several synthetic peptides overlapping the HR2 and MPER regions of gp41 have been shown to inhibit the membrane fusion mediated by HIV-1 Env. Among these peptides, T20 (enfuvirtide) was demonstrated to be the most beneficial to inhibit viral replication and valuable to be added into the salvage treatment armamentarium (197).

Env Vaccine. The purpose of Env-based HIV vaccine is mainly to induce an anti-Env humoral immune response containing broadly neutralizing antibodies. So far, HIV

vaccine design has still been unsuccessful. However, studies have suggested several strategies for Env vaccine design. First, the polyvalent Env glycoprotein composed of sequence from different genotypes and a cocktail of Env glycoproteins in vaccine could be a valuable method to elicit broadly neutralizing antibodies. Second, based on currently available broadly neutralizing anti-Env monoclonal antibodies, modifications of the Env sequence at functionally conserved regions such as the CD4-binding site, coreceptor-binding site, and MPER, provide novel strategies for immunogen designs. Finally, since the Env glycoprotein is heavily glycosylated and the 2G12 (against mannose group on Env glycans) antibody shows broadly neutralizing activity, anti-glycan antibodies could be a new source of HIV-1 neutralizing agents. These issues have been discussed in several reviews (135, 206, 244, 245, 253, 296, 312).

	gp120 start
001-044	MRVKEKYQHLWRWGWRWGTMLLGMLMICSATEKLWVTVYYGVPV Signal peptide
045-102	wkeatttlfcasdakaydtevhnvwathacvptdpnpqevvlv <mark>nvt</mark> enfnmwkndmve C1
103-160	QMHEDIISLWDQSLKPCVKLTPLCVSL <u>KCTDLKNDTNTNSSSGRMIMEKGEIKNCS</u> FN V1 V1 end, V2 start
161-218	<u>ISPSIRGKVQKEYAFFYKLDIIPIDNDTTSYKLTSCNTS</u> VITQACPKVSFEPIPIHYC V2
219-276	apagfailkcn <u>nkt</u> f <u>ngt</u> gpct <u>nvs</u> tvocthgirpvvstolll <u>ngs</u> laeeevvirsvM C2
277-334	<u>FT</u> DNAKTIIVQL <u>NTS</u> VEI <u>NCTRPNNNTRKRIRIQRGPGRAFVTIGKIGNMRQAHC</u> NIS V3
335-392	RAKW <u>NNT</u> LKQIASKLREQFGN <u>NKT</u> IIFKQSSGGDPEIWTHSFNCGGEFF <u>YCNSTQLFN</u> C3 CD4 binding sites
393-450	<u>STWFNSTWSTEGSNNTEGSDTITLPC</u> RIKQIINMMQKVGKAMYAPPISGQIRCSSNIT V4 C4
451-508	GLLLTRDGG <u>NSNNESEIFRPG</u> GGDMRDNWRSELYKYKVVKIEPLGVAPTKAKRRVVQR upp41 start V5 C5
509-566	EKRAVGIGALFLGFLGAAGSTMGAASMTLTVQARQLLSGIVQQQNNLLRAIEAQQHLL Fusion peptide Heptad repeat 1 (HR1)
567-624	<u>QLTVWGIKQLQARILAVERYLKDQQLLGIWGCSGKLICTTAVPWNAS</u> WS <u>NKS</u> LEQIWN Heptad repeat 1 (HR1) Immunodominant loop
625-682	HTTWMEWDREINNYTSLIHSLIEESQNQQEKNEQELLELDKWASLWNWFNITNWLWYI HR 2
683-740	Major endocytosis signal KLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVLSIVNRVRQG Membrane-spanning domain
741-798	drdrsirlv <mark>ngs</mark> laliwddlrslclfsyh <u>rlrdlllivtrivellgrrgw</u> ealkywwn LLP2
799-856	LLQYWSQELKNSAVSLINATAIAVAEGTDRVIEVVQGACRAIRHIPRRIRQGLERILL LLP3 Lipid lytic peptide 1 (LLP1)





Fig. 6 The Env sequence structure (NL4-3).



Fig. 7 Membrane fusion mediated by the HIV-1 Env. (Melikyan, G.B. *Retrovirology*, 2008, 5:111. ©Biomed Central)



Fig. 8 The biological activities of the HIV-1 Env. (Adapted from figures on the website of Ono Lab at University of Michigan)

The Membrane-spanning Domain of HIV-1 Env

HIV-1 MSD Structure. An important function of gp41 is to anchor the glycoprotein complex within the host-derived viral membrane (165). The precise boundaries of the HIV-1 MSD have not been clearly defined; however, the MSD is one of the most conserved regions in the gp41 sequence. Based on the initial functional studies of HIV-1, the MSD of Env was defined as a stretch of 25 predominantly hydrophobic amino acids that spanned residues K681 to R705 in the NL4-3 sequence (100, 129, 165). These residues were suggested to cross the viral membrane in the form of a α -helix, the length of which is approximately equal to the theoretical depth of a membrane bilayer. A major caveat of this model is that it places a basic amino acid residue (R694) into the hydrophobic center of the lipid bilayer. While some transmembrane proteins do contain charged amino acid residues in their membrane-spanning domains, it is normally considered to be energetically unfavorable without some mechanism to neutralize the charge (68, 99). Point mutation studies have yielded variable results but in general substitution of K681 is detrimental to fusion and infectivity while mutation of R694 or R705 has only a limited effect on these activities (129, 242). On the other hand, accumulating data argues for a different intramembrane structure of the HIV-1 MSD. Serial small deletions (3 amino acid residues) in the region between R694 and R705 showed normal cell-cell fusion, although larger deletions were detrimental (242), suggesting that, with respect to the biological functions of the Env glycoprotein, the length of this region is more important than its amino acid conservation.

A "Snorkeling" Model of the MSD. Previous C-terminal truncation studies of SIV Env (186, 336) suggested that the entire 27 amino acid region is not required for the biological function of this protein. In the case of SIV only the 15 apolar amino acids flanked by K689 and R705 (equivalent to K681 and R694 in HIV) and 6 additional amino

acids (for a total of 23 amino acids) were required for near WT fusion (186, 336). Two more subsequent residues were required (25 amino acids totally) for virus-cell entry and infectivity; while a length of 21 amino acid residues was sufficient for SIV Env to be incorporated into viral particles. These results led to a basic amino acid "snorkeling" model for the SIV MSD (336). In this model, the lysine and arginine (NL4-3 equivalents of K681 and R694) are buried in the lipid bilayer, while their long side chains are proposed to extend outward to the membrane surface and present the positively charged amino groups to the negatively charged head groups of the lipid bilayers. Applied to HIV-1 MSD, this model would predict a hydrophobic intramembrane core of only 12 amino acid residues (compared to 15 amino acid residues in the SIV MSD) between K681 and R694. The hydrophobic region C-terminal to K681 is not sufficient to effectively anchor the protein, since mutation of R694 to a stop codon yielded a nonfunctional protein that appeared to be retained in the ER (84). This contrasts truncation experiments with the VSV-G glycoprotein, which have shown that a region of 12 hydrophobic amino acids flanked by basic residues is sufficient to anchor the protein in the membrane (3).

The MSD "Core" Domain. The high degree of conservation of the HIV-1 Env MSD, particularly within the "core" region, argues for a functional role in the biological activity of the HIV-1 Env complexes. Substitution of the HIV-1 MSD by equivalent regions from other transmembrane proteins has yielded variable results. Substitution of the HIV-1 MSD with a glycophospholipid anchor abrogated both cell-cell fusion and virus-cell fusion though the chimeric protein could be normally expressed, processed and incorporated into virions (277). Moreover, the replacement of HIV-1 MSD with the MSD of other transmembrane proteins, such as glycophorin A, Vesicular Stomatitis Virus G protein (VSV-G) and influenza hemagglutinin (HA), resulted in an impaired ability of Env complexes to mediate membrane fusion (216, 334). On the other hand, the replacement

of the MSD of Env with that of CD22 (343) did not appear to block the replication of HIV in MT4 cells, and an Env chimera containing the transmembrane region of CD4 (265) has also been shown to induce normal membrane fusion. According to the consensus sequence of the HIV-1 MSD, the 12 amino acid residues in the core region are generally more conserved than those C-terminal to this region (from R694 to R705). Recent studies of the MSD core region have focused on the GXXXG motif in which the glycine residues are the most conserved among all MSD residues. Statistical studies and bacterial models suggested that the GXXXG motif probably constructs a framework for the association of transmembrane helixes (276, 287, 288). It has been demonstrated that the GXXXG motif in the E1 glycoprotein of hepatitis C virus is important for the heterodimerization of its E1 and E2 envelope glycoproteins (63). The membranespanning domain of VSV-G also contains a GXXXG motif. Alanine and leucine scanning experiments showed that single mutation of the two glycines reduced the fusion activity of VSV-G to half of WT, but simultaneous mutation of both residues almost completely blocked membrane fusion (64). Similar results were reported for the GXXXG motif in HIV-1 MSD core, in which the fusogenicity of Env started decreasing when more than one glycine residue was substituted for alanine or leucine (215, 216).

In This Dissertation. In order to further understand the structural and functional roles of the HIV-1 MSD in viral replication, we initially substituted all of the residues for leucine within the MSD core, and then sequentially reintroduced the GGXXG motif, and then F683 with V687. We show here that the specific amino acid residues in the helical core of HIV-1 MSD are critical for the fusogenicity of Env complexes and infectivity of HIV-1. The loss of infectivity correlated with impaired virus-cell fusion. However, these mutations in the MSD core did not influence the biogenesis, intracellular transport and incorporation of Env complexes. In further study, we examined the effects of the MSD core "recovery-of-function" mutants on Env-mediated membrane fusion in a molecular

level. We showed that the amino acid composition of MSD core does not influence viral attachment to cell surface, nor CD4 and CXCR4 recognition of HIV-1 Env. However, the cell-cell fusion kinetics of the recovery-of-function mutants was delayed compared to WT. The impaired fusogenecity was not due to arresting of cell-cell fusion at hemifusion stage. Amino acid substitutions within the MSD core can result in limited and localized conformational changes in the gp120 and gp41 ectodomains. In order to understand if the "snorkeling" model is applicable to the HIV-1 MSD, we have constructed a series of nonsense mutants that truncate the HIV-1 gp41 in single amino acid steps at the C-terminus from residue R707 to residue R694. For each mutant Env we have determined membrane stability, fusogenicity and the ability to mediate infectivity. The results of these studies suggest that the 14-residue "core" plus three subsequent hydrophobic amino acids is the minimal anchor domain for HIV-1 Env and as well as the minimal sequence to mediate cell-cell fusion. In contrast to SIV Env, HIV-1 Env requires the entire 25 amino acid region from R707 to K681 to mediate near WT incorporation and infectivity.

TRUNCATION OF THE MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE I ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN DEFINES ELEMENTS REQUIRED FOR FUSION, INCORPORATION AND INFECTIVITY

By

LING YUE, § LIANG SHANG, § AND ERIC HUNTER

§ Both authors have contributed equally to this work

Journal of Virology, September 2009, 83(22): [Epub ahead of print]

Copyright 2008 by American Society for Microbiology

Used by permission

Format adapted for dissertation

ABSTRACT

The membrane-spanning domain (MSD) of the envelope (Env) glycoprotein from human and simian immunodeficiency viruses (HIV and SIV) plays a key role in anchoring the Env complex into the viral membrane, but also contributes to its biological function in fusion and virus entry. In HIV-1, it has been predicted to span 27 amino acids from lysine residue 681 to arginine 707, and encompasses an internal arginine at residue By examining a series of C-terminal truncation mutants of the HIV-1 gp41 694. glycoprotein that substituted termination codons for amino acids 682 to 708, we show that this entire region is required for efficient viral infection of target cells. Truncation to the arginine at residue 694 resulted in an Env complex that was secreted from the cells. In contrast, a region from residue 681 to 698, which contains highly conserved hydrophobic residues and glycine motifs and extends four amino acids beyond 694R, can effectively anchor the protein in the membrane, allow efficient transport to the plasma membrane, and mediate WT levels of cell-cell fusion. However, these fusogenic truncated Env mutants are inefficiently incorporated into budding virions. Based on the analysis of these mutants, a "snorkeling" model, in which the flanking charged amino acid residues at 681 and 694 are buried in the lipid while their side chains interact with polar head groups, is proposed for the HIV-1 MSD.

INTRODUCTION

Human immunodeficiency virus Type I (HIV-1) infection is initiated by fusion of the viral membrane with that of the target cell and is mediated by the viral envelope glycoprotein (Env). HIV-1 Env, a type-I membrane-spanning glycoprotein, is a trimeric complex composed of three non-covalently linked heterodimers of gp120, the receptor-binding surface (SU) component, and gp41, the membrane-spanning, trans-membrane (TM) component (87, 219, 347, 352). The gp120 and gp41 glycoproteins are synthesized as a precursor gp160 glycoprotein, which is encoded by the *env* gene. The gp160 precursor is co-translationally glycosylated and, following transport to the trans-Golgi network, is cleaved into the mature products by a member of the furin family of endoproteases (352). Mature Env proteins are transported to the plasma membrane, where they are rapidly endocytosed or incorporated into virions (40, 275, 343). Recent evidence suggests that endocytosis and intracellular trafficking of Env is required for its interaction with Gag precursors and for efficient assembly into virions (191).

HIV-1 Env molecules function as quasi-stable "spring-loaded" fusion machines. Recent studies have suggested that several regions of gp120 are reoriented following CD4 binding so that a planar "bridging sheet", which forms the binding site for the co-receptor (CCR5 or CXCR4) can form (51, 52). Coreceptor binding is necessary for additional conformational changes in gp41 and for complete fusion (21). The gp41 monomer has three subdomains, an ectodomain, a membrane-spanning domain (MSD) and a cytoplasmic domain (331). The ectodomain of gp41, which mediates membrane fusion, is composed of a fusion peptide, two heptad repeats and a tryptophan-rich membrane proximal external region (MPER). Following the binding of gp120 to the CD4 receptor and CCR5/CXCR4 coreceptor, conformational changes are induced in Env and result in the exposure of the gp41 fusion peptide (267). This peptide inserts into the target cell

membrane, allowing gp41 to form a bridge between the viral and cellular membranes. Interaction of the heptad repeats to form a six-helix bundle then brings the target and viral membranes together, allowing membrane fusion to occur (200).

While heptad repeat regions (HR1 and HR2) in the N-terminal ectodomain play key roles in Env-mediated fusion by bringing the viral and cell membranes in close proximity, an important function of gp41 is to anchor the glycoprotein complex within the host-derived viral membrane (165). The precise boundaries of the HIV-1 MSD have not been clearly defined; however, the MSD is one of the most conserved regions in the gp41 sequence. Based on the initial functional studies of HIV-1, the MSD of Env was defined as a stretch of 25 predominantly hydrophobic amino acids that spanned residues K681 to R705 in the NL4-3 sequence (100, 129, 165). These residues were suggested to cross the viral membrane in the form of an alpha-helix, the length of which is approximately equal to the theoretical depth of a membrane bilayer. A major caveat of this model is that it places a basic amino acid residue (R694) into the hydrophobic center of the lipid bilayer. While some transmembrane proteins do contain charged amino acid residues in their membrane-spanning domains, it is normally considered to be energetically unfavorable without some mechanism to neutralize the charge (68, 99). Point mutation studies have yielded variable results but in general substitution of K681 is detrimental to fusion and infectivity while mutation of R694 or R705 has only a limited effect on these activities (129, 241). On the other hand, accumulating data argues for a different intramembrane structure of the HIV-1 MSD. Serial small deletions (3 amino acid residues) in the region between R694 and R705 showed normal cell-cell fusion, although larger deletions were detrimental (241), suggesting that, with respect to the biological functions of the Env glycoprotein, the length of this region is more important than its amino acid conservation.

Previous C-terminal truncation studies of SIV Env (186, 336) suggested that the entire 27 amino acid region is not required for the biological function of this protein. In the case of SIV only the 15 apolar amino acids flanked by K689 and R705 (equivalent to K681 and R694 in HIV) and 6 additional amino acids (for a total of 23 amino acids) were required for near WT fusion (186, 336). Two more subsequent residues were required (25 amino acids totally) for virus-cell entry and infectivity; while a length of 21 amino acid residues was sufficient for SIV Env to be incorporated into viral particles. These results led to a basic amino acid "snorkeling" model for the SIV MSD (336). In this model, the lysine and arginine (NL4-3 equivalents of K681 and R694) are buried in the lipid bilayer, while their long side chains are proposed to extend outward to the membrane surface and present the positively charged amino groups to the negatively charged head groups of the lipid bilayers. Applied to HIV-1 MSD, this model would predict a hydrophobic intramembrane core of only 12 amino acid residues (compared to 15 amino acid residues in the SIV MSD) between K681 and R694. The hydrophobic region C-terminal to K681 is not sufficient to effectively anchor the protein, since mutation of R694 to a stop codon yielded a non-functional protein that appeared to be retained in the ER (84). This contrasts truncation experiments with the VSV-G glycoprotein, which have shown that a region of 12 hydrophobic amino acids flanked by basic residues is sufficient to anchor the protein in the membrane (3).

In order to understand if the "snorkeling" model is applicable to the HIV-1 MSD, we have constructed a series of nonsense mutants that truncate the HIV-1 gp41 in single amino acid steps at the C-terminus from residue R707 to residue R694. For each mutant Env we have determined membrane stability, fusogenicity and the ability to mediate infectivity. The results of these studies suggest that the 12-residue "core" (289) plus three subsequent hydrophobic amino acids is the minimal anchor domain for HIV-1 Env

and as well as the minimal sequence to mediate cell-cell fusion. In contrast to SIV Env, HIV-1 Env requires the entire 25 amino acid region from K681 to R707 to mediate near WT incorporation and infectivity.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cells and antibodies. COS-1, 293T (American Type Culture Collection, Rockville, MD) and JC53BL (available from the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Program as TZM-BL) cells were maintained in complete Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and penicillin-streptomycin (all from Gibco-BRL, Rockville, MD). Cells were passaged 3 times per week under conditions of 37°C and 5% CO₂ in humidified incubators and were transfected at 50-70% confluency. The anti-gp120 902 monoclonal antibodies, and anti-gp41 monoclonal antibodies T32, D50 and 2F5 along with HIV-1 patient Ig were obtained from the AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health. The pooled HIV-1 patient sera were provided through the Emory CFAR Clinical Core. The sheep anti-HIV-1 gp120 polyclonal Ab and goat anti-human IgG (H+L) HRP were purchased from Cliniqa Corp (San Marcos, CA) and Pierce (Rockford, IL), respectively.

Glycoprotein and proviral expression constructs. Construction of the HIV-1 Env expression vector pSRHS, which encodes full-length *env, tat*, and *rev* genes from NL4-3, has been described previously (277). This simian virus (SV40 late promoter) based vector contains a Mason Pfizer Monkey Virus (MPMV) derived long terminal repeat providing a polyadenylation signal. A unique *Xbal* site (nucleotide 8213, NL4-3) was previously introduced into the pNL4-3 *env* gene in both pSRHS and the proviral vector pNL4-3. In this study, we employed a two-step overlapping PCR approach to generate DNA fragments containing mutated membrane-spanning domains. Individual stop codons were inserted during the1st round PCR by using forward oligonucleotide primers that contained the required mutations and a reverse oligonucleotide primer *env*M2 (NL4-

3 nucleotides 8500-8534). The 1st round PCR fragment was then used as a reverse mega primer, together with the *env*B7 forward primer (NL4-3 nucleotides 7786-7809) to generate 2nd round PCR fragments, which includes the unique Xbal and BamHI sites. Following digestion with Xbal and BamHI, fragments containing the truncation mutations were subcloned into pSRHS and pNL4-3 to create Env expression vectors and genomic vectors that encode mutants in which the gp41 is truncated in single amino acid steps from residue 707 to residue 694 (Fig.1). All mutations were confirmed by DNA sequencing using a primer approximately 100bp upstream from the MSD sequence. In this study, nucleotides and amino acid residues were labeled according to the NL4-3 sequence (GeneBank accession: AF324493) if not being specifically notified.

Glycoprotein expression and immunoprecipitation. The pSRHS Env expression vectors or proviral DNA were transfected into COS-1 cells using Fugene6 (Roche, Indianapolis, IL) in 6-well plates. At 36-48 h posttransfection, cells were starved for 15 min in methionine-free and cysteine-free DMEM and then labeled for 30 min in methionine-free and cysteine-free DMEM supplemented with ³⁵S-methionine and ³⁵S-cysteine (125µCi/well). The labeled cells were then chased in complete DMEM for 5 h prior to harvest of the supernatant and lysis of the cells. All medium was filtered through a 0.45µm membrane to remove cellular debris. Cells were lysed by a 10 min incubation on ice in lysis buffer (1% Triton X-100, 50 mM NaCl and 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate [SDS] in 25 mM Tris-HCl [pH8.0]). Cellular debris was removed by microcentrifugation at 13,200 rpm for 1 min at 4°C. HIV-1 viral proteins were immunoprecipitated from cell lysates and supernatants, by incubating overnight at 4°C with pooled HIV-1 patient sera plus anti-gp41 monoclonal antibodies T32 and D50. Immune complexes were incubated overnight at 4°C with fixed *Staphylococcus aureus* cells (or protein-G agarose beads) and pelleted in a microcentrifuge. The pellets were

then washed three times in lysis buffer, and labeled proteins resolved by 10% SDS-PAGE were visualized by autoradiography. The glycoprotein bands were quantified using a Cyclone phosphorimaging system (Packard, Meriden, CT) as previously described (336).

Cell-cell fusion assay. COS-1 cells were transfected with pSRHS expression vectors and 293T cells were transfected with proviral vectors pNL4-3 by using Fugene6. At 36-48h after transfection, cells resuspended by trypsinization were combined with JC53BL indicator cells at a 1:5 ratio. Cell mixtures were incubated for 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h (In the cell-cell fusion assay in which proviral vector pNL4-3 was used, 10uM AZT was added into the cell mixture in order to avoid spread of infectious virions), and then were lysed in luciferase reporter lysis buffer (Promega, Madison WI) using two freeze-thaw cycles. Cellular debris was removed by centrifugation at 13,200 rpm for 5 min at 4°C in a microcentrifuge (Beckman, Palo Alto, CA). Luciferase substrate at a volume of 100µl (Promega, Madison, WI) was added to 10µl of each cell lysate and light emission was quantified using a Synergy multi-detector microplate reader (Biotek, Vinooski VT).

Cell surface expression of Env glycoprotein. COS-1 cells were transfected with expression vectors, cultured for 36-48 h, and then after removal from the plate, fixed for 20 min at 4°C in 4% paraformaldehyde (in PBS [pH7.2]). Fixed cells were stained for 1 h at room temperature with 5µg/ml of an Alexa488-conjugated anti-gp120 mAb 902. Stained cells were subjected to flow cytometry analysis using the FACS Calibur system. For some experiments a relative mean fluorescence index (RMFI) was calculated from the product of (% transfected cells) X (mean fluorescence intensity). The Alexa488 conjugation kits were obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA).

Infectivity of HIV-1 viruses in JC53BL indicator cells. Medium from 293T cells transfected with proviral vectors was harvested 72 h posttransfection, filtered through a 0.45µm membrane to remove cellular debris, and total virions quantified using a p24 ELISA assay. The p24-normalized virus-containing supernatant (5ng/well) was added to 1X10⁵ JC53BL indicator cells cultured in DMEM containing 1% fetal bovine serum and 80µg/ml DEAE-Dextran. Complete DMEM was added following a 2h incubation and cells were analyzed for luciferase activity 48 h post infection.

Single-round infection. 293T cells were cotransfected with pSRHS expression vectors and the pSG3 Δ *env* proviral vector. Medium was collected 72 h posttransfection and then was subjected to p24 ELISA assays. The p24-normalized virus-containing supernatants (5ng/well) were used to infected JC53BL indicator cells. Luciferase activity was measured 48 h after infection.

Incorporation of Env into viral particles. Medium collected from 293T cells 72 h after transfection with proviral vectors was filtered through 0.45um membrane and viral particles were pelleted by ultracentrifugation (100,000×g, 2.5 h) through a 25% sucrose cushion. The viral pellets were resuspended in PBS (pH7.2), and the amount of p24 and gp120 was measured using p24 and gp120 ELISA assays (119). The amount of gp41 in virions was quantitated using chemiluminescence in a Western blot assay with anti-gp41 monoclonal antibody 2F5. Incorporation efficiencies in the viral pellets were compared using the ratio of the amount of gp120 or gp41 to that of p24 for each mutant.

RESULTS

In this study, we constructed a series of C-terminal truncation mutants to define the minimal requirement of the MSD for the structural and functional roles of HIV-1 Env in viral assembly and entry. The amino acid sequences and nomenclature of the MSD truncation mutants are shown in Figure 1. The more conserved HIV-1 MSD "core" region remained intact in all of the mutants.

MSD truncation mutants exhibit normal Env biosynthesis and processing but show differential membrane-anchoring. WT and mutant env sequences, in addition to full-length tat and rev genes, were cloned into the pSRHS vector, in which expression of Env is under the control of the late promoter from simian virus 40 (SV40) and a polyadenylation signal from Mason Pfizer Money Virus (MPMV) (84, 146). Mutant Env glycoproteins expressed in COS-1 cells were metabolically labeled and chased over the course of 5 h. Viral glycoproteins were subsequently immunoprecipitated with pooled HIV-1 patient sera and analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by autoradiography. Quantification of protein bands was carried out using a phosphorimager (Packard, Meriden, CT). As shown in Figure 2A, with the exception of mutants Env694R-697F, we observed similar ratios of the cell-associated gp160 and gp120 in COS-1 cells expressing either WT or mutant Envs after a 5 h chase. For mutants Env694R-697F the gp120 band was poorly defined and this may reflect increased secretion of these proteins (see below). A majority of the MSD mutants exhibited levels of truncated gp41 that were similar to WT with mutant gp41 bands migrating faster than that of the WT. These data suggested that the introduction of stop codons in the MSD region C-terminal to the "core" residues did not alter the biosynthesis of the glycoprotein precursor or its transport to the Golgi network for completion of carbohydrate processing and cleavage to the SU and TM subunits.

An examination of labeled Env glycoprotein in the culture supernatant showed that levels of gp120 secretion were similar to WT for most of the truncation mutants (Fig. 2B and 2C). However, the gp120 subunit of the shortest Env construct Env694R was secreted 3.2 times more efficiently than that of the WT. Moreover, for this mutant, bands corresponding to both the gp160 precursor and gp41 were also clearly secreted into the culture supernatant, consistent with inefficient anchoring of the truncated Env. Less intense but still elevated levels of gp41 secretion were also observed for the mutants Env695I-700L (Fig. 2B and 2C), while their shedding of gp120 was similar to WT. The remainder of the mutants, Env701S-707R, exhibited slightly lower levels of gp120 shedding to that observed with the wild-type Env and no secreted gp41. These results demonstrate that truncation of gp41 to residue 694, the internal arginine, resulted in an Env protein that is unstable in the plasma membrane and is partially secreted. The mutant, ERRS, in which 11 amino acids, containing a K(X)KXX Endoplasmic Reticulum retention signal, were inserted at the C-terminus of gp41 and which results in the retention of the gp160 precursor in the ER (279) was used as a negative control.

Truncated Env glycoproteins exhibit differential cell surface expression of the Env glycoprotein. Since synthesis and processing of the truncated MSD mutant HIV-1 Env glycoproteins appeared normal, we next examined the surface expression of these mutant proteins to determine whether they were transported to, and retained normally in, the plasma membrane. Transfected COS-1 cells were fixed 48h post-transfection in 4% paraformaldehyde and stained with Alexa488-conjugated anti-gp120 mAb 902. The cells were then subjected to flow cytometry analysis. As shown in Figure 3A, with the exception of mutant Env706V, mutants Env698A-707R exhibited increasing amounts of Env surface expression (105% to 225%) compared to WT (Fig. 3A). Consistent with the
observed secretion of gp41 into the supernatant for mutants Env694R-697F, low levels of Env surface expression (14-35% of WT) was observed (Fig. 3A). Although mutants Env698A-700L also exhibited low levels of truncated gp41 secretion (Fig. 2C), Env was stably presented on cell surface at relatively high levels (120-150% of WT) for these mutants. The enhanced levels of surface expression observed for a majority of the truncation mutants may reflect the absence of endocytosis signals located in the cytoplasmic domain of the WT gp41 (22, 74, 231, 337).

Analysis of truncated Envs reveals a minimal MSD sequence to mediate cell-cell fusion. Since a majority of the HIV-1 Env truncation mutants were expressed stably on the cell surface, we investigated whether a specific number of amino acid residues were necessary in this region to confer on Env the capacity to mediate cell-cell fusion. Transiently transfected COS-1 cells were co-cultured with JC53BL indicator cells, which contain a luciferase reporter gene under the control of the HIV-1 LTR promoter and which can be activated by the Tat protein (328). Cell-cell fusion was measured by calculating the relative luciferase enzyme activity in cells expressing the mutant Envs compared to those expressing WT Env at 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h after co-culture. The results of a representative experiment are shown in Figure 3B, and demonstrate that the three shortest Env proteins, Env694R-696V, were biologically inactive. The inability of these mutants to mediate cell-cell fusion is consistent with their lower levels of surface expression and reduced anchorage. At 24 h, mutant Env697F exhibited 20% WT fusion, but the remaining mutants induced near WT levels (60-93%) of cell-cell fusion. Thus an Env protein with just 4 amino acids extending beyond 694R exhibited effective WT fusion as shown by this assay.

In order to examine whether the impaired cell-cell fusion of the Env truncation mutants is also because of fusion arrest at a hemifusion stage, we performed a three-color cell-cell fusion experiment. The Env-expressing 293T cells were stained with a cytoplasmic dye, Cell Tracker Green (Invitrogen), and the JC53BL target cells were double stained with a cytoplasmic dye, Cell Tracker Blue (Invitrogen), and a membrane dye, Dil (Invitrogen). The cells were subjected to microscope observation after a co-culture of 2 h. We did not find any evidence of hemifusion intermediates, in which Dil was transferred from the plasma membrane of target cells to that of donor cells, but the intracellular dyes Cell Tracker Blue and Cell Tracker Green did not (data not shown).

MSD truncation mutants show different patterns of cell-cell fusion in the context of virus. It has been known that the intracellular behavior of HIV-1 Env can change in the presence of other viral proteins (242). Therefore, we examined the biosynthesis, surface expression and induction of cell-cell fusion by these mutants in the context of virus by substituting the mutant *env* genes into the proviral vector pNL4-3. In pulsechase experiments similar to those shown for the pSRHS expression vector (Fig. 2), we observed that in the context of the pNL4-3 genome all but one of the truncated Env precursor gp160s were normally expressed and proteolytically processed to gp120 and gp41. The exception was Env706V, which exhibited a drastic reduction in *env* gene products (Fig. 4A). This unexpected effect of a single point mutation within this codon was confirmed through mutagenesis of the 707R codon (AGG) to TAG and TAA, in addition to the initial TGA – in all cases synthesis of Env was reduced. Additional PCR studies have shown that, for this mutant, Env mRNA levels are reduced (Data not shown), and it is likely that bases in this codon are involved in facilitating Env mRNA splicing. Flow cytometric analyses of the provirus-expressing cells showed a similar pattern of cell surface staining to that in Figure 4, again with the exception of Env706V which exhibited background staining (data not shown).

In order to determine the ability of virus producing cells to mediate cell-cell fusion, 293T cells transfected with proviral DNAs were co-cultured with JC53BL indicator cells for 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h in the presence of 10µM AZT to prevent additional rounds of virus replication and then assayed for luciferase activity. In the context of virus, we again observed that MSD mutants Env694R-696I were unable to mediate cell-cell fusion (Fig. 4B). Surprisingly, mutant Env697F in this context induced WT cell-cell fusion rather than the reduced level observed in the context of pSRHS-based expression in COS-1 cells.

MSD truncation mutant viruses show defects in infectivity: Virions, produced by transfection of 293T cells and normalized based on p24 content, were used to infect JC53BL indicator cells. At 48h post-infection luciferase activity in the indicator cells was quantitated. As shown in Figure 5A, only mutant Env707R exhibited any significant evidence of infection (30% that of WT), the remaining mutants induced luciferase levels close to background. These data suggest that the region C-terminal of the MSD core (residues 695-707) is critical for Env-mediated infectivity in the context of the virions. In order to rule out possible problems with the proviral constructs, these results were confirmed in a single-round infection pseudotyped virus assay (Fig. 5B). In this assay, pSG3 Δ *env* was pseudotyped with WT and mutant Envs expressed in COS cells from the pSRHS vector, and then the pseudotyped virions were used to infect JC53BL indicator cells. A similar pattern of infectivity to that observed in the NL4-3 infectivity assay (Fig. 5A) was seen in this assay, with near background levels of infectivity for mutants 694-703, confirming the importance of the MSD core proximal region for infectivity. In this pseudotype virus system a small increase in virus infectivity was observed for mutants

Env704N-706V, while a lower level of infection was seen for Env707R (14.6%) relative to WT.

MSD truncation mutant Envs are incorporated into viral particles at decreased levels. In order to determine whether a defect in Env incorporation might contribute to the impaired infectivity of the MSD mutants, we measured the incorporation efficiency of a subset of the mutated Envs into viral particles. The amount of gp120 and p24 in viral pellets, after ultracentrifugation through a 25% sucrose cushion, was analyzed using gp120 and p24 ELISAs. We observed that the shortest Env mutant 694R incorporated 83.8% less gp120 into virus particles relative to WT (Fig. 6A). This increased to approximately 25% of WT incorporation for mutants 697A and 702I, and to a maximum of almost 50% that of WT for mutant 707R.

Because we were concerned that the C-terminal truncation of HIV-1 Env may cause shedding of gp120 from the viral surface, we also examined the amount of gp41 associated with viral pellets using Western blot with anti-gp41 mAb 2F5. As shown in Fig. 6B and 6C, similar to its incorporation of gp120, the Env mutant 694R incorporated 79.2% less gp41 into viral particles than WT. However, the addition of only two amino acid residues following arginine 694 significantly enhanced the gp41 incorporation of Env mutant 696V to 40% of WT. This increased to approximately 80% of WT for mutant 697F and 702I. The Env mutant 707R has approximately equivalent amount of gp41 incorporated into viral particles to WT. These results indicated that the MSD "core" region plus three following amino acid residues is sufficient for efficient incorporation of Env glycoprotein into viral particles; however, the lack of residues C-terminal to this region decreased the stability of gp120 on the viral surface. Consistent with its

expression profile in the context of a provirus, Env mutant 706V showed undetectable levels of either gp120 or gp41 in viral pellets.

HIV-1 WT (NL4-3)	681 694 705 lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVLSIVNRVRqgyspl
694R	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLR*
695I	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRI*
696V	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIV*
697F	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVF*
698A	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFA*
699V	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAV*
700L	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVL*
701S	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVLS*
7021	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVLSI*
703V	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVLSIV*
704N	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVLSIVN*
705R	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVLSIVNR*
706V	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVLSIVNRV*
707R	lwyiKLFIMIVGGLVGLRIVFAVLSIVNRVR*
SIV (mac239)	689 705 716 aswiKYIQYGVYIVVGVILLRIVIYIVQMLAKLRqgy

Fig.1 Amino acid sequence of HIV-1 MSDs. The amino acid residues of the putative MSD region are shown as uppercase letters and the flanking sequences as lowercase ones. Truncation mutations were generated by PCR mutagenesis to insert a stop codon (*) subsequent to amino acid number (i.e., 694R has a stop codon in place of amino acid 695). The position of the MSD in the sequence of HIV-1 NL4-3 is marked above the positively charged amino acid residues. The MSD of SIVmac239 is shown as a reference.

Fig. 2 Expression profiles of HIV-1 Env glycoprotein. COS-1 cells transiently transfected with SV40-based Env expression vectors were metabolically labeled and chased over 5 h. Both cellular Env glycoprotein (A) and those in supernatant (B) were immunoprecipitated, followed by 10% SDS-PAGE analysis and autoradiography. (C) The bands of gp120 and truncated gp41 in supernatant were quantified by phosphorimager calculation, and the intensity of bands is shown as digital light units (DLU).











Fig. 3 Cell surface level of Env glycoprotein and cell-cell fusion examined using SV40based Env expression vectors. (A) COS-1 cells transfected with pSRHS expression vectors were fixed and labeled with Alexa 488-conjugated anit-gp120 mAb 902, then analyzed by flow cytometry. The surface levels of Env glycoprotein are shown as relative mean fluorescence index (MFI) compared to that of WT. (B) Cell-cell fusion assay. COS-1 cells transfected with pSRHS expression vectors were cocultured with JC53BL indicator cells. Cell mixtures were lysed after the incubation of 6 h, 12 h and 24 h, and then luciferase activity was measured. Results are from at least three independent experiments; error bars represents standard deviations from the means. EV: empty vector.



Fig. 4 Cell-cell fusion examined in the context of provirus expression. (A) 293T cells transiently transfected with proviral vectors were metabolically labeled and chased over 5 h. Cellular Env glycoprotein was immunoprecipitated, followed by 10% SDS-PAGE analysis and autoradiography. (B) 293T cells transfected with proviral DNA were mixed with JC53BL indicator cells and cocultured for 6 h, 12h and 24 h with 10um AZT before the measurement of luciferase activity. Results are from at least three independent experiments; error bars represent standard deviations from the means.



Fig. 5 Infectivity of HIV-1 Env truncation mutants. (A) Mutant viruses containing truncated Env glycoprotein were produced by transfecting proviral DNA into 293T cells. The p24 normalized cell culture supernatant was used to infect JC53BL indicator cells. Cells were lysed after 48 h of incubation and luciferase enzyme activity was assayed. (B) Single-round infectivity assay. Env-defective proviral construct pSG3 Δ *env* was cotransfected into 293T cells with WT and mutant Env expression vectors. Pseudotyped viruses in the cell culture supernatant were quantified using a p24 ELISA assay. The p24-normalized supernatant was then used to infect JC53BL indicator cells. Infectivity of MSD truncation mutants is shown as relative luciferase activity compared to that of the WT. Results are from at least three independent experiments; error bars represent standard deviation from the means.











Fig. 6 Incorporation of Env into virions. 293T cells were transfected with proviral DNA and cultured for 72 h. Viral particles in the medium were pelleted through a 25% sucrose cushion by ultracentrifugation. (A) Viral pellets were subjected to gp120 ELISA and p24 ELISA. The incorporation efficiency is calculated as the ratio of the concentration of gp120 to that of p24 in virions. The standard deviations of three repeats for each experiment are shown as error bars. (B and C) The viral pellets were subjected to western blot with anti-gp41 monoclonal antibody 2F5 and anti-p24 monoclonal antibody 183-12H-5C. The gp41 and p24 bands were quantified using a OptiQuant software (Packard, Meriden, CT).

DISCUSSION

The membrane-spanning domain (MSD) of the HIV-1 gp41 glycoprotein - the transmembrane subunit of Env – is essential for anchoring the Env complex in the viral membrane. However, the region likely plays additional roles during virus entry, since substitutions of the MSD with those of other transmembrane proteins were not able to fully restore the biological activities of HIV-1 Env glycoprotein (216, 265, 334, 343). Although the hydrophobicity of amino acid residues predicts an MSD region containing 25 amino acid residues, spanning from 681K to 707R, the precise boundaries of the gp41 MSD have not been clearly defined. Previously, we have reported that, within this predicted MSD, the N-terminal "core" region (12 highly conserved hydrophobic amino acid residues) is necessary for the biological functions of Env (289). In contrast, other groups have shown that the C-terminal region (13 amino acid residues, less conserved than the "core" region) of this 25 amino acid MSD of HIV-1 Env was more sensitive to changes in length than to changes in sequence (241). We, and others, have shown that expression of Env truncation mutants, which have stop codons just upstream of the MSD, results in secretion of gp120 and gp41 (84, 100, 318). In the current study, we used serial C-terminal MSD truncation mutants to understand the structural requirements of the gp41 membrane-spanning domain and its relationship to the biological activities of HIV-1 Env. The properties of these truncated Envs are summarized in Table 1.

The primary function of the HIV-1 MSD is to serve as a membrane anchor of the Env glycoprotein in both viral and cellular membranes. Our results demonstrate that not all 25 amino acid residues are required for this function (Table 1). While the 12 amino acid MSD "core" region alone (following insertion of a stop codon at 694R) is not enough to

stably anchor the Env glycoprotein in the membrane, one additional subsequent amino acid residue can significantly reduce the amount of truncated gp41 and gp160 that is



Fig. 7 Two alternative structures for the HIV-1 MSD. (A) The original HIV-1 MSD model predicts a structure of 25 amino acid residues from K681 to R705 in the form of a α -helix. The charged amino acid R694 is buried in the membrane. (B) An alternative "snorkeling" model of HIV-1 MSD is supported by the data presented in this study. This model predicts a α -helical "core" region (12 hydrophobic residues between K681 and R694) and provides a potential mechanism for reduction in the size of the membrane anchor and neutralization of the intramembrane lysine/arginine side chains. Interactions of the positively charged (+) side chains of K681 and R694 with the negatively charged phospholipid head groups (-) are shown. (C) In the "snorkeling" model of truncation mutant 698A, the carboxyl group of the C-terminal alanine 698 is excluded from the hydrophobic environment by interacting with the aqueous environment at the membrane interface.

secreted. Moreover, the addition of 3 more amino acids (mutant 698A) further stabilizes the protein in the membrane and restores fusion capacity to wild-type levels - even though extending Env beyond residue 701 was required to completely prevent secretion. Therefore, a 17 amino acid MSD is the minimal requirement to anchor Env on the cellular surface. These results are consistent with our previous analysis of the SIV MSD (336), and of a model in which Lysine 681 and Arginine 694 "snorkel" within the hydrophobic region of the lipid bilayer (Fig. 7B). Theoretically, the alpha-helix formed by the 14 amino acid residues (K681-R694) would span 21Å. The length of the side chain of lysine is approximately 6.4Å, and arginine 7.0Å. Thus the addition of the length of the 14-aa alpha-helix and those of the two side chains of K681 and R694 reaches 34.4Å. Therefore, the "snorkeling" structure is long enough to span a biological lipid bilayer, which is usually 30-40Å in depth.

In the context of this model, the C-terminal carboxyl group of the arginine 694 in the shortest truncation mutant, Env694R, would be positioned within the hydrophobic core of the lipid bilayer, in an energetically unfavorable position. By contrast, addition of four amino acids (mutant Env698A) could provide the required peptide length for this carboxyl group to reach the polar head groups of the membrane and stabilize the protein-membrane interaction (Fig. 7C).

The length of a glycoprotein's MSD is critical not only for membrane anchoring, but also for normal intracellular trafficking and cell surface transport. Internal deletion studies of VSV-G MSD have shown that at least a 14 amino acid MSD (flanked by a lysine and an arginine) was necessary to transport VSV-G to cell surface (3). Shorter ones (8 to 12 amino acid residues) still appeared to be able to span intracellular membranes, but were retained in the Golgi region of the cell. In contrast, all of the mutants of HIV-1 described

here, including Env694R, undergo intracellular trafficking from the endoplasmic reticulum to the plasma membrane. High levels of surface expression do however require at least 4 additional residues subsequent to the MSD "core" region (mutant Env698A).

The amino acid length of an MSD is also critical for the fusogenicity of glycoproteins. For influenza HA, results from analogous C-terminal truncation mutants have shown that MSDs shorter than 15 amino acids could not be stably presented on the cell surface and that at least a 17 amino acid MSD is required to mediate full cell-cell fusion (11). The 2 amino acid shorter form of the HA MSD resulted in hemifusion intermediates. The minimal MSD requirement for HIV-1 Env to mediate WT cell-cell fusion is the "core" region plus 4 additional amino acids (mutant 698A with an 18 amino acid MSD); although, mutant Env697F exhibited approximately 20% the fusion activity of WT when expressed from the pSRHS expression vector in Cos-1 cells. Interestingly, when Env697F was expressed in the context of the pNL4-3 provirus in 293T cells WT cell-cell fusion was observed after mixing with JC53BL cells. It is not clear at the present time whether this reflects an enhancing interaction of the mutant Env with another viral encoded protein or a difference in the relative fusogenicity of the producer cells (293T cells vs Cos-1 cells).

Truncation mutagenesis of the SIV Env showed that the entire cytoplasmic domain as well as 4 amino acids of the C-terminal domain of the MSD is dispensable for fusogenicity and the production of infectious virions (336). In contrast, the majority of the truncated HIV-1 Env MSD mutants were completely defective for infectivity, with the exception of mutant 707R which was only 30% as infectious as WT. Although the MSD truncation mutants also impaired the incorporation efficiency of Env mutants into viral particles, the defects in infectivity can only partially be explained by reduced

incorporation. The cytoplasmic domain of HIV-1 gp41 also plays critical roles in viral infection. Studies have shown that the Env truncation mutant with a stop codon in place of that for Y710 (based on NL4-3 sequence) is incorporated into viral particles at near WT levels when produced in 293T cells, but is not able to mediate multiple-round infection in PBMC due to a lack of Env incorporation (226). Therefore, an intact gp41 MSD is necessary but not sufficient for HIV-1 Env to initiate normal viral infection. It is worthy to note that for both Y710stop and mutant Env707R, gp41 was incorporated with WT efficiency into viral particles but gp120 incorporation was reduced by 25% and 50% respectively. This, coupled with the reductions in both gp41 and gp120 observed with further truncation of the MSD, demonstrates that Env incorporation and stability are very sensitive to the number of amino acid residues at the C-terminal boundary of the gp41 MSD, and that the entire MSD region of HIV-1 Env and the cytoplasmic domain is required for its stable assembly into virions.

Based on the original assignment of residues 681-705 as the MSD of HIV-1 Env, the most perplexing aspect is that this region contains an arginine residue at position 694 (Fig. 7A). Several mechanisms have been proposed to account for the compatibility of charged amino acid residues with the hydrophobic environment of membrane. One hypothesizes that a protonated arginine or lysine residue could remain in an energetically favorable state within membrane, but only in the very middle of the lipid bilayers (357). This argument, however, was based solely on chemical modeling and mathematical calculations and lacks empirical evidence. An alternative argument, given that charged amino acid residues are not energetically favorable in lipid bilayers, is that these residues have to be either restrained in certain structures (e.g. ion channels) or electronically neutralized by counter ions from interacting proteins (e.g. the MHC-II complex) to avoid contact with the hydrophobic environment of the membrane (68, 195).

Neither of the latter two mechanisms appears to be applicable to either HIV-1 or SIV Env, since there is no evidence for additional proteins associated with the MSD of the Env trimer in the virion and the results of the mutagenesis experiments described previously for SIV and here for HIV-1 would result in the asymmetric positioning of R694 in the membrane. A third suggestion is that the positively charged group of R694 could form a cation- π interaction with the benzyl circles of aromatic amino acid residues, thereby neutralizing its charge (83). However, at the amino terminal end of the region, the vertical distance (18 Å) between F683 and R694 on the surface of alpha-helix is more than the length to which the side chains of the two residues could reach (phenylalanine 5.17 Å, arginine 7.0 Å). Moreover, at the carboxy end of the region, the residue F697 is unlikely to contribute to the intramembrane stability of R694 because a deletion of three amino acid including F697 had no effect on the fusogenicity of HIV-1 Env (241). Therefore, the cation- π interaction is probably not applicable to the HIV-1 MSD. The snorkeling model we have proposed previously (336) would account for both the high level of conservation observed for the N-terminal "core" region of the MSD and would provide a mechanism through which this relatively short (12 and 15 amino acids in HIV-1 and SIV respectively) region could be stably accommodated within the membrane (Fig 7B).

Nevertheless, it is clear that simply anchoring the HIV-1 Env protein in the membrane is insufficient for a stable gp41-gp120 trimer to be incorporated into virions or to function effectively to mediate viral entry. At this time the role played by additional residues C-terminal to 698A is not clear, but it is possible that in the absence of this region, the short MSD is unable to provide stability to the trimer structure needed to maintain a biologically functional "unsprung" structure (192, 193).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Drs. Lara Pereira, Malinda Schaefer and Paul Spearman for critical reading of the manuscript. The pooled HIV-1 patient sera were kindly provided by Jeffery Lennox through the Clinical Core, and flow cytometry was performed in the Immunology Core of the Emory Center for AIDS Research (P30 AI050409). This work was supposed by grant R01 AI33319 (E.H.) from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases at the National Institutes of Health.

REFERENCE

- 1. Adams, G. A., and J. K. Rose. 1985. Structural requirements of a membranespanning domain for protein anchoring and cell surface transport. Cell **41**:1007-15.
- 2. Armstrong, R. T., A. S. Kushnir, and J. M. White. 2000. The transmembrane domain of influenza hemagglutinin exhibits a stringent length requirement to support the hemifusion to fusion transition. J Cell Biol **151**:425-37.
- 3. Berger, E. A., P. M. Murphy, and J. M. Farber. 1999. Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease. Annu Rev Immunol 17:657-700.
- Berlioz-Torrent, C., B. L. Shacklett, L. Erdtmann, L. Delamarre, I. Bouchaert, P. Sonigo, M. C. Dokhelar, and R. Benarous. 1999. Interactions of the cytoplasmic domains of human and simian retroviral transmembrane proteins with components of the clathrin adaptor complexes modulate intracellular and cell surface expression of envelope glycoproteins. J Virol 73:1350-61.
- 5. Byland, R., P. J. Vance, J. A. Hoxie, and M. Marsh. 2007. A conserved dileucine motif mediates clathrin and AP-2-dependent endocytosis of the HIV-1 envelope protein. Mol Biol Cell **18**:414-25.
- Chen, B., E. M. Vogan, H. Gong, J. J. Skehel, D. C. Wiley, and S. C. Harrison. 2005. Determining the structure of an unliganded and fully glycosylated SIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein. Structure 13:197-211.
- Chen, B., E. M. Vogan, H. Gong, J. J. Skehel, D. C. Wiley, and S. C. Harrison. 2005. Structure of an unliganded simian immunodeficiency virus gp120 core. Nature 433:834-41.
- 8. **Cosson, P., and J. S. Bonifacino.** 1992. Role of transmembrane domain interactions in the assembly of class II MHC molecules. Science **258**:659-62.
- 9. Day, J. R., C. Munk, and J. C. Guatelli. 2004. The membrane-proximal tyrosinebased sorting signal of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 is required for optimal viral infectivity. J Virol **78**:1069-79.
- 10. **Dougherty, D. A.** 1996. Cation-pi interactions in chemistry and biology: a new view of benzene, Phe, Tyr, and Trp. Science **271:**163-8.
- 11. **Dubay, J. W., S. J. Roberts, B. H. Hahn, and E. Hunter.** 1992. Truncation of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein cytoplasmic domain blocks virus infectivity. J Virol **66**:6616-25.
- 12. Eckert, D. M., and P. S. Kim. 2001. Mechanisms of viral membrane fusion and its inhibition. Annu Rev Biochem **70**:777-810.
- 13. **Fujiyoshi, Y.** 1998. The structural study of membrane proteins by electron crystallography. Adv Biophys **35:**25-80.

- 14. Gabuzda, D., U. Olshevsky, P. Bertani, W. A. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1991. Identification of membrane anchorage domains of the HIV-1 gp160 envelope glycoprotein precursor. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr **4**:34-40.
- 15. Hammonds, J., X. Chen, L. Ding, T. Fouts, A. De Vico, J. zur Megede, S. Barnett, and P. Spearman. 2003. Gp120 stability on HIV-1 virions and Gag-Env pseudovirions is enhanced by an uncleaved Gag core. Virology **314**:636-49.
- 16. Helseth, E., U. Olshevsky, D. Gabuzda, B. Ardman, W. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1990. Changes in the transmembrane region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 envelope glycoprotein affect membrane fusion. J Virol 64:6314-8.
- 17. **Johnston, P. B., J. W. Dubay, and E. Hunter.** 1993. Truncations of the simian immunodeficiency virus transmembrane protein confer expanded virus host range by removing a block to virus entry into cells. J Virol **67:**3077-86.
- Kowalski, M., J. Potz, L. Basiripour, T. Dorfman, W. C. Goh, E. Terwilliger, A. Dayton, C. Rosen, W. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1987. Functional regions of the envelope glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Science 237:1351-5.
- 19. Lin, X., C. A. Derdeyn, R. Blumenthal, J. West, and E. Hunter. 2003. Progressive truncations C terminal to the membrane-spanning domain of simian immunodeficiency virus Env reduce fusogenicity and increase concentration dependence of Env for fusion. J Virol **77**:7067-77.
- 20. Lopez-Verges, S., G. Camus, G. Blot, R. Beauvoir, R. Benarous, and C. Berlioz-Torrent. 2006. Tail-interacting protein TIP47 is a connector between Gag and Env and is required for Env incorporation into HIV-1 virions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:14947-52.
- 21. Lu, M., S. C. Blacklow, and P. S. Kim. 1995. A trimeric structural domain of the HIV-1 transmembrane glycoprotein. Nat Struct Biol **2**:1075-82.
- 22. Lu, M., and P. S. Kim. 1997. A trimeric structural subdomain of the HIV-1 transmembrane glycoprotein. J Biomol Struct Dyn **15**:465-71.
- 23. Lummis, S. C. 2004. The transmembrane domain of the 5-HT3 receptor: its role in selectivity and gating. Biochem Soc Trans **32**:535-9.
- 24. **Markovic, I., and K. A. Clouse.** 2004. Recent advances in understanding the molecular mechanisms of HIV-1 entry and fusion: revisiting current targets and considering new options for therapeutic intervention. Curr HIV Res **2**:223-34.
- 25. Miyauchi, K., J. Komano, Y. Yokomaku, W. Sugiura, N. Yamamoto, and Z. Matsuda. 2005. Role of the specific amino acid sequence of the membranespanning domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in membrane fusion. J Virol **79:**4720-9.

- 26. Moore, J. P., J. A. McKeating, R. A. Weiss, and Q. J. Sattentau. 1990. Dissociation of gp120 from HIV-1 virions induced by soluble CD4. Science 250:1139-42.
- 27. **Murakami, T., and E. O. Freed.** 2000. The long cytoplasmic tail of gp41 is required in a cell type-dependent manner for HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein incorporation into virions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **97**:343-8.
- Ohno, H., R. C. Aguilar, M. C. Fournier, S. Hennecke, P. Cosson, and J. S. Bonifacino. 1997. Interaction of endocytic signals from the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein complex with members of the adaptor medium chain family. Virology 238:305-15.
- 29. Owens, R. J., C. Burke, and J. K. Rose. 1994. Mutations in the membranespanning domain of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein that affect fusion activity. J Virol **68**:570-4.
- 30. Owens, R. J., J. W. Dubay, E. Hunter, and R. W. Compans. 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus envelope protein determines the site of virus release in polarized epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **88**:3987-91.
- 31. **Raja, N. U., M. J. Vincent, and M. abdul Jabbar.** 1994. Vpu-mediated proteolysis of gp160/CD4 chimeric envelope glycoproteins in the endoplasmic reticulum: requirement of both the anchor and cytoplasmic domains of CD4. Virology **204:**357-66.
- 32. **Ray, N., and R. W. Doms.** 2006. HIV-1 coreceptors and their inhibitors. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **303**:97-120.
- 33. Rowell, J. F., P. E. Stanhope, and R. F. Siliciano. 1995. Endocytosis of endogenously synthesized HIV-1 envelope protein. Mechanism and role in processing for association with class II MHC. J Immunol **155**:473-88.
- 34. Salzwedel, K., P. B. Johnston, S. J. Roberts, J. W. Dubay, and E. Hunter. 1993. Expression and characterization of glycophospholipid-anchored human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins. J Virol **67**:5279-88.
- 35. **Salzwedel, K., J. T. West, Jr., M. J. Mulligan, and E. Hunter.** 1998. Retention of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein in the endoplasmic reticulum does not redirect virus assembly from the plasma membrane. J Virol **72**:7523-31.
- Shang, L., L. Yue, and E. Hunter. 2008. Role of the membrane-spanning domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein in cellcell fusion and virus infection. J Virol 82:5417-28.
- 37. Vincent, N., C. Genin, and E. Malvoisin. 2002. Identification of a conserved domain of the HIV-1 transmembrane protein gp41 which interacts with cholesteryl groups. Biochim Biophys Acta **1567**:157-64.

- Wei, X., J. M. Decker, H. Liu, Z. Zhang, R. B. Arani, J. M. Kilby, M. S. Saag, X. Wu, G. M. Shaw, and J. C. Kappes. 2002. Emergence of resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in patients receiving fusion inhibitor (T-20) monotherapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 46:1896-905.
- 39. Weiss, C. D. 2003. HIV-1 gp41: mediator of fusion and target for inhibition. AIDS Rev 5:214-21.
- 40. Welman, M., G. Lemay, and E. A. Cohen. 2007. Role of envelope processing and gp41 membrane spanning domain in the formation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) fusion-competent envelope glycoprotein complex. Virus Res **124**:103-12.
- 41. West, J. T., P. B. Johnston, S. R. Dubay, and E. Hunter. 2001. Mutations within the putative membrane-spanning domain of the simian immunodeficiency virus transmembrane glycoprotein define the minimal requirements for fusion, incorporation, and infectivity. J Virol **75:**9601-12.
- 42. West, J. T., S. K. Weldon, S. Wyss, X. Lin, Q. Yu, M. Thali, and E. Hunter. 2002. Mutation of the dominant endocytosis motif in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 can complement matrix mutations without increasing Env incorporation. J Virol **76**:3338-49.
- 43. Wilk, T., T. Pfeiffer, A. Bukovsky, G. Moldenhauer, and V. Bosch. 1996. Glycoprotein incorporation and HIV-1 infectivity despite exchange of the gp160 membrane-spanning domain. Virology **218**:269-74.
- 44. Willey, R. L., and M. A. Martin. 1993. Association of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein with particles depends on interactions between the third variable and conserved regions of gp120. J Virol **67:**3639-43.
- 45. **Wyatt, R., and J. Sodroski.** 1998. The HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins: fusogens, antigens, and immunogens. Science **280**:1884-8.
- 46. **Yoo, J., and Q. Cui.** 2008. Does arginine remain protonated in the lipid membrane? Insights from microscopic pKa calculations. Biophys J **94:**L61-3.

ROLE OF THE MEMBRANE-SPANNING DOMAIN OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE I ENVELOPE GLYCOPROTEIN IN CELL-CELL FUSION AND VIRUS INFECTION

By

LIANG SHANG, LING YUE, AND ERIC HUNTER

Journal of Virology, June 2008, 82(11): 5417-5428

Copyright 2008 by American Society for Microbiology

Used by permission

Format adapted for dissertation

ABSTRACT

The membrane-spanning domain (MSD) of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type I (HIV-1) gp41 glycoprotein is critical for its biological activity. Previous C-terminal truncation studies have predicted an almost invariant core structure of 12 amino acid residues flanked by basic amino acids in the HIV-1 MSD that function to anchor the glycoprotein in the lipid bilayer. To further understand the role of specific amino acids within the MSD core, we initially replaced the core region with 12 leucine residues and then constructed recovery-of-function mutants in which specific amino acid residues (including a GGXXG motif) were reintroduced. We show here that conservation of the MSD core sequence is not required for normal expression, processing, intracellular transport, and incorporation into virions of the envelope glycoprotein (Env). However, the amino acid composition of the MSD core does influence the ability of Env to mediate cell-cell fusion and plays a critical role in the infectivity of HIV-1. Substitution of conserved amino acid residues with leucine blocked virus-to-cell fusion and subsequent viral entry into target cells. This restriction could not be released by C-terminal truncation of the gp41 glycoprotein. These studies imply that the highly conserved core residues of the HIV Env MSD, in addition to serving as a membrane anchor, play an important role in mediating membrane fusion during viral entry.

INTRODUCTION

The envelope glycoprotein (Env) of Human Immunodeficiency Viruses Type I (HIV-1) is a trimeric complex composed of three non-covalently linked dimers of gp120, the receptor-binding surface (SU) component, and gp41, the membrane-spanning, transmembrane (TM) component (87, 219, 347, 352). The gp120 and gp41 glycoproteins are synthesized as a precursor gp160 glycoprotein, which is encoded by the *env* gene. The gp160 precursor is co-translationally glycosylated and, following transport to the trans-Golgi network, is cleaved into the mature products by a member of the furin family of endoproteases (352). Mature Env proteins are transported to the plasma membrane, where they are rapidly endocytosed or incorporated into virions (40, 275, 343). Recent evidence suggests that endocytosis and intracellular trafficking of Env is required for its interaction with Gag precursors and for efficient assembly into virions (191).

The gp41 monomer has three subdomains, an ectodomain, a membrane-spanning domain (MSD) and a cytoplasmic domain (331). The ectodomain of gp41, which mediates membrane fusion, is composed of a fusion peptide, two heptad repeats and a tryptophan-rich membrane proximal external region (MPER). Following the binding of gp120 to the CD4 receptor and CCR5/CXCR4 coreceptor, conformational changes are induced in Env and result in the exposure of the gp41 fusion peptide (267). This peptide inserts into the target cell membrane, allowing gp41 to form a bridge between the viral and cellular membranes. Interaction of the heptad repeats to form a six-helix bundle then brings the target and viral membranes together, allowing membrane fusion to occur (200).

The membrane-spanning domain is one of the most conserved regions of the gp41 sequence. Currently, two models have been proposed to explain the intramembrane

topology of MSD from several genetic studies. In the initial model, 25 amino acid residues (from K681 to R705 in the NL4-3 sequence) were suggested to cross the viral membrane in the form of alpha-helical structure (100, 129, 165), the length of which is approximately equal to the theoretical depth of a membrane bilayer. A major caveat of this model is that it places a basic amino acid residue (R694) into the hydrophobic center of the lipid bilayer without any known mechanism to neutralize the basic amino group. Point mutation studies have yielded variable results but in general substitution of K681 is detrimental to fusion and infectivity while mutation of R694 or R705 has only a limited effect on these activities (129, 241). On the other hand, accumulating data argues for a different intramembrane structure of the HIV-1 MSD. Serial small deletions (3 amino acid residues) in the region between R694 and R705 showed normal cell-cell fusion, although larger deletions were detrimental (241), suggesting that, with respect to the biological functions of the Env glycoprotein, the length of this region is more important than its amino acid conservation. Moreover, previous C-terminal truncation studies of SIV Env (186, 336) and more recently of HIV-1 Env (Yue et al., in preparation) have demonstrated that the entire 25 amino acid region is not required for the biological function of Env. In the case of SIV only the 15 apolar amino acids flanked by K689 and R705 (equivalent to K681 and R694 in HIV) and 6 additional amino acids (for a total of 23 amino acids) were required for near WT fusion (186, 336), and in HIV we have shown that 18 amino acid residues (from K681 to A698) are enough to anchor the truncated Env glycoprotein in the membrane and allow it to mediate cell-cell fusion. From these data, we have proposed a topology where the flanking K681 and R694 residues "snorkel" in the membrane (336). In this model for HIV-1 Env, 12 amino acid residues (from L682 to L693) form a hydrophobic core buried within the membrane, while the backbones of K681 and R694 residues, which are flanking the hydrophobic core region, are also buried within the membrane. However, their long side chains are proposed to

extend outward to the surface and present the positively charged amino groups to the negatively charged head groups of the lipid bilayers – hence the term "snorkel". Arginines 705 and 707 are located at the interface of membrane and cytoplasm in this model.

The high degree of conservation of the HIV-1 Env MSD, particularly within the "core" region, argues for a functional role in the biological activity of the HIV-1 Env complexes. Substitution of the HIV-1 MSD by equivalent regions from other transmembrane proteins has yielded variable results. Replacement of the HIV-1 MSD with a glycophospholipid anchor abrogated both cell-cell fusion and virus-cell fusion though the chimeric protein could be normally expressed, processed and incorporated into virions (277). Moreover, the replacement of HIV-1 MSD with the MSD of other transmembrane proteins, such as glycophorin A (216), Vesicular Stomatitis Virus G protein (VSV-G) (216) and influenza hemagglutinin (HA) (334), resulted in an impaired ability of Env complexes to mediate membrane fusion. On the other hand, the replacement of HIV in MT4 cells, and an Env chimera containing the transmembrane region of CD4 (265) has also been shown to induce normal membrane fusion.

According to the consensus sequence of the HIV-1 MSD, the 12 amino acid residues in the core region are generally more conserved than those C-terminal to this region (from R694 to R705) (Fig. 1). Recent studies of the MSD core region have focused on the GXXXG motif in which the glycine residues are the most conserved among all MSD residues. Statistical studies and bacterial models suggested that the GXXXG motif probably constructs a framework for the association of transmembrane helixes (276, 287, 288). It has been demonstrated that the GXXXG motif in the E1 glycoprotein of hepatitis C virus is important for the heterodimerization of its E1 and E2 envelope glycoproteins (63). The membrane-spanning domain of VSV-G also contains a GXXXG motif. Alanine and leucine scanning experiments showed that single mutation of the two glycines reduced the fusion activity of VSV-G to half of WT, but simultaneous mutation of both residues almost completely blocked membrane fusion (64). Similar results were reported for the GXXXG motif in HIV-1 MSD core, in which the fusogenicity of Env started decreasing when more than one glycine residue was substituted for alanine or leucine (215, 216).

In order to further understand the biological functions of the more conserved HIV-1 MSD core structure, we initially substituted all of the residues for leucine within the core, and then sequentially reintroduced the GGXXG motif, and then F683 with V687. We show here that the specific amino acid residues in the helical core of HIV-1 MSD are critical for the fusogenicity of Env complexes and infectivity of HIV-1. The loss of infectivity correlated with impaired virus-cell fusion. However, these mutations in the MSD core did not influence the biogenesis, intracellular transport and incorporation of Env complexes. Truncation of the cytoplasmic domain of HIV-1 Env was not able to compensate for the fusion defects caused by MSD core mutations.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cells and antibodies. COS-1, 293T and JC53BL cells were maintained in complete Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and penicillin-streptomycin (all from Gibco-BRL, Rockville, MD). Cells were grown under conditions of 37°C and 5% CO₂ in humidified incubators. The anti-gp120 b12, anti-gp160 Chessie 13-39.1, and anti-p24 183-H12-5C monoclonal antibodies along with HIV-1 patient Ig were obtained from the AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health. The pooled HIV-1 patient sera were provided through the Emory CFAR Clinical Core. The sheep anti-HIV-1 gp120 polyclonal Ab and goat anti-human IgG (H+L) HRP were purchased from Cliniqa Corp (San Marcos, CA) and Pierce (Rockford, IL), respectively.

Glycoprotein and proviral expression constructs. Construction of the HIV-1 Env expression vector pSRHS, which encodes full-length *env*, *tat*, and *rev* genes from NL4-3, has been described previously (278). This simian virus (SV40 late promoter) based vector contains a Mason Pfizer Monkey Virus (MPMV) derived long terminal repeat providing a polyadenylation signal. A unique *Xba*l site (nucleotide 8213, NL4-3) was previously introduced into the pNL4-3 *env* gene in both pSRHS and the proviral vector pNL4-3. In this study, we employed a two-step overlapping PCR approach to generate DNA fragments containing mutated membrane-spanning domains. Briefly, forward and reverse oligonucleotides were designed to span the mutagenesis region between lysine681 and arginine694. The oligonucleotide sequences were: L12FOR, 5'-TTACTACTGTTATTACTGCTCTTGTTACTGTTAAGAATAGTTTTTGCTG-3'; L12REV, 5'-CAGTAACAAGAGCAGTAATAACAGTAGTAATAATTTTATATACCACAGCC-3';

L12GFOR,	5'-
TTACTACTGTTATTAGGAGGCTTGTTAGGTTTAAGAATAGTTTTTGCTG-3';	
L12GREV,	5'-
ACCTAACAAGCCTCCTAATAACAGTAGTAATAATTTTATATACCACAGCC-3';	
L12G2FOR,	5'-
TTCCTACTGTTAGTAGGAGGCTTGTTAGGTTTAAGAATAGTTTTTGCTG-3'; and	
L12G2REV,	5'-

91

ACCTAACAAGCCTCCTAGTAACAGTAGGAATAATTTTATATACCACAGCC-3'. We also designed a forward primer (Primer_{*xbal*}) overlapping the unique *Xbal* site and a reverse primer (Primer_{*Bann*+1}) overlapping a unique *Bam*HI site downstream of the MSD sequence. In the first step of PCR, Primer_{*xbal*} and reverse primers amplified sequence A of each MSD mutant, while Primer_{*Bann*+1} and forward primers amplified sequence B of each MSD mutant, using wild type NL4-3 *env* as templates in both reactions. The mixed A and B amplicons were then used as templates to amplify target sequences primed by Primer_{*xbal*} and Primer_{*Bann*+1}. The wild type NL4-3 *env* region was replaced with mutated sequences by insertion into the *Xbal* and *Bam*HI sites in both SV40-based expression vector pSRHS and proviral vector pNL4-3. We constructed at least three independent clones for the WT and each mutant. All mutations were confirmed by DNA sequencing using a primer approximately 100bp upstream from the MSD sequence. In this study, nucleotides and amino acid residues were labeled according to the NL4-3 sequence (GeneBank accession: AF324493) if not being specifically notified.

Glycoprotein expression and immunoprecipitation. The pSRHS Env expression vectors were transfected into COS-1 cells and CMV-based Env-expression vectors as well as proviral vectors were transfected into 293T cells, using Fugene6 (Roche, Indianapolis, IL) in 6-well plates. The pSRHS vectors do not express in 293T cells

because transcription from the SV40 late promoter is inhibited in these cells. At 36-48 h posttransfection, cells were starved for 15 min in methionine-free and cysteine-free DMEM and then labeled for 30 min in methionine-free and cysteine-free DMEM supplemented with ³⁵S-methionine and ³⁵S-cysteine (125µCi/well). The labeled cells were then chased in complete DMEM for 1h, 2h, 3h, and 5h. All medium was filtered through a 0.45µm membrane to remove cellular debris. For 293T cells transfected with proviral vectors, viral particles were pelleted through a 25% sucrose cushion by ultracentrifugation (100,000×g, 2.5 h). Cells and viral pellets were lysed by a 10 min incubation on ice in lysis buffer (1% Triton X-100, 50 mM NaCl and 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate [SDS] in 25 mM Tris-HCl [pH8.0]). Cellular debris was removed by microcentrifugation at 13,200 rpm for 1 min at 4°C. HIV-1 viral proteins were immunoprecipitated from cell lysates, supernatants, and viral pellets by incubating overnight at 4°C with pooled HIV-1 patient sera. Immune complexes were incubated overnight at 4°C with fixed Staphylococcus aureus cells (Staph A) and pelleted in a microcentrifuge. The pellets were then washed three times in lysis buffer, and labeled proteins resolved by 8% SDS-PAGE were visualized by autoradiography. The glycoprotein bands were quantified using a Cyclone phosphorimaging system (Packard, Meriden, CT) as previously described (336).

Cell-cell fusion assay. COS-1 cells were transfected with pSRHS expression vectors and 293T cells were transfected with proviral vectors pNL4-3 by using Fugene6. At 36-48h after transfection, cells resuspended by trypsinization were combined with JC53BL indicator cells at a 5:1 ratio. Cell mixtures were incubated for 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h, and then were lysed in luciferase reporter lysis buffer (Promega, Madison WI) using two freeze-thaw cycles. Cellular debris was removed by centrifugation at 13,200 rpm for 5

min at 4°C in a microcentrifuge (Beckman, Palo Alto, CA). Luciferase substrate 100µl (Promega, Madison, WI) was added to 10µl of each cell lysate and light emission was quantified using a Synergy multi-detector microplate reader (Biotek, Vinooski VT).

Cell surface expression of Env glycoprotein. COS-1 cells and 293T cells were transfected with expression vectors and proviral vectors, respectively, cultured for 36-48 h, and then after removal from the plate fixed for 20 min at 4°C in 4% paraformaldehyde (in PBS [pH7.2]). Fixed cells were stained for 1 h at room temperature with 5µg/ml of an Alexa647-conjugated anti-gp120 mAb b12. Then cell membranes were permeabilized using the Cytofix/Cytoperm Fixation/Permeabilization Kit (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA). Permeabilized COS-1 and 293T cells were further stained with Alexa488-conjugated anti-gp160 Chessie13-39.1 or Alexa488-conjugated anti-p24 183-H12-5C monoclonal antibodies, respectively, in order to normalize transfection efficiency. For some experiments a relative mean fluorescence index (RMFI) was calculated from the product of (% transfected cells) X (mean fluorescence intensity). Both Alexa647 and Alexa488 conjugation kits were obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). Double stained cells were subjected to flow cytometry analysis using the FACS Calibur system.

Infectivity of HIV-1 viruses in JC53BL indicator cells. Medium from 293T cells transfected with proviral vectors was harvested 72 h posttransfection, filtered through a 0.45µm membrane to remove cellular debris, and total virions quantified using a p24 ELISA assay. The p24-normalized virus-containing supernatant was added to JC53BL indicator cells cultured in DMEM containing 1% fetal bovine serum and 80µg/ml DEAE-Dextran. Complete DMEM was added following a 2 h incubation and cells were analyzed for luciferase activity 48 h post infection.

Single-round infection. 293T cells were cotransfected with pSRHS expression vectors and the pSG3 Δ *env* proviral vector. Medium was collected 72 h posttransfection and then was subjected to p24 ELISA assays. The p24-normalized virus-containing supernatants were used to infected JC53BL indicator cells. Luciferase activity was measured 48 h after infection.

Incorporation of Env into viral particles. Two methods were used to measure the incorporation efficiency of Env glycoprotein into viral particles. (a) Medium collected from 293T cells 72 h after transfection with proviral vectors was filtered and viral particles were pelleted through a 25% sucrose cushion ultracentrifugation (100,000×g, 2.5 h). The supernatant including the sucrose solution was collected and viral pellets were resuspended in PBS (pH7.2). The amount of p24 and gp120 in both supernatants and viral pellets was measured using a p24 ELISA assay and a gp120 ELISA assay (119). Incorporation efficiencies in the viral pellets were compared using the ratio of gp120 to that of p24 for each mutant. The gp120/p24 ratio in the supernatant reflected the relative amount of shed gp120. (b) Transfected 293T cells were starved for 15 min in methionine-free and cysteine-free DMEM and then labeled for 30 min in methioninefree and cysteine-free DMEM supplemented with ³⁵S-methionine and ³⁵S-cysteine The labeled cells were then chased for 24 h. (125µCi/well). Viral particles in supernatant were pelleted by ultracentrifugation (100,000×g, 2.5 h) through a 25% sucrose cushion followed by lysis in lysis buffer. HIV-1 viral proteins were immunoprecipitated by incubating overnight at 4°C with pooled HIV-1 patient sera. Immune complexes were incubated overnight at 4°C with fixed Staphylococcus aureus cells (Staph A) and pelleted in a microcentrifuge (13,200rpm, 1 min). Labeled proteins resolved by 8% SDS-PAGE were visualized by autoradiography and quantified using a phosphorimager, as described above. Incorporation efficiencies were calculated as the ratio of the digital light units (DLU) of gp120 bands to those of p24 bands.

Virus-cell fusion. A virion-based virus-cell fusion assay was performed as described previously (46-48). Briefly, 293T cells were cotransfected with proviral vector pNL4-3, pCMV-BlaM-Vpr construct (kindly provided by W. Greene, UCSF), and pAdvantage construct (Promega, Madison, WI) using calcium phosphate precipitation. The pCMV-BlaM-Vpr vector contains a CMV promoter-driven β -lactamase coding region fused to the N-terminus of the HIV-1 Vpr gene. At 48 h posttransfection, medium filtered through a 0.45µm membrane was loaded onto a 25% sucrose cushion (in PBS [pH7.2]) and centrifuged at 100,000×g for 2.5 h at 4°C. Pelleted virus was resuspended in serum-free DMEM, titered using a p24 ELISA assay, and then 200 ng p24 equivalents were added to 3x10⁵ JC53BL cells cultured in CO₂-independent medium (Gibco-BRL, Rockville, MD) supplemented with 1% fetal bovine serum. After a 6 h incubation at 37°C, free viruses were washed away in serum-free CO₂-independent medium. The fluorescent dye, CCF2-AM, was then loaded into these cells during a 2 h incubation at room temperature according to the Beta-lactamase Loading Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The extracellular dye was then washed away in serum-free CO₂-independent medium and cells were resuspended in CO₂-independent medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 2.5 mM probenecid. The cells were then incubated for 16 h at room temperature in the dark, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min at 4 °C, and analyze by flow cytometry in a Beckman Dickson LSR2 cytometer.

RESULTS

In this study, we used a recovery-of-function mutagenesis strategy to define the role of specific amino acid residues within the 12 amino acid MSD core in HIV-1 virus assembly and entry. The amino acid sequences and nomenclature of the MSD core mutants are shown in Fig. 1. In the L12 mutant, the 12 amino acid residues between K681 and R694 were replaced by a polyleucine peptide of identical length. Leucine is the most hydrophobic amino acid and a polyleucine peptide would be expected to form a homogenous hydrophobic, helical structure in the lipid bilayer. Subsequently, in the L12G mutant we reintroduced the conserved GGXXG motif into the polyleucine backbone. Finally, V687, which is immediately upstream of the GGXXG motif and has been postulated to contribute to the helix-helix interactions mediated by the GXXXG motif, as well as the highly conserved bulky amino acid, F683, were reintroduced into the MSD core of L12G mutant.

MSD core mutants exhibit normal Env biosynthesis and processing. WT and mutant *env* sequences encoding, in addition, full-length *tat* and *rev* genes were cloned into the vector, pSRHS, in which expression of Env is under the control of the late promoter from simian virus 40 (SV40) and a polyadenylation signal from Mason Pfizer Money Virus (MPMV) (84, 146). Mutant Env glycoproteins expressed in COS-1 cells were metabolically labeled in a 30 min pulse and chased in complete medium over the course of 5 h. Viral glycoproteins were subsequently immunoprecipitated with pooled HIV-1 patient sera and analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by autoradiography. Quantification of protein bands was carried out using a phosphorimager (Packard, Meriden, CT). As shown in Fig. 2A, we observed similar profiles for the cell-associated Env glycoproteins in COS-1 cells expressing either WT or mutant Envs after a 5 h chase. In a time course experiment (Fig. 2B), the MSD core mutants had similar
processing kinetics to WT Env, with the gp160 precursors decreasing and gp120 and gp41 subunits increasing at similar rates. These data suggested that the replacement of specific amino acid residues in MSD core did not alter the biosynthesis of the glycoprotein precursor or its transport to the Golgi network for completion of carbohydrate processing and cleavage to the SU and TM subunits.

MSD core mutants exhibit normal cell surface expression of Env glycoprotein. Since synthesis and processing of MSD-mutated HIV-1 Env glycoprotein appeared normal, we examined the surface expression of these mutant proteins to determine whether they were transported to, and retained normally in, the plasma membrane. Transfected COS-1 cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and stained with Alexa647conjugated anti-gp120 mAb b12 then cells were subjected to flow cytometry analysis. Transfection efficiency was monitored by intracellular staining following permeabilization using Alexa488-conjugated anti-gp160 mAb Chessie13-39.1. As shown in Fig. 3A, the MSD-mutated Env glycoproteins were presented on the cell surface at levels equivalent to that of the WT glycoprotein with mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) values varying from 54.8 for WT to 63.5 for L12G, indicating that the GGXXG motif and specific amino acid residues in the MSD core region are not required for stable surface expression of the Env glycoprotein.

MSD core mutants exhibit minor defects in cell-cell fusion when expressed at high

levels. Because all of the MSD core mutants and WT were expressed at similar levels on the surface of COS-1 cells following transfection with the pSRHS vectors, we determined whether these mutant Env glycoproteins had an equivalent capacity to mediate cell-cell fusion. Transiently transfected COS-1 cells were co-cultured with JC53BL indicator cells, which are susceptible to infection by both R5 and X4 HIV-1

isolates and contain a luciferase reporter gene under the control of the HIV-1 LTR promoter and which can be activated by the Tat protein (328). Cell-cell fusion was measured by calculating the relative luciferase enzyme activity in cells expressing the mutant Envs compared to those expressing WT Env at 6 h, 12 h and 24 h after coculture. Each of the mutants exhibited reduced fusion relative to WT at 6 h, with L12 inducing 70% the fusion observed with WT. This effect was reduced at 12 h and lost at 24 h (Fig. 3B). Similar results were observed when the same env sequences were cloned into the pCDNA3.1 vector (CMV promoter) and transfected 293T cells were usedas the effector cells (Fig 3C). In this case fusion induced by the L12 mutant was only 44% that of WT at 6 h (L12G - 83%, L12G2 - 86%), but increased to 56% at 12 h and was equivalent to WT at 24 h after mixing. The small differences in fusion defects observed in the two expression vectors could reflect differences in surface expression levels since in general the MFIs observed with the pSRHS vectors were double that of the pCDNA3.1 vector. Moreover, transfection with 300ng (10-fold reduction) of the pCDNA3.1 vector yielded surface expression levels approximately 5-fold less than that observed with the pSRHS vector and under these conditions we observed a 50% decrease in fusion by the L12 mutant relative to WT at 24h post-co-culture (data not shown).

MSD core mutant viruses show defects in infectivity: In order to analyze whether the MSD core mutations impacted virus infectivity, each mutated *env* gene was substituted into the proviral vector pNL4-3, and virions were produced by transfection of 293T cells. Following normalization based on p24 content, these virions were used to infect JC53BL indicator cells. The substitution of a poly-leucine peptide for the MSD core in the L12 mutant reduced infectivity on JC53 cells more than 100-fold (Fig. 4A). The single reintroduction of the GGXXG motif in L12G mutant increased infectivity to 8.4% that of WT, and the further addition of conserved amino acid residues, F683 and V687, into the L12G2 mutants resulted in another 2-fold increase in infectivity to 17.6% that of WT. An *env*-deletion mutant of HIV-1 ($pSG3\Delta env$) exhibited only background infectivity (0.75% that of WT) in this assay. These data suggest that the specific amino acid residues and conserved motifs in the MSD core region are critical for Env-mediated infectivity in the context of the virion.

MSD core mutant Envs expressed in the context of virus are processed normally but show defects in cell-cell fusion: In order to understand the mechanism of the defect in infectivity caused by the MSD core mutations, we examined the biosynthesis, surface expression and induction of cell-cell fusion by these mutants in the context of virus. In pulse-chase experiments similar to those shown for the pSRHS expression vector (Figure 2), we observed that in the context of the pNL4-3 genome the MSD core mutant Env precursor gp160 was expressed and proteolytically processed to gp120 and gp41 with similar kinetics to the wild type gp160 (data not shown). Flow cytometric analyses of cells stained with Alexa647-conjugated anti-gp120 mAb b12 showed that, while the WT and MSD mutants had equivalent levels of surface Env (Fig. 5A and 5B), the mean fluorescent index for the viral-based vector was 4-fold lower than for the pSRHS vector.

In order to determine the ability of virus producing cells to mediate cell-cell fusion, 293T cells transfected with proviral DNA were cocultured with JC53BL indicator cells for 6 h, 12 h and 24 h in the presence of 10 μ M AZT to prevent virus replication and then assayed for luciferase activity. In the context of virus, we found significant differences (p<0.01) in the abilities of the MSD mutants to mediate cell-cell fusion (Fig. 5C). Mutant NL4-3 L12 induced only 35% of the cell-cell fusion observed with WT NL4-3. When the

GGXXG motif was reintroduced into the mutated MSD core, fusion increased to 56% WT, while the further addition of V687 and F683 increased fusion to 72% that of WT. The difference in cell fusion observed in the context of Env expression vectors and the NL4-3 provirus are most likely explained by differences in the amount of Env expressed at the cell surface. Therefore, under conditions where cell surface expression levels were reduced to that characteristic of virus infected cells, the mutants did exhibit a reduced ability to mediate cell-cell fusion, although the extent of this defect was less than that observed in infectivity assays.

MSD core mutant Envs are incorporated efficiently into viral particles: In order to determine whether a defect in Env incorporation might also contribute to the MSD core mutant impaired infectivity, we utilized two different approaches to measure the incorporation efficiency of mutated Envs into viral particles. In the first, virions released from provirus-transfected 293T cells that were pulse-labeled and chased for 24h were pelleted through a sucrose cushion and analyzed by SDS-PAGE (Figure 6A). The ratio of gp120 to p24 for WT and mutant proviruses was calculated using a phosphoimager, and, as can be observed in Figure 6B, similar levels of glycoprotein incorporation were observed for each construct. To confirm this result, the amount of gp120 and p24 in viral pellets and supernatants was analyzed using gp120 and p24 ELISAs after centrifugation of unlabeled transfected 293T cell culture fluids. We observed that the WT and mutant virions had similar gp120/p24 ratios (Figure 6D), confirming that the MSD core mutations did not alter the incorporation of Env complexes into viruses. Moreover, the gp120 glycoprotein of the MSD mutants appeared to be as stable as the WT, because equivalent amount of gp120 were found in medium after centrifugation (Figure 6C and 6E).

Pseudotyped virions containing MSD core mutant Envs are defective for entry and virus-cell fusion: In order to determine if the MSD core mutants were defective at the stage of entry, and specifically at the stage of virus-cell fusion, we utilized a single-round infection pseudotyped virus assay. In order to compare infectivity of these viruses with the NL4-3 constructs, pSG3∆*env* was pseudotyped with WT and mutant Envs expressed from the pSRHS vector, and then the pseudotyped virions were used to infect JC53BL indicator cells. A similar pattern of defective infectivity to that observed in the NL4-3 infectivity assay (Fig. 4A) was seen in this assay although the extent of the defect was reduced (Fig. 4B). The L12 mutant induced only 17% of the luciferase activity observed for WT Env pseudotyped virus, but reintroduction of conserved amino acid residues increased it to 39% in mutant L12G and 54% in mutant L12G2.

Because the expression of luciferase in JC53BL cells depends on the expression of the *tat* gene, a late event after viral entry, it was possible that the defect of the MSD core mutants in single-round infection could be at a post-entry step. Therefore, we utilized WT and mutant NL4-3 viruses that contained a β-lactamase-Vpr fusion protein (BlaM-Vpr) to pinpoint the stage at which virus infection was blocked. JC53BL target cells infected with the BlaM-Vpr viruses and then loaded with the fluorescent dye CCF2-AM (green), which can be cleaved by β-lactamase into CCF2 (Blue) and AM immediately after viral entry. This method is a sensitive indicator of the membrane fusion between the viral envelope and cell plasma membrane. As shown in Fig. 7A and 7B, the L12 mutation decreased virus-cell fusion by approximately 92% compared to WT, but reintroduction of GGXXG motif increased fusion almost three-fold to 21% that of WT. Further addition of F683 and V687 increased virus-cell fusion to 41% that of WT. Virus attachment assays carried out at 4°C, 10°C and 25°C showed that WT and mutant viruses bound to the target cells with equivalent efficiency (data not shown). These data confirm that the MSD core mutants are blocked at the stage of virus-cell fusion during

the entry process and that conserved amino acid residues play a key role in this process.

C-terminal truncated MSD core mutants. SIV Env and HIV Env have a remarkably long cytoplasmic domain. It has been recently reported that the second site reversion mutants of SIV and HIV-1 that were resistant to amphotericin B methyl ester (AME), a cholesterol-binding compound, had a truncated Env cytoplasmic domain (321). It was suggested that the truncated protein had a higher potential for movement in the lipid bilayer, which resulted in the escape from inhibition by AME. Since it was possible that the loss of conserved amino acid residues in the MSD "core" region altered the mobility of the Env glycoprotein in the membrane at the time of fusion pore formation, we determined whether truncation of the cytoplasmic domain of HIV-1 Env could relieve the defect observed in the absence of the glycine motif. Each mutant and WT was therefore reconstructed into the pNL4-3 Δ 144 proviral vector, in which a stop codon was engineered into the gp41 cytoplasmic domain of the WT and MSD core mutants at Y710 (Y712 in HXB2). Incorporation of truncated Env complexes was reduced for both the MSD WT and "core" mutants (Fig. 6D). In addition, the amount of gp120 shed into the supernatant was also decreased (Figure 6E). Moreover, we did not observe any reversal of the infectivity defect in either NL4-3-based provirus assays (Figure 4C) or in pseudotyped virus single cycle assays (Figure 4D). While a pNL4-3 provirus encoding a truncated Env was approximately twice as infectious as wild-type pNL4-3, this was not the case for virus pseudotyped with the truncated Env. Indeed in general viruses encoding the truncated mutant Envs were less infectious than their non-truncated counterparts (compare Figs 4A and 4B with 4C and 4D), with viruses pseudotyped with the truncated WT Env exhibiting a 50% decrease relative to its non-truncated counterpart. Even taking into account this reduced WT infectivity, the L12 and L12G mutants showed equivalent defects in infectivity to that observed with their non-truncated versions. Similar results were also observed in virus-cell fusion assays based on viruses containing the BlaM-Vpr fusion protein (Fig. 7A and 7C). Thus truncation of the gp41 cytoplasmic domain is not able to complement the fusion and infectivity defects observed with the MSD core mutants.



FIG. 1. Amino acid sequences of HIV-1 MSD. The consensus sequence of HIV-1 MSD was generated by the alignment of the Env MSD sequences of all M and N group HIV-1 isolates from the Los Alamos HIV Sequences Database (updated to 06/07). The percentages of isolates with the conserved amino acid residue are shown above the consensus sequence as a bar chart. The amino acid residues of the putative MSD region are shown as upper case letters. The flanking sequences of HIV-1 MSD are shown as lower case letters. The position of the MSD in the sequence of HIV-1 NL4-3 is marked above the positively charged amino acid residues. The mutated portions of the HIV-1 MSD are underlined.

FIG. 2. Expression profiles of HIV-1 Env glycoprotein. (A) COS-1 cells transiently transfected with SV40-based Env expression vectors were metabolically labeled and chased over 5 h. Env glycoprotein was immunoprecipitated followed by 8% SDS-PAGE analysis and autoradiography (Lane 1, pSRHS WT; Lane 2, pSRHS L12; Lane 3, pSRHS L12G; Lane 4, pSRHS L12G2; Lane 5, empty vector; and Lane 6, mock). (B) The bands of gp160 precursors, gp120 and gp41 in cell lysates at each time point were quantified by phosphorimager calculation and the intensity of bands is shown as digital light units (DLU) (square: pSRHS WT; circle: pSRHS L12; upward triangle: pSRHS L12G; downward triangle: pSRHS L12G2; leftward triangle: empty vector; and rightward triangle: mock). The figure shows the results from four independent experiments; error bars represent standard deviation from the mean.





FIG. 3. Cell surface level of Env glycoprotein and cell-cell fusion examined using SV40based Env expression vectors. (A) COS-1 cells transfected with pSRHS expression vectors were fixed and were labeled with Alexa647-conjugated anti-gp120 mAb b12. Cells were then permeabilized and stained with Alexa488-conjugated anti-gp160 mAb Chessie 13-39.1 as a transfection efficiency control. (B) Cell-cell fusion assay. COS-1 cells transfected with the pSRHS Env expression vectors were cocultured with JC53BL indicator cells. Cell mixtures were lysed and luciferase activity was measured after 6 h, 12 h and 24 h incubation. (C) Cell-cell fusion assay. 293T cells transfected with pCDNA3.1 Env expression vectors were co-cultured with JC53BL indicator cells. Cell mixtures were lysed and luciferase activity was measured after 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h incubation. The figures show the results from three independent experiments; error bars represent standard deviation from the mean. (EV: Empty vector).



FIG. 4. Infectivity of HIV-1 Env mutants. HIV-1 viruses containing the Env MSD "core" mutations (A) and viruses containing truncated Env plus the MSD "core" mutations (C) were produced by transfecting proviral DNA into 293T cells. The p24-normalized cell culture supernatant was used to infect JC53BL indicator cells. Cells were lysed and luciferase enzyme activity was assayed after 48 h incubation. (B and D) Single-round infectivity assay. Env-defective proviral construct $pSG3\Delta env$ was cotransfected into 293T cells with wild type and mutant Env expression vectors (B) and by cytoplasmic domain truncated Envs (D). Pseudotyped viruses in the cell culture supernatant were quantitated using a p24 ELISA assay. The p24-normalized supernatant was then used to infect JC53BL indicator cells. Infectivity of MSD mutants is shown as relative luciferase activity compared to that of wild type. The figures show the results from three independent experiments; error bars represent standard deviation from the mean.



FIG. 5. Cell surface level of Env glycoprotein and cell-cell fusion examined in the context of provirus expression. (A) 293T cells transfected with pNL4-3 proviral vectors were fixed and were labeled with Alexa647-conjugated anti-gp120 mAb b12. Cells were then permeabilized and stained with Alexa648-conjugated anit-p24 mAb 183-H12-5C as a transfection efficiency control. (B) The surface levels of Env glycoprotein are shown as relative mean fluorescent index (RMFI) compared to that of wild type. (C) Cell-cell fusion in the context of viruses. 293T cells transfected with proviral DNA were mixed with JC53BL indicator cells and cocultured for 6 h, 12 h and 24 h before the measurement of luciferase activity. P values were calculated using the Student's t-test. The figure shows the results from three independent experiments; error bars represent standard deviation from the mean.

FIG. 6. Incorporation of Env into virions (A) 293T cells transfected with proviral DNA were pulse labeled with ³⁵S-methionine and ³⁵S -cysteine and chased over 24 h. Viral particles in medium were pelleted through a 25% sucrose cushion by ultracentrifugation. Viral proteins were immunoprecipitated with pooled AIDS patient sera and analyzed on 8% SDS-PAGE followed by autoradiography. (B) The viral gp120 and p24 bands in viral pellets and supernatants after ultracentrifugation were quantified by phosphorimaging analysis. The incorporation efficiency of Env into viral particles is shown as the ratio of the band intensity of gp120 bands in virions to those of p24 in virions. (C) The relative amount of gp120 shed into medium is shown as the ratio of the band intensity of gp120 bands in supernatant after ultracentrifugation to those of p24 in virions. (D) Unlabeled viral pellets and supernatants were subjected to gp120 ELISA assay and p24 ELISA assay. The incorporation efficiency is shown as the ratio of the concentration of gp120 to that of p24 in virions for both full-length (left) and truncated Envs (right). (E) The degree of shedding of gp120 is shown as the ratio of the amount of gp120 in supernatant after centrifugation to that of p24 in virions for both full-length (left) and truncated Envs (right). The standard deviations of three repeats for each experiment are shown as error bars.





FIG. 7. Virus-cell fusion assay. (A) Proviral constructs were cotransfected into 293T cells with pCMV-BlaM-Vpr vectors. Viruses containing the BlaM-Vpr fusion protein were pelleted by ultracentrifugation through 25% sucrose. Viral pellets normalized by p24 ELISA assays were used to infect JC53BL indicator cells. Then cells were loaded with fluorescent dye CCF2-AM. Blue cells were counted by flow cytometry analysis after 16 h incubation. The ability of the Env MSD mutants (B) and the truncation mutants (C) to mediate virus-cell fusion is shown as relative numbers of blue cells compared to those of wild type. The experiment was repeated at least three times; standard deviations were shown in the error bars.

DISCUSSION

The primary function of the HIV-1 MSD is as a membrane anchor of the Env glycoprotein in both viral and cellular membranes - deletion of this region results in secretion of soluble gp160 molecules (100, 318). However, studies have suggested that this domain is involved in other important biological functions during the viral life cycle: (i) sequence alignments of the MSD from more than nine hundred HIV isolates (in Los Alamos HIV Database) showed that the amino acid sequence of this domain is more highly conserved than might be expected to merely anchor the protein in the membrane, (ii) replacement of the HIV-1 MSD with the equivalent regions of glycophorin A, the VSV-G protein or the influenza hemagglutinin (HA) leads to significant defects in cell-cell fusion mediated by Env glycoprotein (216, 334), and (iii) synthetic peptides corresponding to the HIV-1 MSD region are able to mediate phospholipid-mixing and then fusion between two lipid vesicles (221).

In the absence of any crystallographic or NMR-derived structural information on the HIV-1 MSD the exact length of this region remains unresolved. Two topological models have been proposed to explain the intramembrane structure of the HIV-1 MSD, and they differ in the location of the three basic residues (K681, R694, and R705) with respect to the lipid bilayer (217, 336). In order to better understand the biological functions of this highly conserved MSD domain and the roles played by conserved motifs in this region, we defined an MSD "core" region (K681 to R694), which is more conserved than the rest of the HIV-1 MSD and is buried within the lipid bilayer in both models. Employing a recovery-of-function approach by first replacing the entire MSD "core" with leucine residues, we then determined the effect of reintroducing conserved residues and motifs into this leucine backbone. A highly conserved GGXXG motif is present in the HIV-1 MSD core region, and it has been postulated that this motif on an intra-membrane helix forms a framework for transmembrane helix-helix association. The absence of long side chains on the two glycine residues that are present on the same face of the helix is postulated to provide a flat platform to mediate helix-helix interactions (33). For HCV Env, substitution of the glycine residues in the GXXXG motif of the E1 protein by tryptophan residues impaired the heterodimerization of E1E2 protein and the following fusion steps (63). The results of the studies presented here, however, show that specific amino acid residues between K681 to R694 are not required for the normal expression, carbohydrate modification and proteolysis of Env glycoprotein precursor. There was no evidence that loss of the glycine-rich GGXXG motif or aromatic residues in the MSD interfered with the intracellular trafficking of Env from the endoplasmic reticulum to the trans-Golgi network, where the gp160 precursor is cleaved into gp120 and gp41 subunits. This argues that trimerization of Env monomers was unaffected by loss of these residues since the transport of Env glycoprotein from the ER to Golgi apparatus has been shown to require the oligomerization of gp160 monomers (240). This conclusion is consistent with the results observed when the membrane-spanning regions of other transmembrane proteins were used to substitute the MSD of the HIV-1 Env (216, 334, 343). In all these cases, the chimeric Env glycoproteins were synthesized and cleaved as efficiently as WT Env, arguing that the HIV-1 MSD domain does not play a critical role in intracellular trafficking of Env. We also observed wild-type surface levels of the mutated Env glycoproteins on cells transfected with either an SV40 promoter-based expression vector in the absence of other viral proteins or in the context of full-length proviral vectors, suggesting that specific amino acid residues within the HIV-1 MSD "core" are also dispensable for the intracellular transport of Env to the plasma membrane. Moreover, the fact that mutant Envs were incorporated into viral particles as efficiently as WT

112

113

argues that specific residues in the MSD are not required for this process either. The levels of shed gp120 were similar between the MSD mutants and WT, indicating that the MSD mutant Envs have the same stability as WT after reaching the plasma membrane.

In contrast, the amino acid composition of the MSD "core" clearly influences the fusogenicity of Env glycoprotein. Mutant L12 Env, in which the entire 12 amino acid residues of the MSD "core" were composed of leucine, was defective in mediating virus infectivity and cell-cell fusion. The inability of mutant viruses to infect target cells was correlated with defective fusion between the viral envelope and the cellular membrane, which could be rescued at least in part when conserved amino acid motifs (GGXXG, F683 and V687) were reintroduced into the MSD "core". These results argue that in addition to its membrane anchoring function the HIV-1 MSD also plays an active role in gp41 mediated fusion during viral entry. Although its structural role is still unclear, the GGXXG motif is critical to the membrane fusion mediated by the HIV-1 Env, since single reintroduction of this motif into the leucine "core" of L12 mutant significantly increased the efficiency of cell-cell fusion and virus-cell fusion. Further improvement of Env fusogenicity was achieved by reintroducing additional F683 and V687, indicating that these two amino acid residues also contribute to membrane fusion. It is worth mentioning that the fusogenicity and infectivity of mutant L12G2 are still less than those of WT, so the remaining mutated amino acid residues (1684, M685, 1686, and V692) appear to also facilitate the fusion process. These results argue that all of the 12 amino acid residues in the HIV-1 MSD "core" region are involved in the efficiency of Envmediated membrane fusion – again consistent with the high conservation of this region. In initial mutagenesis studies, single mutations within the GGXXG motif failed to show a significant role for this motif in membrane fusion (216), perhaps because the remaining unmodified residues were able to compensate for the single change. In this respect the "recovery-of-function" approach described here provides added power to the analysis.

According to the current model of HIV Env-mediated fusion, merging of the two membranes after the formation of the gp41 six-helix bundles consists of two major events, membrane disruption and fusion pore formation/expansion. It has been reported that the expression of peptides corresponding to the HIV-1 MSD plus four adjacent amino acid residues significantly increased membrane permeability in bacteria (22). Moreover, the replacement of the HIV-1 MSD with those of other transmembrane protein impaired the efficiency of fusion pore formation/expansion (216). Therefore, the highly conserved MSD "core" region may contribute to both processes in membrane fusion, particularly when one considers the fact that the specific amino acid residues in the rest of the HIV-1 MSD (from 1694 to N704) are not required to mediate efficient cell-cell fusion (241).

Interestingly, the defect in cell-cell fusion appeared to be modulated by the level of Env expressed on the cell surface. Although each of the mutants Envs (L12, L12G and L12G2) exhibited reduced levels of fusion 6 h after co-culture when expressed from the SV40-based or CMV-based vectors, greater differences were observed when Env was expressed in the context of the proviral genome. While we cannot rule out a modifying effect of Env:Gag interactions (242), this difference most likely reflects the higher surface expression levels of the Env glycoprotein by the SV40- and CMV-promoter based expression vectors. Proviral expression resulted in cell surface levels of Env approximately 4-fold lower than that observed with the pSRHS Env expression vector and analogous reductions in cell fusion were observed with the pCDNA3.1 vector when reduced input DNA resulted in equivalently low surface expression levels. A similar dependency on surface expression levels has been reported for C-terminally truncated Env mutants, where cell-cell fusion ability also increased with Env expression levels (186), and it may reflect the increased chance of fusion when higher numbers of molecules are present at the cell surface.

Because it was possible that modifications of the MSD "core" sequence could alter its interaction with and mobility in the lipid bilayer, we hypothesized that this might be the basis for decreased fusion. Previous work by Freed and colleagues (322), had shown that a defect in virus replication imposed by the cholesterol-binding compound AME could be relieved by truncating the cytoplasmic domains of Env; presumably because this increased its mobility in the membrane. In contrast, we observed that C-terminal truncations were not able to rescue the defects imposed by the loss of conserved residues in the MSD "core". C-terminal truncation of gp41 has also been shown to induce conformational changes in the ectodomains of gp120 and gp41 (90, 320, 354), and in the case of the truncated WT Env we did observe an approximately two-fold enhancement of infectivity in the pNL4-3 construct. Viruses encoding mutant Envs on the other hand exhibited, for the most part, lower infectivity and lower virus-cell fusion than their full-length counterparts, suggesting that a combination of the two mutations was detrimental to biological activity rather than compensatory. Indeed, such mutants appear to be incorporated less efficiently into virions.

In summary, the experimental approaches described here have demonstrated that despite its high sequence conservation, the native MSD "core" amino acid sequence of HIV Env is not required for normal biosynthesis and intracellular transport. It does play a critical role in mediating efficient membrane fusion during viral infection, and at this stage the almost invariant GGXXG motif appears to most important. Since the GXXXG motif

has been postulated to provide a potential flat interface through which intra-membrane helix-helix associations can occur (32, 33) it is tempting to speculate that it may facilitate MSD-MSD interactions during formation of the higher order fusion pore rather than function during trimer assembly in the ER. Nevertheless, each amino acid residue within this "core" region appears to contribute to optimal fusogenicity of the HIV-1 Env. Further clarification of the mechanisms by which this region facilitates membrane fusion may provide insights into the intramembrane topology of the HIV-1 MSD and protein-lipid interactions of the region during the process of membrane fusion.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Cynthia Derdeyn for critical reading of the manuscript and Richard Haaland for his technical assistance. We are grateful to Jason Hammonds for assistance in establishing the p24 and gp120 ELISA assays. Our sincerest thanks are given to Dr. Warner Greene for providing the pCMV-BlaM-Vpr construct. We also thank Jin Song for preparing the anti-p24 mAb. The pooled HIV-1 patient sera were kindly provided by Jeffery Lennox through the Clinical Core, and flow cytometry was performed in the Immunology Core of the Emory Center for AIDS Research (P30 AI050409). This work was supposed by grant R01 AI33319 (E.H.) from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases at the National Institutes of Health.

REFERENCES

- 1. Byland, R., P. J. Vance, J. A. Hoxie, and M. Marsh. 2007. A conserved dileucine motif mediates clathrin and AP-2-dependent endocytosis of the HIV-1 envelope protein. Mol Biol Cell **18:**414-25.
- 2. **Cavrois, M., C. De Noronha, and W. C. Greene.** 2002. A sensitive and specific enzyme-based assay detecting HIV-1 virion fusion in primary T lymphocytes. Nat Biotechnol **20**:1151-4.
- 3. Cavrois, M., J. Neidleman, M. Bigos, and W. C. Greene. 2004. Fluorescence resonance energy transfer-based HIV-1 virion fusion assay. Methods Mol Biol 263:333-44.
- 4. **Cavrois, M., J. Neidleman, W. Yonemoto, D. Fenard, and W. C. Greene.** 2004. HIV-1 virion fusion assay: uncoating not required and no effect of Nef on fusion. Virology **328**:36-44.
- 5. **Ciczora, Y., N. Callens, F. Penin, E. I. Pecheur, and J. Dubuisson.** 2007. Transmembrane domains of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoproteins: residues involved in E1E2 heterodimerization and involvement of these domains in virus entry. J Virol **81:**2372-81.
- 6. **Cleverley, D. Z., and J. Lenard.** 1998. The transmembrane domain in viral fusion: essential role for a conserved glycine residue in vesicular stomatitis virus G protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**:3425-30.
- 7. **Dubay, J. W., S. J. Roberts, B. H. Hahn, and E. Hunter.** 1992. Truncation of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein cytoplasmic domain blocks virus infectivity. J Virol **66**:6616-25.
- 8. Eckert, D. M., and P. S. Kim. 2001. Mechanisms of viral membrane fusion and its inhibition. Annu Rev Biochem **70**:777-810.
- 9. Edwards, T. G., S. Wyss, J. D. Reeves, S. Zolla-Pazner, J. A. Hoxie, R. W. Doms, and F. Baribaud. 2002. Truncation of the cytoplasmic domain induces exposure of conserved regions in the ectodomain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein. J Virol **76**:2683-91.
- 10. **Gabuzda, D., U. Olshevsky, P. Bertani, W. A. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski.** 1991. Identification of membrane anchorage domains of the HIV-1 gp160 envelope glycoprotein precursor. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr **4**:34-40.
- 11. Hammonds, J., X. Chen, L. Ding, T. Fouts, A. De Vico, J. zur Megede, S. Barnett, and P. Spearman. 2003. Gp120 stability on HIV-1 virions and Gag-Env pseudovirions is enhanced by an uncleaved Gag core. Virology **314**:636-49.
- 12. Helseth, E., U. Olshevsky, D. Gabuzda, B. Ardman, W. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1990. Changes in the transmembrane region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 envelope glycoprotein affect membrane fusion. J Virol 64:6314-8.

- 13. **Johnston, P. B., J. W. Dubay, and E. Hunter.** 1993. Truncations of the simian immunodeficiency virus transmembrane protein confer expanded virus host range by removing a block to virus entry into cells. J Virol **67:**3077-86.
- Kowalski, M., J. Potz, L. Basiripour, T. Dorfman, W. C. Goh, E. Terwilliger, A. Dayton, C. Rosen, W. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1987. Functional regions of the envelope glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Science 237:1351-5.
- 15. Lin, X., C. A. Derdeyn, R. Blumenthal, J. West, and E. Hunter. 2003. Progressive truncations C terminal to the membrane-spanning domain of simian immunodeficiency virus Env reduce fusogenicity and increase concentration dependence of Env for fusion. J Virol **77**:7067-77.
- 16. Lopez-Verges, S., G. Camus, G. Blot, R. Beauvoir, R. Benarous, and C. Berlioz-Torrent. 2006. Tail-interacting protein TIP47 is a connector between Gag and Env and is required for Env incorporation into HIV-1 virions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:14947-52.
- 17. **Markovic, I., and K. A. Clouse.** 2004. Recent advances in understanding the molecular mechanisms of HIV-1 entry and fusion: revisiting current targets and considering new options for therapeutic intervention. Curr HIV Res **2**:223-34.
- Miyauchi, K., R. Curran, E. Matthews, J. Komano, T. Hoshino, D. M. Engelman, and Z. Matsuda. 2006. Mutations of conserved glycine residues within the membrane-spanning domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 can inhibit membrane fusion and incorporation of Env onto virions. Jpn J Infect Dis 59:77-84.
- 19. Miyauchi, K., J. Komano, Y. Yokomaku, W. Sugiura, N. Yamamoto, and Z. Matsuda. 2005. Role of the specific amino acid sequence of the membranespanning domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in membrane fusion. J Virol **79:**4720-9.
- 20. Modrow, S., B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, R. C. Gallo, F. Wong-Staal, and H. Wolf. 1987. Computer-assisted analysis of envelope protein sequences of seven human immunodeficiency virus isolates: prediction of antigenic epitopes in conserved and variable regions. J Virol 61:570-8.
- 21. Moore, J. P., J. A. McKeating, R. A. Weiss, and Q. J. Sattentau. 1990. Dissociation of gp120 from HIV-1 virions induced by soluble CD4. Science 250:1139-42.
- 22. **Moreno, M. R., M. Giudici, and J. Villalain.** 2006. The membranotropic regions of the endo and ecto domains of HIV gp41 envelope glycoprotein. Biochim Biophys Acta **1758**:111-23.
- 23. **Otteken, A., P. L. Earl, and B. Moss.** 1996. Folding, assembly, and intracellular trafficking of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein analyzed with monoclonal antibodies recognizing maturational intermediates. J Virol **70**:3407-15.

- 24. **Owens, R. J., C. Burke, and J. K. Rose.** 1994. Mutations in the membranespanning domain of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein that affect fusion activity. J Virol **68**:570-4.
- 25. Owens, R. J., J. W. Dubay, E. Hunter, and R. W. Compans. 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus envelope protein determines the site of virus release in polarized epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **88**:3987-91.
- 26. **Raja, N. U., M. J. Vincent, and M. abdul Jabbar.** 1994. Vpu-mediated proteolysis of gp160/CD4 chimeric envelope glycoproteins in the endoplasmic reticulum: requirement of both the anchor and cytoplasmic domains of CD4. Virology **204:**357-66.
- 27. Ray, N., and R. W. Doms. 2006. HIV-1 coreceptors and their inhibitors. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **303**:97-120.
- 28. **Rowell, J. F., P. E. Stanhope, and R. F. Siliciano.** 1995. Endocytosis of endogenously synthesized HIV-1 envelope protein. Mechanism and role in processing for association with class II MHC. J Immunol **155**:473-88.
- 29. **Russ, W. P., and D. M. Engelman.** 2000. The GXXXG motif: a framework for transmembrane helix-helix association. J Mol Biol **296:**911-9.
- 30. Salzwedel, K., P. B. Johnston, S. J. Roberts, J. W. Dubay, and E. Hunter. 1993. Expression and characterization of glycophospholipid-anchored human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins. J Virol **67**:5279-88.
- 31. **Salzwedel, K., J. T. West, and E. Hunter.** 1999. A conserved tryptophan-rich motif in the membrane-proximal region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 ectodomain is important for Env-mediated fusion and virus infectivity. J Virol **73:**2469-80.
- 32. Senes, A., D. E. Engel, and W. F. DeGrado. 2004. Folding of helical membrane proteins: the role of polar, GXXXG-like and proline motifs. Curr Opin Struct Biol 14:465-79.
- 33. Senes, A., M. Gerstein, and D. M. Engelman. 2000. Statistical analysis of amino acid patterns in transmembrane helices: the GXXXG motif occurs frequently and in association with beta-branched residues at neighboring positions. J Mol Biol **296**:921-36.
- 34. Vincent, N., C. Genin, and E. Malvoisin. 2002. Identification of a conserved domain of the HIV-1 transmembrane protein gp41 which interacts with cholesteryl groups. Biochim Biophys Acta **1567**:157-64.
- 35. Vzorov, A. N., K. M. Gernert, and R. W. Compans. 2005. Multiple domains of the SIV Env protein determine virus replication efficiency and neutralization sensitivity. Virology **332**:89-101.

- Waheed, A. A., S. D. Ablan, M. K. Mankowski, J. E. Cummins, R. G. Ptak, C. P. Schaffner, and E. O. Freed. 2006. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by amphotericin B methyl ester: selection for resistant variants. J Biol Chem 281:28699-711.
- 37. Waheed, A. A., S. D. Ablan, J. D. Roser, R. C. Sowder, C. P. Schaffner, E. Chertova, and E. O. Freed. 2007. HIV-1 escape from the entry-inhibiting effects of a cholesterol-binding compound via cleavage of gp41 by the viral protease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **104**:8467-71.
- Wei, X., J. M. Decker, H. Liu, Z. Zhang, R. B. Arani, J. M. Kilby, M. S. Saag, X. Wu, G. M. Shaw, and J. C. Kappes. 2002. Emergence of resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in patients receiving fusion inhibitor (T-20) monotherapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 46:1896-905.
- 39. Weiss, C. D. 2003. HIV-1 gp41: mediator of fusion and target for inhibition. AIDS Rev 5:214-21.
- 40. Welman, M., G. Lemay, and E. A. Cohen. 2007. Role of envelope processing and gp41 membrane spanning domain in the formation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) fusion-competent envelope glycoprotein complex. Virus Res **124**:103-12.
- 41. West, J. T., P. B. Johnston, S. R. Dubay, and E. Hunter. 2001. Mutations within the putative membrane-spanning domain of the simian immunodeficiency virus transmembrane glycoprotein define the minimal requirements for fusion, incorporation, and infectivity. J Virol **75**:9601-12.
- 42. Wilk, T., T. Pfeiffer, A. Bukovsky, G. Moldenhauer, and V. Bosch. 1996. Glycoprotein incorporation and HIV-1 infectivity despite exchange of the gp160 membrane-spanning domain. Virology **218**:269-74.
- 43. Willey, R. L., and M. A. Martin. 1993. Association of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein with particles depends on interactions between the third variable and conserved regions of gp120. J Virol **67:**3639-43.
- 44. **Wyatt, R., and J. Sodroski.** 1998. The HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins: fusogens, antigens, and immunogens. Science **280**:1884-8.
- 45. Wyss, S., A. S. Dimitrov, F. Baribaud, T. G. Edwards, R. Blumenthal, and J. A. Hoxie. 2005. Regulation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein fusion by a membrane-interactive domain in the gp41 cytoplasmic tail. J Virol **79**:12231-41.

Residues in the Membrane-spanning Domain core contribute to conformational integrity and fusogenicity of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type I Envelope Glycoprotein

By

Liang Shang and Eric Hunter

Submitted to Virology

Format adapted for dissertation

ABSTRACT

The membrane-spanning domain (MSD) of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type I (HIV-1) envelope glycoprotein (Env) is critical for its biological activity. Initial studies have defined an almost invariant "core" structure in the MSD and demonstrated that it is crucial for anchoring Env in the membrane and for virus entry. We show here that amino acid substitutions in the MSD core do not influence specific virus-cell attachment, nor CD4 receptor and CXCR4 coreceptor recognition by Env. However, substitutions within the MSD "core" delayed the kinetics and reduced the efficiency of cell-cell fusion mediated by Env. Although we observed no evidence that membrane fusion mediated by the MSD core mutants was arrested at a hemifusion stage, impaired Env fusogenicity was correlated with minor conformational changes in the V2, C1, and C5 regions in gp120 and the HR1 and immunodominant loop in gp41. These changes could delay initiation of the conformational changes required in the fusion process.

INTRODUCTION

Human immunodeficiency virus Type I (HIV-1) infection is initiated by fusion of the viral membrane with that of the target cell and is mediated by the viral envelope glycoprotein (Env). On the virus surface, a trimer, composed of three non-covalently linked dimers of gp120, the receptor-binding surface (SU) component, and gp41, the membrane-spanning, trans-membrane (TM) component, forms the functional Env complex (87, 219, 347, 352). The gp120 and gp41 glycoproteins are synthesized as a precursor gp160 glycoprotein, which is encoded by the *env* gene. The gp160 precursor is co-translationally glycosylated and, following transport to the trans-Golgi network, is cleaved into the mature products by a member of the furin family of endoproteases (352). Mature Env proteins are transported to the plasma membrane, where they are rapidly endocytosed or incorporated into virions (40, 275, 343).

The HIV-1 gp120 glycoprotein binds to the CD4 receptor and chemokine coreceptors and consists of 5 conserved domains (C1-C5) and 5 variable domains (V1-V5) (Fig. 1A). Several studies suggest that the C1 and C5 regions directly interact with the immunodominant loop in gp41 (28, 129, 139). The C2 region is sequestered in the oligomeric structure and involved in the oligomerization of the gp120 (177). The binding of CD4 to HIV-1 Env requires multiple conserved regions in the gp120, including C1 (167, 239), C3 (133, 134), and C4 (223). A comparison of the sequence and structural profiles of HIV-1 and SIV Env shows that the C2-V3-C3 region is involved in the contact with chemokine receptors (51, 292). The V3 loop is a hyper variable disulfide-bonded structure and is the major determinant of the tropism of HIV-1 virions (124). The V1V2 region also influences HIV-1 cellular tropism, probably via an interaction with regions of the V3 loop (33, 161). The V4 and V5 regions of gp120 may also be necessary for efficient utilization of CXCR4 (60, 172). Moreover, the V1V2 and V3 regions have been

demonstrated to play a more important role when HIV-1 uses, in addition to CCR5 or CXCR4, other chemokine coreceptors such as CCR2b, CCR3, STRL33, and APJ (132). In the dual tropic strain 89.6, the V3, V4, and V5 regions are involved in CCR5, CXCR4, and CCR3 utilization (297).

The HIV-1 gp41 glycoprotein is the fusion machinery that mediates virus-cell membrane fusion. When activated, the ectodomain of gp41 carries out the fusion function, while the membrane-spanning domain and cytoplasmic domain are both important for its fusogenecity. The ectodomain consists of a fusion peptide, two heptad repeats (HR1 and HR2) with the immunodominant loop in between, and a membrane proximal tryptophan-rich domain (Fig. 1A). The cytoplasmic domain contains signals for intracellular trafficking of the Env, and three lipid lytic peptides (LLP1, LLP2, and LLP3) that play important roles in membrane fusion (66, 212, 309).

After the sequential binding of gp120 to the CD4 receptor and chemokine coreceptors, changes in the conformation of gp120 activate the fusion competency of gp41. The N-terminal hydrophobic fusion peptide is released from a compact structure of gp41 and becomes associated with the outer monolayer of the target membrane. Meanwhile, the ectodomains of the gp41 trimer are rearranged into a 6-helix bundle structure with the three HR1 segments in the center, forming a coiled-coil structure, and the three HR2 segments on the outside, being tightly packed into the hydrophobic grooves of the coiled-coil. This process brings together the cell membrane associated fusion peptides with the viral membrane-binding MSDs, and results in a close proximity between the viral envelope and the cellular membrane, which is necessary for virus-cell membrane fusion (87, 340).

The membrane-spanning domain of Env is defined as a stretch of 25 predominantly hydrophobic amino acids that spans residues K681 to R705 (NL4-3). In the previous C-terminal truncation studies of HIV-1 Env, we have demonstrated that the entire 25 amino acid region is not required for the biological function of Env (359). The 17 amino acid residues (from K681 to A697) are sufficient for stably anchoring the truncated gp41 in the membrane and mediating cell-cell fusion at a WT level. Serial small deletions (3 amino acid residues) in the region between R694 and R705 showed normal cell-cell fusion, although larger deletions were detrimental, suggesting that, with respect to the biological functions of the Env glycoprotein, the length of this region is more important than its amino acid conservation (242). From these data, we have proposed a topology where the flanking K681 and R694 residues "snorkel" in the membrane, and 12 amino acid residues (from L682 to L693) form a hydrophobic core buried within the membrane. Arginines 705 and 707 are located at the interface of membrane and cytoplasm in this model (359).

The membrane-spanning domain, particularly within the "core" region, is one of the most conserved sequences in Env. This argues for a functional role of the MSD "core" in the biological activity of the HIV-1 Env complexes. Recent studies of the MSD core region have focused on the GXXXG motif in which the glycine residues are the most conserved among all MSD residues. Statistical studies and bacterial models suggested that the GXXXG motif probably constructs a framework for the association of transmembrane helixes (276, 287, 288). Previously, we substituted all of the residues for leucine within the HIV-1 MSD core, and then sequentially reintroduced the GGXXG motif, and then two other highly conserved residues, F683 with V687 (289). These studies showed that the specific amino acid residues in the helical core of HIV-1 MSD are critical for the fusogenicity of Env complexes and infectivity of HIV-1 virions. The loss of infectivity

correlated with impaired virus-cell entry. However, these mutations in the MSD core did not influence the biogenesis, intracellular transport and incorporation of Env complexes.

In order to further understand the roles played by the more conserved HIV-1 MSD core residues in virus-cell entry, we attempted in the current study to define the mechanism by which the MSD core mutants impact Env-mediated membrane fusion. We show here that the amino acid composition of the MSD core does not influence viral attachment to the cell surface or CD4 and CXCR4 recognition by HIV-1 Env. However, the cell-cell fusion kinetics of the recovery-of-function mutants was delayed compared to WT, and minor conformational changes in localized regions of gp120 and gp41 were observed, suggesting that these changes might delay the triggering of the fusion process after receptor binding.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cells and antibodies. COS-1, 293T, JC53BL cells and KABAT cell lines were maintained in complete Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and penicillin-streptomycin (all from Gibco-BRL, Rockville, MD). Cells were grown under conditions of 37°C and 5% CO₂ in humidified incubators. The anti-gp120 monoclonal antibodies b12 (38), 697-30D (364), 902 (59), F425b4a1, ID6 (112), Chessie6 (1), Chessie13-39.1 (1), 670-30D (364), F425a1g8, 17b (170), E51 (136), A32 (351), and anti-gp41 monoclonal antibodies NC-1 (142), T32 (85), and D50 (85) along with HIV-1 patient Ig, fusion inhibitors (T20 and C34) were obtained from the AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health. The pooled HIV-1 patient sera were provided through the Emory CFAR Clinical Core.

Cell-cell fusion kinetics. MSD mutants were cloned into a proviral vector pTN6-GFP, in which the *nef* gene has been replaced by a GFP reporter gene. 293T cells, which were transfected with these proviral vectors, were resuspended 48 h posttransfection and were mixed with JC53BL indicator cells, which had been loaded with fluorescent dye CMAC-blue (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The cell mixtures were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 0.5 h, 1 h, 2 h, 4 h, 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h. Cell-cell fusion was observed and quantitated by fluorescent microscopy.

CPZ treatment of cell-cell and virus-cell fusion. 293T cells were transfected with pCDNA3.1 Env expression vectors and resuspended by trypsinization 36-48h posttransfection. For all transfections, Fugene6 (Roche, Nutley, NJ) was used according to the manufacturer's directions. The transfected 293T cells were cocultured with

JC53BL indicator cells at a 5:1 ratio. Cell mixtures were incubated for 2 h, and then were treated with 0.5mM chlorpromazine (CPZ, in complete DMEM) for 30 seconds. Control cells were treated in parallel with complete DMEM alone. After the CPZ treatment, cells were washed three times in PBS and were incubated in complete DMEM for 24 h. Then cells were lysed in the luciferase reporter lysis buffer (Promega, Madison WI) using two freeze-thaw cycles. Cellular debris was removed by centrifugation at 13,200 rpm for 5 min at 4°C in a microcentrifuge (Beckman, Palo Alto, CA). Luciferase substrate 100µl (Promega, Madison, WI) was added to 10µl of each cell lysate and light emission was quantified using a Synergy multi-detector microplate reader (Biotek, Vinooski VT).

A modified virion-based virus-cell fusion assay was performed based on the method described previously (46-48). Briefly, 293T cells were cotransfected with the proviral vector pNL4-3, pCMV-BlaM-Vpr construct (kindly provided by W. Greene, UCSF), and pAdvantage construct (Promega, Madison, WI) using calcium phosphate precipitation. The pCMV-BlaM-Vpr vector contains a CMV promoter-driven β -lactamase coding region fused to the N-terminus of the HIV-1 *Vpr* gene. At 48 h posttransfection, medium filtered through a 0.45µm membrane was loaded onto a 25% sucrose cushion (in PBS [pH7.2]) and centrifuged at 100,000×g for 2.5 h at 4°C. Pelleted virus was resuspended in serum-free DMEM, titered using a p24 ELISA assay, and then 200 ng p24 equivalents were added to 3x10⁵ JC53BL cells cultured in CO₂-independent medium (Gibco-BRL, Rockville, MD) supplemented with 1% fetal bovine serum. After a 2 h incubation at 37°C, cells were treated in serum-free CO₂-independent medium containing 0.5mM CPZ for 30 seconds or with medium alone. Free viruses and drug were washed away in serum-free CO₂-independent medium. Then the fluorescent dye, CCF2-AM, was loaded

into the cells during a 2 h incubation at room temperature according to the Betalactamase Loading Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The extracellular dye was then washed away in serum-free CO₂-independent medium and cells were resuspended in CO₂-independent medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 2.5 mM probenecid. The cells were incubated for 16 h at room temperature in the dark, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min at 4 °C, and analyzed by flow cytometry in a Beckman Dickson LSR2 cytometer.

Three color microscopy of cell-cell fusion. 293T cells were transfected with pTN6-GFP proviral vectors. At 48 h after transfection, cells were resuspended by trypsinization. JC53BL indicator cells were resuspeded by trypsinization and washed once in serum-free DMEM. 5 ul Dil loading solution (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) was added into 1ml of JC53BL cells (10⁶ cells per ml) in serum-free DMEM. Cells were washed three times in serum-free DMEM after 30 min incubation at 37 °C and were resuspended in serum-free DMEM to 10⁶ cells per ml. Then cells were incubated with 10ug/ml CMAC-blue (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) for 30 min followed by three washes in serum-free DMEM. The transfected 293T cells were mixed with the double-stained JC53BL cells (1:1) in complete DMEM and the cell mixtures were cocultured at 37 °C for 2 h. Cell-cell fusion events were observed by fluorescent microscopy.

Virus capture assay. Viruses were harvested from the supernatant of proviral vector transfected 293T cells by ultracentrifugation through 25% sucrose cushion. Pelleted virus (in PBS) was added into 96-well plates (10ng p24 per well), which had been coated with anti-gp120 and anti-gp41 monoclonal antibodies in 50mM carbonate/bicarbonate buffer pH9.6, and then incubated at 37 °C for 2 h. For studies involving CD4-induced

exposure of epitopes, 1ug/ml sCD4 was mixed with the virus immediately prior to addition to the wells. Unbound viral particles were removed by extensive washes in PBS. Bound viruses were lysed in PBS containing 0.5% Triton X-100 and then subjected to a p24 ELISA assay.

C34 and **T20** inhibition of cell-cell fusion and viral infection. 293T cells were transfected with pCDNA3.1 expression vectors. At 36-48h after transfection, cells resuspended by trypsinization were combined with JC53BL indicator cells at a 5:1 ratio. Cell mixtures were incubated for 24 h in the presence of T20 or C34 in specific concentrations (0, 0.008, 0.04, 0.2, 1, and 5 ug/ml). Luciferase activity was quantitated as described above.

Medium from 293T cells transfected with proviral vectors was harvested 72 h posttransfection, filtered through a 0.45µm membrane to remove cellular debris, and total virions were quantified using a p24 ELISA assay. The p24-normalized virus-containing supernatant was added to JC53BL indicator cells cultured in DMEM containing 1% fetal bovine serum, 80µg/ml DEAE-Dextran and T20 or C34 in specific concentrations. Complete DMEM was added following 2 h incubation and cells were analyzed for luciferase activity at 48 h postinfection.

RESULTS

Previously, we used a recovery-of-function mutagenesis strategy to define the roles of the specific amino acid residues within the 12-amino acid MSD "core" in HIV-1 assembly and entry. The amino acid sequences and nomenclature of the MSD "core" mutants are shown in Fig. 1B. We have shown that the MSD "core" region of HIV-1 is critical for its Replacement of the conserved amino acid residues with leucine viral infectivity. residues blocked virus entry and subsequent viral infection. Truncation of the cytoplasmic domain of the Env was not able to rescue the impaired virus entry. In this study, we examined the competence of these MSD "core" mutants at each step of virus entry, in order to further understand the mechanisms of the defects observed in this process. Initially, we carried out a virus-cell attachment assay at low temperatures (4°C, 10°C, and 25°C for 2 h). Virions of the MSD mutants adsorbed to the cell surface with the same efficiency as WT, indicating that the amino acid composition of the MSD "core" does not affect the ability of HIV-1 Env to mediate a virus-specific binding to the cell surface (data not shown). Additionally, using an Env-free virus, we demonstrated that nonspecific binding accounts for approximately 59% of virus-cell attachment (data not shown).

MSD mutants showed delayed cell-cell fusion kinetics. In order to examine whether the MSD "core" mutants influence the fusogenicity of HIV-1 Env, we measured the ability of Env to mediate cell-cell fusion, using a fluorescent marker transfer system. The WT Env and MSD mutants were cloned into the pTN6-GFP provrial vector, in which the *nef* gene is replaced by a GFP reporter gene, and then were transfected into 293T cells. The transfected cells were mixed with JC53BL cells, which were pre-loaded with the fluorescent dye CMAC-blue, and cell mixtures were cocultured for 0.5 h, 1 h, 2 h, 4 h, 6 h, 12 h, and 24 h. Fused cells fluorescing with both colors were then quantitated as a
percent of total cells. As shown in the Fig. 1C, the cell-cell fusion kinetics mediated by the Env MSD mutants was slower than that of WT. After a lag period of approximately 1 h, WT Env showed the highest initial rate of mediating cell-cell fusion (28.87% cells per hour) between 1 h and 2 h and a decreased rate (35.3% of the initial rate) in the following 4 h. Cell-cell fusion rates of the mutants L12G and L12G2 were relatively constant during the first 12 h of incubation and were nearly 25% of the WT initial rate. The L12 mutant exhibited a prolonged lag period of between 1 h and 4 h prior to a linear increase in cell-cell fusion rate, which is equivalent to those of the other two mutants. The WT Env reached 50% fusion at 4 h after cell mixing, while the mutants L12G and L12G2 were at 6 h, and the L12 mutant was at 10 h. Moreover, at 12 h after cell mixing, cell-cell fusion mediated by the Env mutants L12G and L12G2 was equivalent to that of WT, while even at 24 h mutant L12 showed only 84% of WT cell-cell fusion by Env.

CPZ treatment did not increase cell-cell fusion or virus-cell fusion. The delayed cell-cell fusion kinetics suggested that the MSD "core" mutants might have to overcome a higher energy barrier to mediate membrane fusion than WT. In order to analyze whether the higher energy barrier was created by a hemifusion intermediate, we treated cells with 0.5 mM CPZ (chlorpromazine) for 30 seconds during the cell-cell fusion mediated by the Env. CPZ specifically disrupts the lipid bilayer structure in a hemifusion intermediate, which is formed by the two inner layers of the membranes involved in the fusion, thereby enhancing membrane fusion. As shown in Fig. 2A, CPZ treatments did not enhance the relative cell-cell fusion the Env mutants compared to WT, nor change the ratios of fusogenicity among these mutants. Overall, the CPZ-treated set showed slightly lower cell-cell fusion than the non-treated control set, likely due to the

toxicity of CPZ to cells even in a 30 second treatment. Moreover, in the BlaM-Vpr viruscell fusion assay (46), CPZ-treatment was unable to promote fusion for any of the mutants (Fig. 2B). These results argue that the reduction in fusion observed with the MSD "core" mutants is not due to fusion-arrest at a hemifusion intermediate.

MSD "core" mutants can mediate full cell-cell fusion. In order to confirm the absence of hemifusion intermediates during membrane fusion mediated by the MSD mutants, we used three-color microscopy to examine cell-cell fusion mediated by the mutant L12, which is the least fusogenic. 293T cells transfected with pTN6-GFP proviral DNA were mixed with JC53BL indicator cells, which were double stained with the lipid dye Dil (red) and cytoplasmic dye CMAC-blue. Even though cell-cell fusion induced by mutant L12 was only 1.8% of WT after 2h of coincubation, only complete cell-cell fusion events, in which both the lipid dye and cytoplasmic dyes are mixed, were observed in greater than 50 cells (Fig. 2C). Thus in this assay, we did not observe any hemifusion intermediates, in which the lipid dye but not the cytoplasmic dyes are mixed. These results also indicated that those fusion pores that did form, during fusion by the MSD mutant L12, were expanded to a size that allows at least 30 KD molecules (GFP) to pass through.

High levels of CD4 receptors or CXCR4 coreceptors on the surface of target cells can not rescue the defects of the MSD "core" mutants in viral infectivity. In order to determine whether the MSD core mutants exhibited differential utilization of the CD4 receptor and CXCR4 co-receptor, cell lines expressing different levels of these molecules were employed. In the first series of experiments, the HI-J, and RC-25 cell lines (Kabat), which express similar levels of CXCR4 but differ in their CD4 expression by 15-fold (HI-J>>RC-25) were utilized. The WT and Env mutants were cloned into the

pTN7 proviral vector, in which the *nef* coding sequence is replaced by a renilla luciferase reporter gene. Viruses produced by transfecting 293T cells with these proviral DNAs were used to infect the two cell lines. At 48 h postinfection, cells were subjected to a luciferase activity assay. For each mutant, the viral infectivity in the HI-J cell lines was measured as 100% and compared with that in the RC-25 cell line. As shown in Fig. 3A, the higher level of surface CD4 enhanced virus infectivity of both the WT and MSD mutants, with both the MSD mutants and the WT exhibiting an approximately 2-fold increase in infectivity in the HI-J cells.

To investigate sensitivity to changes in CXCR4, the HI-R and RC-49 cells were utilized. These cells have equivalent levels of surface CD4, but a 6-fold difference in the surface level of CXCR4 (HI-R>>RC-49). In contrast to changes in CD4, changes in the surface level of CXCR4 had no effect on the infectivity of either the WT or MSD "core" mutants (Fig. 3B). These results suggest that the amino acid substitution in the MSD "core" does not affect CD4 or CXCR4 recognition by Env during viral entry.

MSD core mutants change the accessibility of epitopes to monoclonal antibodies in the gp120 glycoprotein. In order to determine whether the MSD mutants alter the conformational integrity of gp120, we measured the binding of anti-gp120 monoclonal antibodies to the Env glycoprotein on the viral surface by a virus capture assay. Viruses purified by ultracentrifugation through 25% sucrose were incubated in 96-well plates precoated with the specific anti-gp120 mAbs. The bound viruses were lysed after extensive washing and then subjected to a p24 ELISA assay. Two groups of mAbs were used to capture viruses, including (i) the CD4-independent mAbs: b12 (Fig. 4A), which binds to the CD4-binding site; 697-30D (Fig. 4B) - the V2 region; F425-B4a1 and 902 (Fig. 4C) - the V3 loop; ID6 and Chessie6 (Fig. 4D) - the C1 region; Chessie13-39.1 (Fig. 4E) - the C2 region; 670-30D (Fig. 4F) - the C5 region, and (ii) the CD4-induced mAbs: F425 A1g8 (Fig. 4G), 17b (Fig. 4H) and E51 (Fig. 4I) which bind the coreceptor-binding region; and A32 (Fig. 4J) - the C1/C4 region. The MSD mutants L12 and L12G showed an approximately 2-fold decrease in the binding of antibodies to epitopes in the V2 and C5 region (mAbs 697-30D and 670-30D), while the mutant L12G2 showed a WT binding ability to the mAbs in these regions. Moreover, the MSD "core" mutants resulted in a 2to 4-fold increases in the binding of mAbs (ID6 and Chessie6) to epitopes in the C1 region. Consistent with the conformational changes in the C1 region, the binding of A32 to its conformational epitope in the C1 and C4 regions also increased approximately 2fold. In spite of the conformational changes observed in the V2, C1, and C5 region, binding of antibodies to the V3 and C2 regions was not affected by the MSD "core" mutants. In addition, the accessibility of the mAb b12 to the CD4-binding region and CD4i mAbs F425a1g8, 17b and E51 to coreceptor-binding regions were not affected either, which is consistent with the infectivity data based on the Kabat cell lines, indicating an intact CD4 binding and co-receptor recognition of the Env mutants.

MSD "core" mutants change the conformation of the gp41 ectodomain. We used the same virus capture assay to examine potential conformational changes in the gp41 ectodomain. Three anti-gp41 mAbs were used: NC-1 (Fig. 5A) specifically binds to the 6-helix bundle, T32 (Fig. 5B) to the immunodominant loop in between the HR1 and HR2 regions, and D50 (Fig. 5C) to the HR2 region. Binding of antibody to the 6-helix bundle in the mutant L12 decreased to 50% of WT following induction by sCD4, while the mutants L12G and L12G2 were not significantly affected. Moreover, the exposure of the immunodominant loop was also reduced in the MSD mutants: L12 43% of WT, L12G 57%, and L12G2 81%, which suggested a stoicmetric relationship between the conformational changes in the gp41 ectodomain and the number of substitutions in the

MSD "core" region. However, the HR2 regions of the MSD "core" mutants were fully accessible to the mAb D50 compared to WT, indicating an intact conformation in this region. These results were confirmed by immunoprecipitating viral gp41 with the same mAbs in the presence or absence of sCD4, followed by a western blotting using the anti-gp41 mAb Chessie8 (data not shown).

MSD "core" mutants exhibit the same sensitivity to the fusion inhibitors, T20 and C34, as WT. In order to understand the degree to which the conformation of the gp41 ectodomain has been changed by the MSD "core" mutants, we compared sensitivity of the Env mutants to the fusion inhibitors, C34 and T20, to that of WT. The inhibition kinetics of cell-cell fusion mediated by the Env was measured by treating cells with the fusion inhibitors in a gradient of concentrations (Fig. 6A and 6B). The MSD mutants were as sensitive to either T20 or C34 as WT. Similar results were observed in the experiment measuring the T20 and C34 inhibition kinetics of viral infectivity (Fig. 6C and 6D). These data indicated that alterations in the gp41 ectodomain induced by the MSD "core" mutants were unlikely to slow formation of the 6-helix bundle once conformational changes were initiated and that access to the HR1 coiled-coil was retained in the MSD mutants, allowing the binding of the inhibitor peptides.



FIG. 1. Kinetics of cell-cell fusion mediated by the Env. (A) A schematic structure of the HIV-1 Env sequence (FP: fusion peptide; HR: heptad repeat; Loop: immunodominant loop; MSD: membrane-spanning domain; LLP: Lentivirus lytic peptide). (B) Amino acid sequences of HIV-1 MSDs. The consensus sequence of the HIV-1 MSD was generated by the alignment of the Env MSD sequences of all M and N group HIV-1 isolates from the Los Alamos HIV Sequences Database. The amino acid residues of the putative MSD region are shown as upper case letters. The position of the MSD in the sequence of HIV-1 NL4-3 is marked above the positively charged amino acid residues. The mutated portions of the HIV-1 MSD are underlined. (C) Cell-cell fusion kinetics. 293T cells were transfected with the proviral vector, pTN6-GFP, which carries the MSD mutant and a GFP reporter gene. At 48 h posttransfection, the transfected 293T cells were cocultured with the CMAC-blue-loaded JC53BL indicator cells for specific times. Fused cells were observed and quantitated by fluorescent microscopy.



FIG. 2. Examination of hemifusion intermediates. (A) Cell-cell fusion mediated by Env. 293 T cells, which were transfected with the Env expression vector, pCDNA3.1, and JC53BL indicator cells were cocultured for 2 h and then were treated with 0.5mM CPZ for 30 seconds. After extensive wash, cells were incubated in complete DMEM for 24 h and then were subjected to a luciferase activity assay. (B) Virus-cell entry assay. Proviral constructs were cotransfected into 293T cells with pCMV-BlaM-Vpr vectors. Viruses containing the BlaM-Vpr fusion protein were pelleted by ultracentrifugation through 25% sucrose. Viral pellets normalized by p24 ELISA were used to infect JC53BL indicator cells for 2 h. The cells were then treated with 0.5mM CPZ for 30 seconds. After extensive wash, cells were loaded with fluorescent dye CCF2-AM. Blue cells were counted by flow cytometry analysis after 16 h of incubation. (C) Three color microscopy of cell-cell fusion mediated by the Env. 293T cells, which were transfected with pTN6-GFP proviral vectors, were cocultured with JC53BL indicator cells, which bil (red) and CMAC-blue, for 2 h. Fused cells were observed by fluorescent microscopy.



FIG. 3. Sensitivity of MSD core mutants to the levels of CD4 and CXCR4 on cell surface. The Env mutants were cloned into a proviral vector, pTN7, in which the *nef* coding sequence was replaced by a renilla luciferase reporter gene. Viruses produced by transfecting 293T cells with pTN7 constructs were used to infect HI- and RC- cell lines (Kabat). Luciferase activities were measured 48 h postinfection. (A) Cell lines HI-J and RC-25 have the same surface level of CXCR4, but the CD4 level of HI-J is 15-fold higher than that of RC-25. (B) The cell surface levels of CD4 are similar between HI-R and RC-49 cells. But the surface level of CXCR4 on RC-49 is 6-fold lower than that of HI-R cells.



FIG. 4. gp120 virus capture assay. Purified viruses were incubated at 37°C in 96-well plates which have been pre-coated with anti-gp120 monoclonal antibodies. The coating antibodies target to different epitopes of the gp120 glycoprotein: b12 (A) binds to the CD4-binding site, 697-30D (B) to the V2 region, F425 B4a1 and 902 (C) to the V3 loop, ID6 and Chessie6 (D) to the C1 region, Chessie13-39.1 (E) to the C2 region, 670-30D (F) to the C5 region, F425 A1g8 (G), 17b (H) and E51 (I) to the coreceptor-binding region, and A32 (J) to the C1/C4 region. The bound viruses were lysed in PBS containing 0.5% Triton X-100 and then subjected to a p24 ELISA assay.



FIG. 5. gp41 virus capture assay. Purified viruses were incubated at 37°C in 96-well plates which have been pre-coated with anti-g41 monoclonal antibodies. The coating antibodies target to different epitopes of the gp41 glycoprotein: NC-1 (A) to the 6-helix bundles, T32 (B) to the immunodominant loop of gp41 ectodomain, and D50 (C) to the HR2 region. Bound viruses were lysed in PBS containing 0.5% Triton X-100 and then subjected to a p24 ELISA assay.



FIG. 6. C34 and T20 inhibition of cell-cell fusion mediated by the Env and viral infection. 293T cells transfected with the Env expression vector, pCDNA3.1, were cocultured with JC53BL indicator cells. Cell mixtures were incubated for 24 h in the presence of fusion inhibitors, C34 (A) and T20 (B), at specific concentrations, and then were subjected to a luciferase activity assay. JC53BL indicator cells were infected with the p24-normalized viruses in DMEM containing 1% fetal bovine serum, 80µg/ml DEAE-Dextran and fusion inhibitors, C34 (C) and T20 (D), at specific concentrations. Complete DMEM was added following 2 h incubation and cells were analyzed for luciferase activity 48 h post infection.

DISCUSSION

Previous studies have demonstrated that, in addition to anchoring the Env in membrane, the membrane-spanning domain of HIV-1 gp41 plays a role in Env incorporation and virus-cell entry during the viral life cycle (289, 359). The MSD, and in particular its N-terminal "core" region, is a very highly conserved region in the Env sequence. We have demonstrated that the most conserved residue F683 and GGXXG motif in the MSD "core" are critical for the virus-cell entry and subsequent viral infectivity by using a "recovery-of-function" mutagenesis approach (289). Truncation of the cytoplasmic domains of the MSD "core" mutants was not able to rescue the defect in virus-cell entry. In the current study, we investigated the molecular basis for the defects in viral entry observed with the MSD "core" mutants through an examination of conformational changes in the extracellular domains of Env, as well as changes in the efficiency of virus-cell attachment, receptor/co-receptor recognition, and membrane fusion.

Virions carrying the MSD "core" mutants all exhibited WT binding to the surface of target cells at different temperatures, indicating that substitutions in the MSD "core" regions did not influence the specific virus-cell binding mediated by the interaction of HIV-1 Env with CD4 receptors and chemokine coreceptors on cell surface. Consistent with this result, we demonstrated that changes in the surface levels of CD4 receptors and CXCR4 coreceptors on target cells gave rise to similar variations in viral infectivity for the WT and for the MSD mutants. This result suggested that substitutions in the MSD "core" regions did not affect the utilization of CD4 receptors and CXCR4 coreceptors on cell surface by HIV-1 Env. Thus, in spite of the altered MSD "core" region in the gp41 glycoprotein, the general structure of the Env glycoprotein of the MSD mutants was retained, and the conformation of the CD4-binding site and chemokine receptor-binding site remained intact. However, the MSD "core" mutants showed significant differences

in the kinetics of cell-cell fusion mediated by HIV-1 Env. This was most pronounced for L12, which exhibited a clear lag phase prior to initiation of fusion and a slower rate of increase in the extent of fusion. The mutants L12G and L12G2 demonstrated intermediate kinetics between L12 and WT in both the initiation and expansion period of cell-cell fusion. Therefore, the defect in virus-cell entry of the MSD mutants is most likely due to the impaired membrane fusion mediated by the Env mutants, in particular at the initiation stage.

The utilization of a panel of MAb in a solid state virus binding assay allowed us to indirectly probe for changes in the conformation of gp120 and gp41 by determining whether exposure of a variety of epitopes had been altered by the MSD mutants. Consistent with the equivalent entry of all three mutants into cells expressing different levels of CD4, each mutant bound to the CD4-binding site antibody b12 similarly to WT. In addition, the regions involved in coreceptor recognition bound to the CD4 inducible MAbs (F425A1g8, 17b and E51) at WT levels. However, minor conformational changes, which were restricted to specific regions of gp120, were observed in the MSD mutants. Among all the constant and variable regions of gp120, only the V2, C1, and C5 regions exhibited altered binding to their cognate MAbs (697-30D, ID6, Chessie 6, 670-30D), while the remaining regions in gp120 showed no differences in antibody binding. Since C1 and C5 have been implicated in the non-covalent interactions between gp120 and gp41, the altered accessibility of these regions to antibodies could reflect a perturbation in the gp120-gp41 interface.

While CD4 induced epitopes in the bridging sheet were presented equally by the mutants and WT, minor localized conformational changes were also observed in the gp41 ectodomain of the MSD mutants by the reductions in the formation of the 6-helix

bundle (MAb NC-1) and exposure of the immunodominant loop to MAb T32. This suggested that even though the open configuration of gp120 with an exposed bridging sheet could be stabilized by the binding of CD4 in the MSD mutants, it was less efficient at inducing downstream conformational changes in gp41. Moreover, this could result in the lag phase and slower kinetics of fusion observed for the MSD "core" mutants. It is difficult to define quantitatively how the conformational changes observed above might correlate with the decrease in fusogenicity. However, one possible interpretation of these results is that changes in the MSD core alter in a subtle manner the interaction of gp120 and gp41 in such a way that there is a greater energy barrier to conformational changes in gp41 induced by CD4 and CXCR4. This would result in a reduction in overall efficiency of the fusion process. It seems likely, however, that once the conformation change is initiated it progresses with equivalent kinetics to WT, since all of the mutants showed similar sensitivity to the fusion inhibitors T20 and C34, which bind to the trimeric coiled-coil of HR1 and prevent 6-helix bundle formation. Previous studies have shown that reductions in the kinetics of gp41 conformation changes result in enhanced inhibition by these fusion inhibitors, and this was not observed with the MSD "core" mutants. The lack of any evidence for hemifusion intermediates or defects in fusion pore expansion in these studies, suggests that the defect in the MSD core mutants is in the initiation of conformational changes required for fusion rather than at these later stages of the fusion process.

How might changes in the amino acid composition of the MSD "core" induce conformational changes and inhibit processes within the ectodomain of Env? The highly conserved GGXXG motif in the HIV-1 MSD "core" region has been postulated to facilitate the intramembrane helix-helix association by providing a relatively flat platform for the contact of the three helixes (276, 288). Moreover, the F683 and V687 are also suggested to contribute to such an interaction via a (FXX)(V)GGXXG motif (317). It is possible that these interactions are optimized to allow some flexibility within the trimer in order to facilitate conformational changes in gp41. By substituting a stretch of hydrophobic leucine residues into this region, it is likely that affinity of both proteinprotein and protein-lipid interactions will be increased, or that the orientation of helixes in the membrane would be altered. If this resulted in a more rigid trimeric interaction, it could explain altered interactions with gp120 and the imposition of a greater energy barrier to gp41 conformational changes, with subsequent impact on the formation of 6helix bundles and membrane fusion.

In summary, the experimental approaches described here have demonstrated that consistent with its high sequence conservation, the native MSD "core" amino acid sequence of HIV Env is critical for efficient membrane fusion during viral infection. Substitutions in the MSD "core" region reduced the fusogenicity of the Env mainly by inducing structural changes in the gp41 ectodomain, influencing gp120-gp41 interactions and consequently impairing initiation of the fusion process.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The pooled HIV-1 patient sera were kindly provided by Jeffery Lennox through the Clinical Core, and flow cytometry was performed in the Immunology Core of the Emory Center for AIDS Research (P30 AI050409). The antibodies, immunoglobulin, and fusion inhibitors used in this study were obtained from the AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health: D50 and T32 from Dr. Patricia Earl; NC-1 from Dr. Shibo Jiang; b12 from Dr. Dennis Burton and Carlos Barbas; F425 A1g8 and F425 B4a1 from Dr. Marshall Posner and Dr. Lisa Cavacini; 17b, E51, and A32 from Dr. James E. Robinson; 902 from Dr. Bruce Chesebro; 697-30D and 670-30D from Dr. Susan Zolla-Pazner; ID6 from Dr Kenneth Ugen and Dr. David Weiner; Chessie 6 and Chessie 13-39.1 from Dr. George K. Lewis. This work was supported by grant R01 Al33319 (E.H.) from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases at the National Institutes of Health.

REFERENCE

- Abacioglu, Y. H., T. R. Fouts, J. D. Laman, E. Claassen, S. H. Pincus, J. P. Moore, C. A. Roby, R. Kamin-Lewis, and G. K. Lewis. 1994. Epitope mapping and topology of baculovirus-expressed HIV-1 gp160 determined with a panel of murine monoclonal antibodies. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 10:371-81.
- Binley, J. M., R. W. Sanders, B. Clas, N. Schuelke, A. Master, Y. Guo, F. Kajumo, D. J. Anselma, P. J. Maddon, W. C. Olson, and J. P. Moore. 2000. A recombinant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein complex stabilized by an intermolecular disulfide bond between the gp120 and gp41 subunits is an antigenic mimic of the trimeric virion-associated structure. J Virol 74:627-43.
- 3. Boyd, M. T., G. R. Simpson, A. J. Cann, M. A. Johnson, and R. A. Weiss. 1993. A single amino acid substitution in the V1 loop of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 alters cellular tropism. J Virol **67:**3649-52.
- 4. Burton, D. R., J. Pyati, R. Koduri, S. J. Sharp, G. B. Thornton, P. W. Parren, L. S. Sawyer, R. M. Hendry, N. Dunlop, P. L. Nara, and et al. 1994. Efficient neutralization of primary isolates of HIV-1 by a recombinant human monoclonal antibody. Science **266**:1024-7.
- 5. Byland, R., P. J. Vance, J. A. Hoxie, and M. Marsh. 2007. A conserved dileucine motif mediates clathrin and AP-2-dependent endocytosis of the HIV-1 envelope protein. Mol Biol Cell **18:**414-25.
- 6. **Cavrois, M., C. De Noronha, and W. C. Greene.** 2002. A sensitive and specific enzyme-based assay detecting HIV-1 virion fusion in primary T lymphocytes. Nat Biotechnol **20:**1151-4.
- 7. Cavrois, M., J. Neidleman, M. Bigos, and W. C. Greene. 2004. Fluorescence resonance energy transfer-based HIV-1 virion fusion assay. Methods Mol Biol 263:333-44.
- Cavrois, M., J. Neidleman, W. Yonemoto, D. Fenard, and W. C. Greene. 2004. HIV-1 virion fusion assay: uncoating not required and no effect of Nef on fusion. Virology 328:36-44.
- 9. Chen, B., E. M. Vogan, H. Gong, J. J. Skehel, D. C. Wiley, and S. C. Harrison. 2005. Determining the structure of an unliganded and fully glycosylated SIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein. Structure **13**:197-211.
- 10. **Chesebro, B., and K. Wehrly.** 1988. Development of a sensitive quantitative focal assay for human immunodeficiency virus infectivity. J Virol **62**:3779-88.
- 11. Cho, M. W., M. K. Lee, M. C. Carney, J. F. Berson, R. W. Doms, and M. A. Martin. 1998. Identification of determinants on a dualtropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein that confer usage of CXCR4. J Virol **72**:2509-15.

- Comardelle, A. M., C. H. Norris, D. R. Plymale, P. J. Gatti, B. Choi, C. D. Fermin, A. M. Haislip, S. B. Tencza, T. A. Mietzner, R. C. Montelaro, and R. F. Garry. 1997. A synthetic peptide corresponding to the carboxy terminus of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein induces alterations in the ionic permeability of Xenopus laevis oocytes. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 13:1525-32.
- 13. Earl, P. L., C. C. Broder, R. W. Doms, and B. Moss. 1997. Epitope map of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 derived from 47 monoclonal antibodies produced by immunization with oligomeric envelope protein. J Virol **71:**2674-84.
- 14. Eckert, D. M., and P. S. Kim. 2001. Mechanisms of viral membrane fusion and its inhibition. Annu Rev Biochem **70**:777-810.
- Gomez-Roman, V. R., C. Cao, Y. Bai, H. Santamaria, G. Acero, K. Manoutcharian, D. B. Weiner, K. E. Ugen, and G. Gevorkian. 2002. Phagedisplayed mimotopes recognizing a biologically active anti-HIV-1 gp120 murine monoclonal antibody. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 31:147-53.
- 16. Hartley, O., P. J. Klasse, Q. J. Sattentau, and J. P. Moore. 2005. V3: HIV's switch-hitter. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **21:**171-89.
- 17. Helseth, E., U. Olshevsky, D. Gabuzda, B. Ardman, W. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1990. Changes in the transmembrane region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 envelope glycoprotein affect membrane fusion. J Virol 64:6314-8.
- 18. **Hoffman, T. L., E. B. Stephens, O. Narayan, and R. W. Doms.** 1998. HIV type I envelope determinants for use of the CCR2b, CCR3, STRL33, and APJ coreceptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**:11360-5.
- Howie, S. E., G. J. Cotton, I. Heslop, N. J. Martin, D. J. Harrison, and R. Ramage. 1998. Synthetic peptides representing discontinuous CD4 binding epitopes of HIV-1 gp120 that induce T cell apoptosis and block cell death induced by gp120. FASEB J 12:991-8.
- Howie, S. E., M. L. Fernandes, I. Heslop, T. J. Hewson, G. J. Cotton, M. J. Moore, D. Innes, R. Ramage, and D. J. Harrison. 1999. A functional, discontinuous HIV-1 gp120 C3/C4 domain-derived, branched, synthetic peptide that binds to CD4 and inhibits MIP-1alpha chemokine binding. FASEB J 13:503-11.
- 21. Huang, C. C., M. Venturi, S. Majeed, M. J. Moore, S. Phogat, M. Y. Zhang, D. S. Dimitrov, W. A. Hendrickson, J. Robinson, J. Sodroski, R. Wyatt, H. Choe, M. Farzan, and P. D. Kwong. 2004. Structural basis of tyrosine sulfation and VH-gene usage in antibodies that recognize the HIV type 1 coreceptor-binding site on gp120. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:2706-11.

- 22. **Ivey-Hoyle, M., R. K. Clark, and M. Rosenberg.** 1991. The N-terminal 31 amino acids of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein gp120 contain a potential gp41 contact site. J Virol **65**:2682-5.
- 23. **Jiang, S., K. Lin, and M. Lu.** 1998. A conformation-specific monoclonal antibody reacting with fusion-active gp41 from the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein. J Virol **72:**10213-7.
- 24. Koito, A., G. Harrowe, J. A. Levy, and C. Cheng-Mayer. 1994. Functional role of the V1/V2 region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 in infection of primary macrophages and soluble CD4 neutralization. J Virol **68**:2253-9.
- 25. **Kropelin, M., C. Susal, V. Daniel, and G. Opelz.** 1998. Inhibition of HIV-1 rgp120 binding to CD4+ T cells by monoclonal antibodies directed against the gp120 C1 or C4 region. Immunol Lett **63**:19-25.
- 26. Kwong, P. D., R. Wyatt, J. Robinson, R. W. Sweet, J. Sodroski, and W. A. Hendrickson. 1998. Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. Nature **393:**648-59.
- 27. Labrosse, B., C. Treboute, A. Brelot, and M. Alizon. 2001. Cooperation of the V1/V2 and V3 domains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 for interaction with the CXCR4 receptor. J Virol **75:**5457-64.
- 28. Lemasson, I., V. Housset, B. Calas, and C. Devaux. 1995. Antigenic analysis of HIV type 1 external envelope (Env) glycoprotein C2 region: implication for the structure of Env. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **11**:1177-86.
- Miller, M. A., M. W. Cloyd, J. Liebmann, C. R. Rinaldo, Jr., K. R. Islam, S. Z. Wang, T. A. Mietzner, and R. C. Montelaro. 1993. Alterations in cell membrane permeability by the lentivirus lytic peptide (LLP-1) of HIV-1 transmembrane protein. Virology 196:89-100.
- 30. Moore, J. P., J. A. McKeating, R. A. Weiss, and Q. J. Sattentau. 1990. Dissociation of gp120 from HIV-1 virions induced by soluble CD4. Science 250:1139-42.
- 31. **Morrison, H. G., F. Kirchhoff, and R. C. Desrosiers.** 1995. Effects of mutations in constant regions 3 and 4 of envelope of simian immunodeficiency virus. Virology **210**:448-55.
- 32. Orloff, S. L., C. I. Bandea, M. S. Kennedy, G. P. Allaway, P. J. Maddon, and J. S. McDougal. 1995. Increase in sensitivity to soluble CD4 by primary HIV type 1 isolates after passage through C8166 cells: association with sequence differences in the first constant (C1) region of glycoprotein 120. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **11**:335-42.

- Owens, R. J., J. W. Dubay, E. Hunter, and R. W. Compans. 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus envelope protein determines the site of virus release in polarized epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:3987-91.
- 34. **Rowell, J. F., P. E. Stanhope, and R. F. Siliciano.** 1995. Endocytosis of endogenously synthesized HIV-1 envelope protein. Mechanism and role in processing for association with class II MHC. J Immunol **155**:473-88.
- 35. **Russ, W. P., and D. M. Engelman.** 2000. The GXXXG motif: a framework for transmembrane helix-helix association. J Mol Biol **296:**911-9.
- 36. Senes, A., D. E. Engel, and W. F. DeGrado. 2004. Folding of helical membrane proteins: the role of polar, GXXXG-like and proline motifs. Curr Opin Struct Biol 14:465-79.
- 37. Senes, A., M. Gerstein, and D. M. Engelman. 2000. Statistical analysis of amino acid patterns in transmembrane helices: the GXXXG motif occurs frequently and in association with beta-branched residues at neighboring positions. J Mol Biol **296**:921-36.
- 38. Shang, L., L. Yue, and E. Hunter. 2008. Role of the membrane-spanning domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein in cell-cell fusion and virus infection. J Virol 82:5417-28.
- Shimizu, N., and T. Gojobori. 2000. How can human and simian immunodeficiency viruses utilize chemokine receptors as their coreceptors? Gene 259:199-205.
- 40. Smyth, R. J., Y. Yi, A. Singh, and R. G. Collman. 1998. Determinants of entry cofactor utilization and tropism in a dualtropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 primary isolate. J Virol **72:**4478-84.
- 41. **Tencza, S. B., M. A. Miller, K. Islam, T. A. Mietzner, and R. C. Montelaro.** 1995. Effect of amino acid substitutions on calmodulin binding and cytolytic properties of the LLP-1 peptide segment of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmembrane protein. J Virol **69:**5199-202.
- 42. Unterreitmeier, S., A. Fuchs, T. Schaffler, R. G. Heym, D. Frishman, and D. Langosch. 2007. Phenylalanine promotes interaction of transmembrane domains via GXXXG motifs. J Mol Biol **374:**705-18.
- 43. White, J. M., S. E. Delos, M. Brecher, and K. Schornberg. 2008. Structures and mechanisms of viral membrane fusion proteins: multiple variations on a common theme. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol **43**:189-219.
- 44. Wilk, T., T. Pfeiffer, A. Bukovsky, G. Moldenhauer, and V. Bosch. 1996. Glycoprotein incorporation and HIV-1 infectivity despite exchange of the gp160 membrane-spanning domain. Virology **218**:269-74.

- 45. Willey, R. L., and M. A. Martin. 1993. Association of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein with particles depends on interactions between the third variable and conserved regions of gp120. J Virol **67:**3639-43.
- 46. Wyatt, R., J. Moore, M. Accola, E. Desjardin, J. Robinson, and J. Sodroski. 1995. Involvement of the V1/V2 variable loop structure in the exposure of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 epitopes induced by receptor binding. J Virol **69:**5723-33.
- 47. **Wyatt, R., and J. Sodroski.** 1998. The HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins: fusogens, antigens, and immunogens. Science **280**:1884-8.
- 48. Yue, L., L. Shang, and E. Hunter. 2009. Truncation of the Membrane-spanning Domain of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type I Envelope Glycoprotein Defines Elements Required for Fusion, Incorporation and Infectivity. J Virol.
- Zolla-Pazner, S., J. O'Leary, S. Burda, M. K. Gorny, M. Kim, J. Mascola, and F. McCutchan. 1995. Serotyping of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates from diverse geographic locations by flow cytometry. J Virol 69:3807-15.

DISCUSSION

The membrane-spanning domain (MSD) of the human immunodeficiency viruses type I (HIV-1) envelope glycoprotein (Env) is critical for its biological activities. In this dissertation, we studied the intramembrane topology of the MSD and its biological functions during viral replication through genetic approaches. By examining a series of C-terminal-truncation mutants of the HIV-1 gp41 glycoprotein that substituted termination codons for amino acids 682 to 708, we showed that this entire region is required for efficient incorporation of HIV-1 Env into budding virions and WT levels of viral infectivity. In contrast, a region from residues K681 to A698 (18 aa) can effectively anchor the protein in the membrane, allow efficient transport to the plasma membrane, and mediate WT levels of cell-cell fusion. Based on the analysis of these mutants, a "snorkeling" model is proposed for the HIV-1 MSD. In this we hypothesize that the 12 hydrophobic residues (L682 to L693) form an intramembrane α -helix – the "core" region – and the flanking charged amino acid residues at 681 and 694 are buried in the lipid while their charged amino groups, via their long side chains, are presented to and neutralized by polar head groups of membrane. The MSD "core" region defined in the "snorkeling" model is composed of highly conserved hydrophobic residues and glycine motifs. By examining the "recovery-of-function" mutants, in which the MSD "core" region was initially replaced by 12 leucine residues and then specific residues and glycine motifs were reintroduced, we demonstrated that the highly conserved "core" region is not necessary for the normal expression, processing, intracellular transport, and viral incorporation of HIV-1 Env. It is, however, critical for the cell-cell and virus-cell membrane fusion mediated by Env complexes and consequently for viral infectivity. Further studies showed that defects of the MSD "core" mutants in membrane fusion are correlated with minor conformational changes in the V2, C1, and C5 regions in gp120

and the HR1 and immunodominant loop in gp41, while these changes do not influence specific virus-cell attachment, nor CD4 receptor and CXCR4 coreceptor recognition by the Env. Moreover, we presented evidence that membrane fusion mediated by the MSD "core" mutants was unlikely to be arrested at the hemifusion stage, and that alterations in the gp41 ectodomain induced by the MSD "core" mutants were unlikely to slow the formation of the 6-helix bundle once conformational changes were initiated. These results argued that the highly conserved residues in the MSD "core" region modulate certain early events of HIV-1 Env, which are required to initiate the formation of the 6-helix bundle once soft membrane fusion.

MSD Structure

In order to understand the intramembrane structure of a MSD, we have to answer several basic questions including: where is the MSD located; how many amino acid residues are involved; and what structure it is? Based on reported studies, it has been generally accepted that the HIV-1 Env contains a single membrane-spanning domain that is located in the most hydrophobic region (K681 to R707) in the gp41 glycoprotein. However, the exact length, N- and C- termini, and intramembrane topology of the MSD still remained unclear. Theoretically, a single MSD forms an intramembrane α -helix and requires 24-27 amino acids to span a typical biological membrane (35-40Å in depth). This leads to the original model of the HIV-1 MSD, in which the 27 residues span the membrane in the form of a α -helix with the residues K681 and R707 located at membrane surface. However, this would result in a highly charge residue, R694, being positioned in the center of the lipid bilayer, which is predicted to be energetically unfavorable. In this study, we demonstrated that 18 amino acid residues are sufficient to constitute a biologically functional transmembrane region, which is consistent with the report that 17 residues in the MSD of influenza HA are the minimal requirement for a

stable membrane anchor and cell-cell fusogenecity. Our results argue that, for transmembrane proteins, the length of their MSDs could be much shorter than the theoretical model and that the intramembrane structure should not be simply explained as a α -helical region.

Therefore, we proposed the "snorkeling" model to explain the intramembrane topology of HIV-1 MSD with 18 residues. Several things are notable in this model. First, the "snorkeling" model is a semi-stable structure. The vertical length of the "snorkeling" structure, including the α -helical "core" region (21 Å) and side chains of lysine 681 (6.4 Å) and arginine 694 (7.0 Å), reaches 34.4 Å, which is equivalent to the depth of biological membrane. Therefore, in order to span the entire membrane, the "core" region and side chains have to be maximally extended in the vertical direction, resulting in a less flexible intramembrane structure. When the stress, which is generated by the conformational changes in the gp41 ectodomain, forces the MSD to move relatively to membrane, the charged groups of K681 and R694 could be easily pulled into hydrophobic environment and then disrupt the local structure of a lipid monolayer. In this way the semi-stable "snorkeling" structure could contribute to initiating lipid mixing during membrane fusion mediated by HIV-1 Env.

Second, the "snorkeling" model provides a novel strategy to harbor charged amino acid residues within the membrane without generating energy barriers. As pointed out above, in the original model, residue R694 was positioned in the middle of membrane, which is energetically unfavorable. Several strategies have been reported to neutralize or accommodate intramembrane charged residues: (1) An intramembrane channel (similar to a potassium channel) could be formed by multiple α -helixes or β -sheets with their hydrophobic residues in contact with the lipid and the charged residues pointing

into the channel (195); (2) A binding partner containing oppositely charged groups could neutralize the charges in the membrane (such as with the MHC-II) (68), or (3) A cation- π interaction could form between positively charged groups and benzene rings from aromatic residues (83). However, as we describe in Paper 1, none of these alternates are applicable to HIV-1 MSD. The "snorkeling" model not only solves the caveats of the original model, but also is consistent with the report that the R694 is critical for the biological activities of HIV-1 Env (241).

Moreover, in the "snorkeling" model, the sequence C-terminal to the 18 residues in HIV-1 MSD is located in cytoplasm and presumably associated with membrane at the cytoplasmic interface. It has been reported that the amino acid composition of this region is less important than its length for stabilizing HIV-1 Env in membrane and for its fusogenecity (241). In addition, this region is less conserved than the MSD "core" domain. Therefore, although the role played by this C-terminal region in the MSD is still unclear, it is likely to fill a certain membrane proximal space, between the "snorkeling" structure and cytoplasmic domain of Env, which is critical for the biological activities of HIV-1 Env. One of the possibilities is that the C-terminal region of the HIV-1 MSD is used to keep the cytoplasmic domains in the gp41 trimer at a defined distance and thus prevent steric hindrance. The arginine residues at 705 and 707 are likely to stably associate with the membrane through the interaction between their positively charged amino groups and the negatively charged phosphate groups at the membrane surface. This structure could enhance the anchor function of the HIV-1 Env in membrane. On the other hand, it could also contribute to the structural and functional separation of the MSD from the cytoplasmic domain of HIV-1 Env, thereby, prevent the changes in the MSD during fusion from affecting functions of the downstream cytoplasmic domain.

As to the N- and C- termini of HIV-1 MSD, although the relatively rigid "snorkeling" structure narrows down the flanking residues of the "core" region, it is still difficult to identify the real time termini since the MSD is a dynamic region and keeps moving relative to membrane under the force generated during the Env activities.

MSD Function

The primary function of the HIV-1 MSD is as a membrane anchor of the Env glycoprotein in both viral and cellular membrane. According to the "snorkeling" model, the "core" structure is the major determinant of the minimal requirement in length for a stable anchor of the Env in membrane. Moreover, evidence presented in this work also suggests that the specific amino acid composition in the MSD is not required for stably anchoring HIV-1 Env in membrane when the hydrophobicity of the MSD residues is retained. It is likely that during the process of expression, proteolytic processing, and intracellular transport of HIV-1 Env, the MSD only functions as a membrane anchor; therefore, both the C-terminal truncation mutants and MSD "core" mutants demonstrated similar intracellular trafficking behaviors to WT. However, in other biological activities of HIV-1 Env, such as viral incorporation, membrane fusion, and subsequent viral infection, the native MSD is required and plays a key role in these processes.

The mechanism of HIV-1 Env incorporation is not completely understood. Although the interaction between the cytoplasmic domain and matrix protein (MA) has been suggested to be important for Env incorporation, the truncation mutant CT∆144 is incorporated into viruses at a WT level. The association of Env:Gag with lipid rafts also has been shown to play a role in Env incorporation. In this study, we demonstrated that although specific residues in the N-terminal "core" region are not critical for Env incorporation, the C-terminal portion of the MSD plays a key role in the incorporation of

HIV-1 Env (as assessed through gp41 incorporation) into budding virions and maintaining the stability of Env (gp120 stability) on the viral surface. So far the molecular mechanism of these observed facts still remains unclear. However, it is possible that the C-terminal portion of the MSD is associated with lipid rafts and contributes to viral incorporation of gp41. Moreover, this region could also be important to maintain conformational integrity of the gp41 ectodomain. Therefore, C-terminal truncations into this region impaired gp41 incorporation and gp120 stability.

In contrast, the MSD "core" region is critical for Env-mediated membrane fusion, while the C-terminal portion of the MSD is dispensable. The highly conserved residues in the MSD "core" are important to maintain the normal conformation of the gp120 glycoprotein and the gp41 ectodomain. Although the alteration of these residues only resulted in minor and localized conformational changes in Env, these structural changes modulated the gp120:gp41 interaction and impaired initiation of conformation changes that are required for formation of the 6-helix bundle and subsequent fusion pore. Therefore, the amino acid composition of the MSD "core" region influences some early events that initiate the gp41 fusion machine into the process of membrane fusion. However, so far, we are not able to quantitatively correlate these conformational changes to the defects in fusogenicity and viral infectivity, due to lack of an approach to consolidate conformational changes in different regions. Thus the possibility remains that the mutations in the "core" region may generate other structural or functional changes in Env that have not been detected yet in this work.

It is notable that the defects of the MSD "core" mutants in cell-cell fusion can be rescued by higher levels of HIV-1 Env on cell surface. This suggests that the "core" region regulates the Env fusogenicity in a stoicmetric manner. It is likely that the number of Env incorporated into HIV-1 virions is far less than that required to reach the threshold of rescue. Nevertheless, the concentration-dependent membrane fusion mediated by the Env mutants also argues that a single HIV-1 Env complex is not sufficient to mediate membrane fusion. The minimal number of Env to mediate membrane fusion remains unclear, but is likely to be influenced by multiple factors, such as the Env sequence, lipid composition, number of receptors and coreceptors, and environmental parameters (*e. g.* temperature).

The current model of membrane fusion predicts a hemifusion intermediate. In the process of membrane fusion, the outer leaflets of two membranes merge first, whereas the distal membrane leaflets remain separate, forming a lipid bilayer structure – the hemifusion intermediate. In the MSD "core" mutants and C-terminal truncation mutants, we did not observe any evidence of hemifusion intermediates during cell-cell fusion mediated by the HIV-1 Env. This is probably because that these Env mutants influence membrane fusion before the hemifusion stage and therefore do not arrest at a stable hemifusion intermediate. On the other hand, it is also possible that the cell-cell fusion mediated by HIV-1 Env does not go through a hemifusion stage at all. The outer and inner leaflets of two cellular membranes could break at the same time and then merge, thereby, skipping the hemifusion stage.

It has been reported that the HIV-1 Env glycoprotein is associated with lipid rafts and depletion of cholesterol in membrane impairs Env incorporation into virions and viral infectivity (45, 323, 324). Although, in this work, we did not present direct evidences showing the MSD:lipid raft interaction, our results leave open the possibility that the C-terminal portion of the MSD could be associated with lipid rafts and contribute to Env incorporation. Moreover, it is possible that the specific amino acid composition of the

MSD "core" region also plays a role in the association of HIV-1 Env with lipid rafts; however, multiple regions (e.g. the MPER region and the LLPs) in the Env could also be involved in such an interaction, thereby, rescuing Env incorporation of the MSD "core" mutants. The role of the Env:raft association in viral replication is still not completely understood. As to the HIV-1 MSD, lipid rafts comprise a thinner membrane and are therefore more suitable for the "snorkeling" structure. Moreover, lipid rafts tend to be more rigid and may have lower energy barriers to initiate lipid mixing during membrane fusion.

The MSD "core" region sequence is highly conserved within gp41, this is particularly true of the GGXXG motif and the phenylalanine 683. The GGXXG motif has been proposed to generate a relatively flat platform on surface of the intramembrane α -helix, which facilitates a close contact between helices in the membrane and then contributes to oligomerization of transmembrane proteins (287, 288). Although it is unlikely that the GGXXG motif in the MSD plays a major role in driving trimerization of HIV-1 Env, oligomerization of the MSD mediated by this motif could be critical for the biological activities of gp41. We have shown that the GGXXG motif is important to maintain the fusion-competent conformation of the gp41 ectodomain. Trimerization of the MSD could arrange and lock the gp41 ectodomain and cytoplasmic domain into the orientations that are optimal for the gp120:gp41 interaction and gp41:Gag hexamers interaction, thereby, contributing to the activation of gp41 fusion competency and Env incorporation into virions. Moreover, oligomerization of the MSD would form a "snorkeling" MSD trimer, which would be more stable than a single MSD "snorkeling" structure in membrane.

The phenylalannine 683 in the MSD "core" region is also important for the Env fusogenicity and viral infectivity. It has been reported that the phenylalanine residue is

able to promote self-interaction of transmembrane domains by stabilizing the GXXXG motif, which is C-terminally close to the phenylalanine residue (317). On the other hand, although the intrahelical interaction of F683 and R694 through a cation- π bond has been ruled out for HIV-1 MSD, it would still be possible for this phenylalanine residue to interact with K681 on the same MSD and the positively charged residues on other helixes by forming cation- π bonds. Further studies in the structural and functional roles of the F683 could help reveal the N-terminal topology of the MSD "core".

In this dissertation, we have examined the structural and functional roles of HIV-1 MSD in viral replication. The MSD is critical for Env fusogenecity by modulating its conformational integrity. Some questions still remain to be answered in order to fully understand, at a molecular level, the role of the MSD "core" in the Env mediated membrane fusion: e.g. Does the MSD structurally and functionally modulate the fusion peptide in gp41? Are the MSD "core" mutants able to completely expand fusion pores? Does the MSD region influence Env flexibility or mobility in membrane? What is the dynamic topology of the MPER-MSD junction? What is the structural and functional role of the C-terminal portion of HIV-1 MSD? And is the MSD associated with lipid rafts? Future studies will undoubtedly provide new insights into these issues.

GENERAL REFERENCE LIST

- Abacioglu, Y. H., T. R. Fouts, J. D. Laman, E. Claassen, S. H. Pincus, J. P. Moore, C. A. Roby, R. Kamin-Lewis, and G. K. Lewis. 1994. Epitope mapping and topology of baculovirus-expressed HIV-1 gp160 determined with a panel of murine monoclonal antibodies. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 10:371-81.
- 2. Acheampong, E., M. Rosario-Otero, R. Dornburg, and R. J. Pomerantz. 2003. Replication of lentiviruses. Front Biosci 8:s156-74.
- 3. Adams, G. A., and J. K. Rose. 1985. Structural requirements of a membranespanning domain for protein anchoring and cell surface transport. Cell **41**:1007-15.
- 4. Agnello, V., G. Abel, M. Elfahal, G. B. Knight, and Q. X. Zhang. 1999. Hepatitis C virus and other flaviviridae viruses enter cells via low density lipoprotein receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:12766-71.
- 5. Akula, S. M., N. P. Pramod, F. Z. Wang, and B. Chandran. 2002. Integrin alpha3beta1 (CD 49c/29) is a cellular receptor for Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV/HHV-8) entry into the target cells. Cell **108**:407-19.
- 6. Akula, S. M., F. Z. Wang, J. Vieira, and B. Chandran. 2001. Human herpesvirus 8 interaction with target cells involves heparan sulfate. Virology 282:245-55.
- 7. Alfadhli, A., R. L. Barklis, and E. Barklis. 2009. HIV-1 matrix organizes as a hexamer of trimers on membranes containing phosphatidylinositol-(4,5)-bisphosphate. Virology **387**:466-72.
- 8. Alfadhli, A., D. Huseby, E. Kapit, D. Colman, and E. Barklis. 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix protein assembles on membranes as a hexamer. J Virol 81:1472-8.
- Aloia, R. C., H. Tian, and F. C. Jensen. 1993. Lipid composition and fluidity of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope and host cell plasma membranes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:5181-5.
- Alter, G., N. Teigen, B. T. Davis, M. M. Addo, T. J. Suscovich, M. T. Waring, H. Streeck, M. N. Johnston, K. D. Staller, M. T. Zaman, X. G. Yu, M. Lichterfeld, N. Basgoz, E. S. Rosenberg, and M. Altfeld. 2005. Sequential deregulation of NK cell subset distribution and function starting in acute HIV-1 infection. Blood 106:3366-9.
- 11. Armstrong, R. T., A. S. Kushnir, and J. M. White. 2000. The transmembrane domain of influenza hemagglutinin exhibits a stringent length requirement to support the hemifusion to fusion transition. J Cell Biol **151**:425-37.
- 12. Backovic, M., and T. S. Jardetzky. 2009. Class III viral membrane fusion proteins. Curr Opin Struct Biol **19**:189-96.

- 13. Barba-Spaeth, G., R. S. Longman, M. L. Albert, and C. M. Rice. 2005. Live attenuated yellow fever 17D infects human DCs and allows for presentation of endogenous and recombinant T cell epitopes. J Exp Med **202:**1179-84.
- Barber, D. L., E. J. Wherry, D. Masopust, B. Zhu, J. P. Allison, A. H. Sharpe, G. J. Freeman, and R. Ahmed. 2006. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. Nature 439:682-7.
- Barrero-Villar, M., J. R. Cabrero, M. Gordon-Alonso, J. Barroso-Gonzalez, S. Alvarez-Losada, M. A. Munoz-Fernandez, F. Sanchez-Madrid, and A. Valenzuela-Fernandez. 2009. Moesin is required for HIV-1-induced CD4-CXCR4 interaction, F-actin redistribution, membrane fusion and viral infection in lymphocytes. J Cell Sci 122:103-13.
- Bartosch, B., J. Dubuisson, and F. L. Cosset. 2003. Infectious hepatitis C virus pseudo-particles containing functional E1-E2 envelope protein complexes. J Exp Med 197:633-42.
- Bates, P., J. A. Young, and H. E. Varmus. 1993. A receptor for subgroup A Rous sarcoma virus is related to the low density lipoprotein receptor. Cell 74:1043-51.
- Becker, S., M. Spiess, and H. D. Klenk. 1995. The asialoglycoprotein receptor is a potential liver-specific receptor for Marburg virus. J Gen Virol 76 (Pt 2):393-9.
- Beignon, A. S., K. McKenna, M. Skoberne, O. Manches, I. DaSilva, D. G. Kavanagh, M. Larsson, R. J. Gorelick, J. D. Lifson, and N. Bhardwaj. 2005. Endocytosis of HIV-1 activates plasmacytoid dendritic cells via Toll-like receptorviral RNA interactions. J Clin Invest 115:3265-75.
- Benkirane, M., K. T. Jeang, and C. Devaux. 1994. The cytoplasmic domain of CD4 plays a critical role during the early stages of HIV infection in T-cells. EMBO J 13:5559-69.
- 21. Berger, E. A., P. M. Murphy, and J. M. Farber. 1999. Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease. Annu Rev Immunol 17:657-700.
- 22. Berlioz-Torrent, C., B. L. Shacklett, L. Erdtmann, L. Delamarre, I. Bouchaert, P. Sonigo, M. C. Dokhelar, and R. Benarous. 1999. Interactions of the cytoplasmic domains of human and simian retroviral transmembrane proteins with components of the clathrin adaptor complexes modulate intracellular and cell surface expression of envelope glycoproteins. J Virol 73:1350-61.
- 23. Berndt, C., B. Mopps, S. Angermuller, P. Gierschik, and P. H. Krammer. 1998. CXCR4 and CD4 mediate a rapid CD95-independent cell death in CD4(+) T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**:12556-61.
- 24. Bernstein, H. B., and R. W. Compans. 1992. Sulfation of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein. J Virol 66:6953-9.

- Bernstein, H. B., S. P. Tucker, E. Hunter, J. S. Schutzbach, and R. W. Compans. 1994. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein is modified by O-linked oligosaccharides. J Virol 68:463-8.
- 26. Betts, M. R., D. R. Ambrozak, D. C. Douek, S. Bonhoeffer, J. M. Brenchley, J. P. Casazza, R. A. Koup, and L. J. Picker. 2001. Analysis of total human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cell responses: relationship to viral load in untreated HIV infection. J Virol 75:11983-91.
- 27. Bhattacharya, J., A. Repik, and P. R. Clapham. 2006. Gag regulates association of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope with detergent-resistant membranes. J Virol 80:5292-300.
- 28. Binley, J. M., R. W. Sanders, B. Clas, N. Schuelke, A. Master, Y. Guo, F. Kajumo, D. J. Anselma, P. J. Maddon, W. C. Olson, and J. P. Moore. 2000. A recombinant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein complex stabilized by an intermolecular disulfide bond between the gp120 and gp41 subunits is an antigenic mimic of the trimeric virion-associated structure. J Virol 74:627-43.
- 29. Blot, G., K. Janvier, S. Le Panse, R. Benarous, and C. Berlioz-Torrent. 2003. Targeting of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope to the trans-Golgi network through binding to TIP47 is required for env incorporation into virions and infectivity. J Virol **77**:6931-45.
- Borrow, P., H. Lewicki, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, and M. B. Oldstone. 1994. Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 68:6103-10.
- 31. Bour, S., R. Geleziunas, and M. A. Wainberg. 1995. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) CD4 receptor and its central role in promotion of HIV-1 infection. Microbiol Rev **59**:63-93.
- 32. Bowers, K., A. Pelchen-Matthews, S. Honing, P. J. Vance, L. Creary, B. S. Haggarty, J. Romano, W. Ballensiefen, J. A. Hoxie, and M. Marsh. 2000. The simian immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein contains multiple signals that regulate its cell surface expression and endocytosis. Traffic 1:661-74.
- 33. Boyd, M. T., G. R. Simpson, A. J. Cann, M. A. Johnson, and R. A. Weiss. 1993. A single amino acid substitution in the V1 loop of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 alters cellular tropism. J Virol **67:**3649-52.
- Briggs, J. A., T. Wilk, R. Welker, H. G. Krausslich, and S. D. Fuller. 2003. Structural organization of authentic, mature HIV-1 virions and cores. EMBO J 22:1707-15.
- 35. Brugger, B., B. Glass, P. Haberkant, I. Leibrecht, F. T. Wieland, and H. G. Krausslich. 2006. The HIV lipidome: a raft with an unusual composition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **103**:2641-6.

- Bukrinsky, M. I., S. Haggerty, M. P. Dempsey, N. Sharova, A. Adzhubel, L. Spitz, P. Lewis, D. Goldfarb, M. Emerman, and M. Stevenson. 1993. A nuclear localization signal within HIV-1 matrix protein that governs infection of non-dividing cells. Nature 365:666-9.
- 37. Bultmann, A., W. Muranyi, B. Seed, and J. Haas. 2001. Identification of two sequences in the cytoplasmic tail of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein that inhibit cell surface expression. J Virol **75**:5263-76.
- Burton, D. R., J. Pyati, R. Koduri, S. J. Sharp, G. B. Thornton, P. W. Parren, L. S. Sawyer, R. M. Hendry, N. Dunlop, P. L. Nara, and et al. 1994. Efficient neutralization of primary isolates of HIV-1 by a recombinant human monoclonal antibody. Science 266:1024-7.
- Busschots, K., J. Vercammen, S. Emiliani, R. Benarous, Y. Engelborghs, F. Christ, and Z. Debyser. 2005. The interaction of LEDGF/p75 with integrase is lentivirus-specific and promotes DNA binding. J Biol Chem 280:17841-7.
- 40. Byland, R., P. J. Vance, J. A. Hoxie, and M. Marsh. 2007. A conserved dileucine motif mediates clathrin and AP-2-dependent endocytosis of the HIV-1 envelope protein. Mol Biol Cell **18**:414-25.
- Byrne, R. D., M. Garnier-Lhomme, K. Han, M. Dowicki, N. Michael, N. Totty, V. Zhendre, A. Cho, T. R. Pettitt, M. J. Wakelam, D. L. Poccia, and B. Larijani. 2007. PLCgamma is enriched on poly-phosphoinositide-rich vesicles to control nuclear envelope assembly. Cell Signal 19:913-22.
- 42. Caffrey, M., M. Cai, J. Kaufman, S. J. Stahl, P. T. Wingfield, A. M. Gronenborn, and G. M. Clore. 1997. Determination of the secondary structure and global topology of the 44 kDa ectodomain of gp41 of the simian immunodeficiency virus by multidimensional nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. J Mol Biol **271**:819-26.
- 43. Cao, W., M. D. Henry, P. Borrow, H. Yamada, J. H. Elder, E. V. Ravkov, S. T. Nichol, R. W. Compans, K. P. Campbell, and M. B. Oldstone. 1998. Identification of alpha-dystroglycan as a receptor for lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus and Lassa fever virus. Science **282**:2079-81.
- 44. Cardozo, T., T. Kimura, S. Philpott, B. Weiser, H. Burger, and S. Zolla-Pazner. 2007. Structural basis for coreceptor selectivity by the HIV type 1 V3 loop. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 23:415-26.
- 45. Carter, G. C., L. Bernstone, D. Sangani, J. W. Bee, T. Harder, and W. James. 2009. HIV entry in macrophages is dependent on intact lipid rafts. Virology 386:192-202.
- 46. **Cavrois, M., C. De Noronha, and W. C. Greene.** 2002. A sensitive and specific enzyme-based assay detecting HIV-1 virion fusion in primary T lymphocytes. Nat Biotechnol **20**:1151-4.

- 48. Cavrois, M., J. Neidleman, W. Yonemoto, D. Fenard, and W. C. Greene. 2004. HIV-1 virion fusion assay: uncoating not required and no effect of Nef on fusion. Virology **328**:36-44.
- 49. Center, R. J., J. Lebowitz, R. D. Leapman, and B. Moss. 2004. Promoting trimerization of soluble human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) Env through the use of HIV-1/simian immunodeficiency virus chimeras. J Virol **78**:2265-76.
- 50. **Chan, D. C., D. Fass, J. M. Berger, and P. S. Kim.** 1997. Core structure of gp41 from the HIV envelope glycoprotein. Cell **89:**263-73.
- 51. Chen, B., E. M. Vogan, H. Gong, J. J. Skehel, D. C. Wiley, and S. C. Harrison. 2005. Determining the structure of an unliganded and fully glycosylated SIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein. Structure **13**:197-211.
- 52. Chen, B., E. M. Vogan, H. Gong, J. J. Skehel, D. C. Wiley, and S. C. Harrison. 2005. Structure of an unliganded simian immunodeficiency virus gp120 core. Nature **433**:834-41.
- 53. **Chen, H., and A. Engelman.** 1998. The barrier-to-autointegration protein is a host factor for HIV type 1 integration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**:15270-4.
- 54. Chen, J. J., Z. Zhu, A. A. Gershon, and M. D. Gershon. 2004. Mannose 6phosphate receptor dependence of varicella zoster virus infection in vitro and in the epidermis during varicella and zoster. Cell **119**:915-26.
- 55. Chen, S. S., S. F. Lee, and C. T. Wang. 2001. Cellular membrane-binding ability of the C-terminal cytoplasmic domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope transmembrane protein gp41. J Virol **75**:9925-38.
- 56. Cherepanov, P., G. Maertens, P. Proost, B. Devreese, J. Van Beeumen, Y. Engelborghs, E. De Clercq, and Z. Debyser. 2003. HIV-1 integrase forms stable tetramers and associates with LEDGF/p75 protein in human cells. J Biol Chem 278:372-81.
- 57. Chernomordik, L. V., and M. M. Kozlov. 2008. Mechanics of membrane fusion. Nat Struct Mol Biol **15:**675-83.
- 58. Chernomordik, L. V., and M. M. Kozlov. 2003. Protein-lipid interplay in fusion and fission of biological membranes. Annu Rev Biochem **72**:175-207.
- 59. **Chesebro, B., and K. Wehrly.** 1988. Development of a sensitive quantitative focal assay for human immunodeficiency virus infectivity. J Virol **62:**3779-88.
- 60. Cho, M. W., M. K. Lee, M. C. Carney, J. F. Berson, R. W. Doms, and M. A. Martin. 1998. Identification of determinants on a dualtropic human

immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein that confer usage of CXCR4. J Virol **72:**2509-15.

- 61. **Chu, J. J., and M. L. Ng.** 2004. Interaction of West Nile virus with alpha v beta 3 integrin mediates virus entry into cells. J Biol Chem **279:**54533-41.
- 62. Chun, T. W., L. Carruth, D. Finzi, X. Shen, J. A. DiGiuseppe, H. Taylor, M. Hermankova, K. Chadwick, J. Margolick, T. C. Quinn, Y. H. Kuo, R. Brookmeyer, M. A. Zeiger, P. Barditch-Crovo, and R. F. Siliciano. 1997. Quantification of latent tissue reservoirs and total body viral load in HIV-1 infection. Nature **387**:183-8.
- 63. Ciczora, Y., N. Callens, F. Penin, E. I. Pecheur, and J. Dubuisson. 2007. Transmembrane domains of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoproteins: residues involved in E1E2 heterodimerization and involvement of these domains in virus entry. J Virol 81:2372-81.
- 64. Cleverley, D. Z., and J. Lenard. 1998. The transmembrane domain in viral fusion: essential role for a conserved glycine residue in vesicular stomatitis virus G protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**:3425-30.
- Cocchi, F., L. Menotti, P. Dubreuil, M. Lopez, and G. Campadelli-Fiume. 2000. Cell-to-cell spread of wild-type herpes simplex virus type 1, but not of syncytial strains, is mediated by the immunoglobulin-like receptors that mediate virion entry, nectin1 (PRR1/HveC/HIgR) and nectin2 (PRR2/HveB). J Virol 74:3909-17.
- 66. Comardelle, A. M., C. H. Norris, D. R. Plymale, P. J. Gatti, B. Choi, C. D. Fermin, A. M. Haislip, S. B. Tencza, T. A. Mietzner, R. C. Montelaro, and R. F. Garry. 1997. A synthetic peptide corresponding to the carboxy terminus of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein induces alterations in the ionic permeability of Xenopus laevis oocytes. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 13:1525-32.
- 67. Connor, R. I., H. Mohri, Y. Cao, and D. D. Ho. 1993. Increased viral burden and cytopathicity correlate temporally with CD4+ T-lymphocyte decline and clinical progression in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected individuals. J Virol 67:1772-7.
- 68. **Cosson, P., and J. S. Bonifacino.** 1992. Role of transmembrane domain interactions in the assembly of class II MHC molecules. Science **258**:659-62.
- 69. **Courageot, J., E. Fenouillet, P. Bastiani, and R. Miquelis.** 1999. Intracellular degradation of the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein. Evidence for, and some characteristics of, an endoplasmic reticulum degradation pathway. Eur J Biochem **260**:482-9.
- 70. Crise, B., L. Buonocore, and J. K. Rose. 1990. CD4 is retained in the endoplasmic reticulum by the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 glycoprotein precursor. J Virol 64:5585-93.
- 71. Crise, B., and J. K. Rose. 1992. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 glycoprotein precursor retains a CD4-p56lck complex in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Virol 66:2296-301.
- 72. Das, S., S. V. Laxminarayana, N. Chandra, V. Ravi, and A. Desai. 2009. Heat shock protein 70 on Neuro2a cells is a putative receptor for Japanese encephalitis virus. Virology **385**:47-57.
- Davis, C. W., H. Y. Nguyen, S. L. Hanna, M. D. Sanchez, R. W. Doms, and T. C. Pierson. 2006. West Nile virus discriminates between DC-SIGN and DC-SIGNR for cellular attachment and infection. J Virol 80:1290-301.
- 74. **Day, J. R., C. Munk, and J. C. Guatelli.** 2004. The membrane-proximal tyrosinebased sorting signal of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 is required for optimal viral infectivity. J Virol **78:**1069-79.
- 75. de Santis, C., L. Lopalco, P. Robbioni, R. Longhi, G. Rappocciolo, A. G. Siccardi, and A. Beretta. 1994. Human antibodies to immunodominant C5 region of HIV-1 gp120 cross-react with HLA class I on activated cells. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 10:157-62.
- 76. **Dedera, D. A., R. L. Gu, and L. Ratner.** 1992. Role of asparagine-linked glycosylation in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmembrane envelope function. Virology **187:**377-82.
- 77. **Demirov, D. G., and E. O. Freed.** 2004. Retrovirus budding. Virus Res **106**:87-102.
- Dey, A. K., K. B. David, N. Ray, T. J. Ketas, P. J. Klasse, R. W. Doms, and J. P. Moore. 2008. N-terminal substitutions in HIV-1 gp41 reduce the expression of non-trimeric envelope glycoproteins on the virus. Virology 372:187-200.
- 79. Dey, B., M. Pancera, K. Svehla, Y. Shu, S. H. Xiang, J. Vainshtein, Y. Li, J. Sodroski, P. D. Kwong, J. R. Mascola, and R. Wyatt. 2007. Characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 monomeric and trimeric gp120 glycoproteins stabilized in the CD4-bound state: antigenicity, biophysics, and immunogenicity. J Virol 81:5579-93.
- 80. **Ding, L., A. Derdowski, J. J. Wang, and P. Spearman.** 2003. Independent segregation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag protein complexes and lipid rafts. J Virol **77**:1916-26.
- 81. Dong, X., H. Li, A. Derdowski, L. Ding, A. Burnett, X. Chen, T. R. Peters, T. S. Dermody, E. Woodruff, J. J. Wang, and P. Spearman. 2005. AP-3 directs the intracellular trafficking of HIV-1 Gag and plays a key role in particle assembly. Cell **120**:663-74.
- 82. **Dorfman, T., F. Mammano, W. A. Haseltine, and H. G. Gottlinger.** 1994. Role of the matrix protein in the virion association of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein. J Virol **68**:1689-96.

- 84. **Dubay, J. W., S. J. Roberts, B. H. Hahn, and E. Hunter.** 1992. Truncation of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein cytoplasmic domain blocks virus infectivity. J Virol **66**:6616-25.
- 85. Earl, P. L., C. C. Broder, R. W. Doms, and B. Moss. 1997. Epitope map of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 derived from 47 monoclonal antibodies produced by immunization with oligomeric envelope protein. J Virol **71:**2674-84.
- 86. **Earl, P. L., B. Moss, and R. W. Doms.** 1991. Folding, interaction with GRP78-BiP, assembly, and transport of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein. J Virol **65:**2047-55.
- 87. Eckert, D. M., and P. S. Kim. 2001. Mechanisms of viral membrane fusion and its inhibition. Annu Rev Biochem **70**:777-810.
- 88. Edinger, A. L., M. Ahuja, T. Sung, K. C. Baxter, B. Haggarty, R. W. Doms, and J. A. Hoxie. 2000. Characterization and epitope mapping of neutralizing monoclonal antibodies produced by immunization with oligomeric simian immunodeficiency virus envelope protein. J Virol **74**:7922-35.
- 89. Edwards, T. G., T. L. Hoffman, F. Baribaud, S. Wyss, C. C. LaBranche, J. Romano, J. Adkinson, M. Sharron, J. A. Hoxie, and R. W. Doms. 2001. Relationships between CD4 independence, neutralization sensitivity, and exposure of a CD4-induced epitope in a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein. J Virol **75**:5230-9.
- 90. Edwards, T. G., S. Wyss, J. D. Reeves, S. Zolla-Pazner, J. A. Hoxie, R. W. Doms, and F. Baribaud. 2002. Truncation of the cytoplasmic domain induces exposure of conserved regions in the ectodomain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein. J Virol **76**:2683-91.
- 91. Endres, M. J., P. R. Clapham, M. Marsh, M. Ahuja, J. D. Turner, A. McKnight, J. F. Thomas, B. Stoebenau-Haggarty, S. Choe, P. J. Vance, T. N. Wells, C. A. Power, S. S. Sutterwala, R. W. Doms, N. R. Landau, and J. A. Hoxie. 1996. CD4-independent infection by HIV-2 is mediated by fusin/CXCR4. Cell 87:745-56.
- 92. Este, J. A., and A. Telenti. 2007. HIV entry inhibitors. Lancet 370:81-8.
- Farnet, C. M., and F. D. Bushman. 1997. HIV-1 cDNA integration: requirement of HMG I(Y) protein for function of preintegration complexes in vitro. Cell 88:483-92.
- 94. Frankel, S. S., B. M. Wenig, A. P. Burke, P. Mannan, L. D. Thompson, S. L. Abbondanzo, A. M. Nelson, M. Pope, and R. M. Steinman. 1996. Replication of HIV-1 in dendritic cell-derived syncytia at the mucosal surface of the adenoid. Science 272:115-7.

- 95. Freed, E. O. 2001. HIV-1 replication. Somat Cell Mol Genet 26:13-33.
- 96. **Freed, E. O., and M. A. Martin.** 1996. Domains of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix and gp41 cytoplasmic tail required for envelope incorporation into virions. J Virol **70**:341-51.
- 97. Freed, E. O., and M. A. Martin. 1994. Evidence for a functional interaction between the V1/V2 and C4 domains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp120. J Virol **68**:2503-12.
- 98. Freed, E. O., and M. A. Martin. 1995. Virion incorporation of envelope glycoproteins with long but not short cytoplasmic tails is blocked by specific, single amino acid substitutions in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix. J Virol 69:1984-9.
- 99. **Fujiyoshi, Y.** 1998. The structural study of membrane proteins by electron crystallography. Adv Biophys **35**:25-80.
- 100. **Gabuzda, D., U. Olshevsky, P. Bertani, W. A. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski.** 1991. Identification of membrane anchorage domains of the HIV-1 gp160 envelope glycoprotein precursor. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr **4**:34-40.
- 101. Gamble, T. R., F. F. Vajdos, S. Yoo, D. K. Worthylake, M. Houseweart, W. I. Sundquist, and C. P. Hill. 1996. Crystal structure of human cyclophilin A bound to the amino-terminal domain of HIV-1 capsid. Cell **87**:1285-94.
- Ganser-Pornillos, B. K., U. K. von Schwedler, K. M. Stray, C. Aiken, and W. I. Sundquist. 2004. Assembly properties of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 CA protein. J Virol 78:2545-52.
- 103. Gao, F., E. Bailes, D. L. Robertson, Y. Chen, C. M. Rodenburg, S. F. Michael, L. B. Cummins, L. O. Arthur, M. Peeters, G. M. Shaw, P. M. Sharp, and B. H. Hahn. 1999. Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. Nature 397:436-41.
- 104. Gao, F., L. Yue, A. T. White, P. G. Pappas, J. Barchue, A. P. Hanson, B. M. Greene, P. M. Sharp, G. M. Shaw, and B. H. Hahn. 1992. Human infection by genetically diverse SIVSM-related HIV-2 in west Africa. Nature **358**:495-9.
- 105. Garcia, E., D. S. Nikolic, and V. Piguet. 2008. HIV-1 replication in dendritic cells occurs through a tetraspanin-containing compartment enriched in AP-3. Traffic 9:200-14.
- 106. Garcia, E., M. Pion, A. Pelchen-Matthews, L. Collinson, J. F. Arrighi, G. Blot, F. Leuba, J. M. Escola, N. Demaurex, M. Marsh, and V. Piguet. 2005. HIV-1 trafficking to the dendritic cell-T-cell infectious synapse uses a pathway of tetraspanin sorting to the immunological synapse. Traffic 6:488-501.
- 107. Garrus, J. E., U. K. von Schwedler, O. W. Pornillos, S. G. Morham, K. H. Zavitz, H. E. Wang, D. A. Wettstein, K. M. Stray, M. Cote, R. L. Rich, D. G.

Myszka, and W. I. Sundquist. 2001. Tsg101 and the vacuolar protein sorting pathway are essential for HIV-1 budding. Cell **107:**55-65.

- 108. **Gastka, M., J. Horvath, and T. L. Lentz.** 1996. Rabies virus binding to the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha subunit demonstrated by virus overlay protein binding assay. J Gen Virol **77 (Pt 10)**:2437-40.
- 109. Gavrilovskaya, I. N., E. J. Brown, M. H. Ginsberg, and E. R. Mackow. 1999. Cellular entry of hantaviruses which cause hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome is mediated by beta3 integrins. J Virol **73**:3951-9.
- 110. Geijtenbeek, T. B., D. S. Kwon, R. Torensma, S. J. van Vliet, G. C. van Duijnhoven, J. Middel, I. L. Cornelissen, H. S. Nottet, V. N. KewalRamani, D. R. Littman, C. G. Figdor, and Y. van Kooyk. 2000. DC-SIGN, a dendritic cellspecific HIV-1-binding protein that enhances trans-infection of T cells. Cell 100:587-97.
- 111. **Geyer, H., C. Holschbach, G. Hunsmann, and J. Schneider.** 1988. Carbohydrates of human immunodeficiency virus. Structures of oligosaccharides linked to the envelope glycoprotein 120. J Biol Chem **263**:11760-7.
- 112. Gomez-Roman, V. R., C. Cao, Y. Bai, H. Santamaria, G. Acero, K. Manoutcharian, D. B. Weiner, K. E. Ugen, and G. Gevorkian. 2002. Phagedisplayed mimotopes recognizing a biologically active anti-HIV-1 gp120 murine monoclonal antibody. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 31:147-53.
- 113. Gordon-Alonso, M., M. Yanez-Mo, O. Barreiro, S. Alvarez, M. A. Munoz-Fernandez, A. Valenzuela-Fernandez, and F. Sanchez-Madrid. 2006. Tetraspanins CD9 and CD81 modulate HIV-1-induced membrane fusion. J Immunol 177:5129-37.
- 114. Gorny, M. K., K. Revesz, C. Williams, B. Volsky, M. K. Louder, C. A. Anyangwe, C. Krachmarov, S. C. Kayman, A. Pinter, A. Nadas, P. N. Nyambi, J. R. Mascola, and S. Zolla-Pazner. 2004. The v3 loop is accessible on the surface of most human immunodeficiency virus type 1 primary isolates and serves as a neutralization epitope. J Virol 78:2394-404.
- 115. Gram, G. J., A. Hemming, A. Bolmstedt, B. Jansson, S. Olofsson, L. Akerblom, J. O. Nielsen, and J. E. Hansen. 1994. Identification of an N-linked glycan in the V1-loop of HIV-1 gp120 influencing neutralization by anti-V3 antibodies and soluble CD4. Arch Virol **139**:253-61.
- 116. Groenink, M., R. A. Fouchier, S. Broersen, C. H. Baker, M. Koot, A. B. van't Wout, H. G. Huisman, F. Miedema, M. Tersmette, and H. Schuitemaker. 1993. Relation of phenotype evolution of HIV-1 to envelope V2 configuration. Science 260:1513-6.
- 117. **Guilhaudis, L., A. Jacobs, and M. Caffrey.** 2002. Solution structure of the HIV gp120 C5 domain. Eur J Biochem **269:**4860-7.

- 119. Hammonds, J., X. Chen, L. Ding, T. Fouts, A. De Vico, J. zur Megede, S. Barnett, and P. Spearman. 2003. Gp120 stability on HIV-1 virions and Gag-Env pseudovirions is enhanced by an uncleaved Gag core. Virology **314**:636-49.
- 120. **Harmon, B., and L. Ratner.** 2008. Induction of the Galpha(q) signaling cascade by the human immunodeficiency virus envelope is required for virus entry. J Virol **82:**9191-205.
- 121. Harrich, D., J. Garcia, F. Wu, R. Mitsuyasu, J. Gonazalez, and R. Gaynor. 1989. Role of SP1-binding domains in in vivo transcriptional regulation of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 long terminal repeat. J Virol **63**:2585-91.
- 122. Harrington, P. R., J. A. Nelson, K. M. Kitrinos, and R. Swanstrom. 2007. Independent evolution of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 env V1/V2 and V4/V5 hypervariable regions during chronic infection. J Virol **81:**5413-7.
- 123. Harrison, S. C. 2008. Viral membrane fusion. Nat Struct Mol Biol 15:690-8.
- 124. Hartley, O., P. J. Klasse, Q. J. Sattentau, and J. P. Moore. 2005. V3: HIV's switch-hitter. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 21:171-89.
- 125. **Hatziioannou, T., D. Perez-Caballero, S. Cowan, and P. D. Bieniasz.** 2005. Cyclophilin interactions with incoming human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsids with opposing effects on infectivity in human cells. J Virol **79:**176-83.
- Hecht, F. M., M. P. Busch, B. Rawal, M. Webb, E. Rosenberg, M. Swanson, M. Chesney, J. Anderson, J. Levy, and J. O. Kahn. 2002. Use of laboratory tests and clinical symptoms for identification of primary HIV infection. AIDS 16:1119-29.
- 127. Heldwein, E. E., and C. Krummenacher. 2008. Entry of herpesviruses into mammalian cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 65:1653-68.
- 128. Helenius, A., B. Morein, E. Fries, K. Simons, P. Robinson, V. Schirrmacher, C. Terhorst, and J. L. Strominger. 1978. Human (HLA-A and HLA-B) and murine (H-2K and H-2D) histocompatibility antigens are cell surface receptors for Semliki Forest virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:3846-50.
- 129. Helseth, E., U. Olshevsky, D. Gabuzda, B. Ardman, W. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1990. Changes in the transmembrane region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 envelope glycoprotein affect membrane fusion. J Virol 64:6314-8.
- Herbein, G., U. Mahlknecht, F. Batliwalla, P. Gregersen, T. Pappas, J. Butler, W. A. O'Brien, and E. Verdin. 1998. Apoptosis of CD8+ T cells is mediated by macrophages through interaction of HIV gp120 with chemokine receptor CXCR4. Nature 395:189-94.

- 131. Hoffman, T. L., C. C. LaBranche, W. Zhang, G. Canziani, J. Robinson, I. Chaiken, J. A. Hoxie, and R. W. Doms. 1999. Stable exposure of the coreceptor-binding site in a CD4-independent HIV-1 envelope protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:6359-64.
- 132. Hoffman, T. L., E. B. Stephens, O. Narayan, and R. W. Doms. 1998. HIV type I envelope determinants for use of the CCR2b, CCR3, STRL33, and APJ coreceptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**:11360-5.
- 133. Howie, S. E., G. J. Cotton, I. Heslop, N. J. Martin, D. J. Harrison, and R. Ramage. 1998. Synthetic peptides representing discontinuous CD4 binding epitopes of HIV-1 gp120 that induce T cell apoptosis and block cell death induced by gp120. FASEB J 12:991-8.
- 134. Howie, S. E., M. L. Fernandes, I. Heslop, T. J. Hewson, G. J. Cotton, M. J. Moore, D. Innes, R. Ramage, and D. J. Harrison. 1999. A functional, discontinuous HIV-1 gp120 C3/C4 domain-derived, branched, synthetic peptide that binds to CD4 and inhibits MIP-1alpha chemokine binding. FASEB J **13**:503-11.
- 135. Hu, S. L., and L. Stamatatos. 2007. Prospects of HIV Env modification as an approach to HIV vaccine design. Curr HIV Res 5:507-13.
- 136. Huang, C. C., M. Venturi, S. Majeed, M. J. Moore, S. Phogat, M. Y. Zhang, D. S. Dimitrov, W. A. Hendrickson, J. Robinson, J. Sodroski, R. Wyatt, H. Choe, M. Farzan, and P. D. Kwong. 2004. Structural basis of tyrosine sulfation and VH-gene usage in antibodies that recognize the HIV type 1 coreceptor-binding site on gp120. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:2706-11.
- 137. Hug, P., H. M. Lin, T. Korte, X. Xiao, D. S. Dimitrov, J. M. Wang, A. Puri, and R. Blumenthal. 2000. Glycosphingolipids promote entry of a broad range of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates into cell lines expressing CD4, CXCR4, and/or CCR5. J Virol 74:6377-85.
- 138. **Hunter, E.** 2007. Virus Assembly (Fields Virology), vol. 5th. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA.
- 139. Ivey-Hoyle, M., R. K. Clark, and M. Rosenberg. 1991. The N-terminal 31 amino acids of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein gp120 contain a potential gp41 contact site. J Virol 65:2682-5.
- 140. Jacquet, A., M. Haumont, D. Chellun, M. Massaer, F. Tufaro, A. Bollen, and P. Jacobs. 1998. The varicella zoster virus glycoprotein B (gB) plays a role in virus binding to cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Virus Res 53:197-207.
- 141. Jenkins, Y., M. McEntee, K. Weis, and W. C. Greene. 1998. Characterization of HIV-1 vpr nuclear import: analysis of signals and pathways. J Cell Biol 143:875-85.

- 142. **Jiang, S., K. Lin, and M. Lu.** 1998. A conformation-specific monoclonal antibody reacting with fusion-active gp41 from the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein. J Virol **72**:10213-7.
- 143. Jimenez-Baranda, S., C. Gomez-Mouton, A. Rojas, L. Martinez-Prats, E. Mira, R. Ana Lacalle, A. Valencia, D. S. Dimitrov, A. Viola, R. Delgado, A. C. Martinez, and S. Manes. 2007. Filamin-A regulates actin-dependent clustering of HIV receptors. Nat Cell Biol 9:838-46.
- 144. **Jindadamrongwech, S., C. Thepparit, and D. R. Smith.** 2004. Identification of GRP 78 (BiP) as a liver cell expressed receptor element for dengue virus serotype 2. Arch Virol **149:**915-27.
- 145. Johnson, W. E., J. D. Lifson, S. M. Lang, R. P. Johnson, and R. C. Desrosiers. 2003. Importance of B-cell responses for immunological control of variant strains of simian immunodeficiency virus. J Virol **77**:375-81.
- 146. **Johnston, P. B., J. W. Dubay, and E. Hunter.** 1993. Truncations of the simian immunodeficiency virus transmembrane protein confer expanded virus host range by removing a block to virus entry into cells. J Virol **67:**3077-86.
- 147. Jolly, C., K. Kashefi, M. Hollinshead, and Q. J. Sattentau. 2004. HIV-1 cell to cell transfer across an Env-induced, actin-dependent synapse. J Exp Med 199:283-93.
- 148. **Jolly, C., I. Mitar, and Q. J. Sattentau.** 2007. Requirement for an intact T-cell actin and tubulin cytoskeleton for efficient assembly and spread of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol **81:**5547-60.
- 149. **Jolly, C., and Q. J. Sattentau.** 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 assembly, budding, and cell-cell spread in T cells take place in tetraspaninenriched plasma membrane domains. J Virol **81**:7873-84.
- 150. **Kaleeba, J. A., and E. A. Berger.** 2006. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus fusion-entry receptor: cystine transporter xCT. Science **311**:1921-4.
- 151. Kalpana, G. V., S. Marmon, W. Wang, G. R. Crabtree, and S. P. Goff. 1994. Binding and stimulation of HIV-1 integrase by a human homolog of yeast transcription factor SNF5. Science **266**:2002-6.
- 152. **Karin, M.** 1995. The regulation of AP-1 activity by mitogen-activated protein kinases. J Biol Chem **270**:16483-6.
- 153. Karlsson Hedestam, G. B., R. A. Fouchier, S. Phogat, D. R. Burton, J. Sodroski, and R. T. Wyatt. 2008. The challenges of eliciting neutralizing antibodies to HIV-1 and to influenza virus. Nat Rev Microbiol 6:143-55.
- 154. **Karray, S., and M. Zouali.** 1997. Identification of the B cell superantigen-binding site of HIV-1 gp120. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **94:**1356-60.
- 155. Kielian, M. 2006. Class II virus membrane fusion proteins. Virology **344:**38-47.

- 157. Kinoshita, S., L. Su, M. Amano, L. A. Timmerman, H. Kaneshima, and G. P. Nolan. 1997. The T cell activation factor NF-ATc positively regulates HIV-1 replication and gene expression in T cells. Immunity **6**:235-44.
- 158. Kliger, Y., and Y. Shai. 1997. A leucine zipper-like sequence from the cytoplasmic tail of the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein binds and perturbs lipid bilayers. Biochemistry **36**:5157-69.
- 159. Kobayashi, T., M. H. Beuchat, J. Chevallier, A. Makino, N. Mayran, J. M. Escola, C. Lebrand, P. Cosson, and J. Gruenberg. 2002. Separation and characterization of late endosomal membrane domains. J Biol Chem 277:32157-64.
- 160. Koga, Y., E. Lindstrom, E. M. Fenyo, H. Wigzell, and T. W. Mak. 1988. High levels of heterodisperse RNAs accumulate in T cells infected with human immunodeficiency virus and in normal thymocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **85:**4521-5.
- 161. Koito, A., G. Harrowe, J. A. Levy, and C. Cheng-Mayer. 1994. Functional role of the V1/V2 region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 in infection of primary macrophages and soluble CD4 neutralization. J Virol **68**:2253-9.
- 162. Kolchinsky, P., T. Mirzabekov, M. Farzan, E. Kiprilov, M. Cayabyab, L. J. Mooney, H. Choe, and J. Sodroski. 1999. Adaptation of a CCR5-using, primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate for CD4-independent replication. J Virol **73**:8120-6.
- 163. Koot, M., I. P. Keet, A. H. Vos, R. E. de Goede, M. T. Roos, R. A. Coutinho, F. Miedema, P. T. Schellekens, and M. Tersmette. 1993. Prognostic value of HIV-1 syncytium-inducing phenotype for rate of CD4+ cell depletion and progression to AIDS. Ann Intern Med 118:681-8.
- 164. Koup, R. A., J. T. Safrit, Y. Cao, C. A. Andrews, G. McLeod, W. Borkowsky, C. Farthing, and D. D. Ho. 1994. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. J Virol 68:4650-5.
- 165. Kowalski, M., J. Potz, L. Basiripour, T. Dorfman, W. C. Goh, E. Terwilliger, A. Dayton, C. Rosen, W. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1987. Functional regions of the envelope glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Science 237:1351-5.
- 166. Kozlov, M. M., and L. V. Chernomordik. 2002. The protein coat in membrane fusion: lessons from fission. Traffic **3**:256-67.

- 167. Kropelin, M., C. Susal, V. Daniel, and G. Opelz. 1998. Inhibition of HIV-1 rgp120 binding to CD4+ T cells by monoclonal antibodies directed against the gp120 C1 or C4 region. Immunol Lett 63:19-25.
- 168. Kunz, S., P. Borrow, and M. B. Oldstone. 2002. Receptor structure, binding, and cell entry of arenaviruses. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **262**:111-37.
- 169. Kuritzkes, D. R. 2009. HIV-1 entry inhibitors: an overview. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 4:82-7.
- 170. Kwong, P. D., R. Wyatt, J. Robinson, R. W. Sweet, J. Sodroski, and W. A. Hendrickson. 1998. Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. Nature **393**:648-59.
- 171. LaBranche, C. C., M. M. Sauter, B. S. Haggarty, P. J. Vance, J. Romano, T. K. Hart, P. J. Bugelski, M. Marsh, and J. A. Hoxie. 1995. A single amino acid change in the cytoplasmic domain of the simian immunodeficiency virus transmembrane molecule increases envelope glycoprotein expression on infected cells. J Virol 69:5217-27.
- 172. Labrosse, B., C. Treboute, A. Brelot, and M. Alizon. 2001. Cooperation of the V1/V2 and V3 domains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 for interaction with the CXCR4 receptor. J Virol **75:**5457-64.
- 173. Lama, J., A. Mangasarian, and D. Trono. 1999. Cell-surface expression of CD4 reduces HIV-1 infectivity by blocking Env incorporation in a Nef- and Vpu-inhibitable manner. Curr Biol 9:622-31.
- 174. Lamb, R. A., R. G. Paterson, and T. S. Jardetzky. 2006. Paramyxovirus membrane fusion: lessons from the F and HN atomic structures. Virology **344:**30-7.
- 175. Lambele, M., B. Labrosse, E. Roch, A. Moreau, B. Verrier, F. Barin, P. Roingeard, F. Mammano, and D. Brand. 2007. Impact of natural polymorphism within the gp41 cytoplasmic tail of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 on the intracellular distribution of envelope glycoproteins and viral assembly. J Virol 81:125-40.
- 176. Lekutis, C., and N. L. Letvin. 1997. HIV-1 envelope-specific CD4+ T helper cells from simian/human immunodeficiency virus-infected rhesus monkeys recognize epitopes restricted by MHC class II DRB1*0406 and DRB*W201 molecules. J Immunol **159:**2049-57.
- 177. Lemasson, I., V. Housset, B. Calas, and C. Devaux. 1995. Antigenic analysis of HIV type 1 external envelope (Env) glycoprotein C2 region: implication for the structure of Env. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **11**:1177-86.
- 178. Leonard, C. K., M. W. Spellman, L. Riddle, R. J. Harris, J. N. Thomas, and T. J. Gregory. 1990. Assignment of intrachain disulfide bonds and characterization of potential glycosylation sites of the type 1 recombinant human

immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein (gp120) expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Biol Chem **265**:10373-82.

- 179. Leonard, R., D. Zagury, I. Desportes, J. Bernard, J. F. Zagury, and R. C. Gallo. 1988. Cytopathic effect of human immunodeficiency virus in T4 cells is linked to the last stage of virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:3570-4.
- 180. Leung, K., J. O. Kim, L. Ganesh, J. Kabat, O. Schwartz, and G. J. Nabel. 2008. HIV-1 assembly: viral glycoproteins segregate quantally to lipid rafts that associate individually with HIV-1 capsids and virions. Cell Host Microbe **3**:285-92.
- Levin, J. G., J. Guo, I. Rouzina, and K. Musier-Forsyth. 2005. Nucleic acid chaperone activity of HIV-1 nucleocapsid protein: critical role in reverse transcription and molecular mechanism. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 80:217-86.
- 182. Li, L., J. M. Olvera, K. E. Yoder, R. S. Mitchell, S. L. Butler, M. Lieber, S. L. Martin, and F. D. Bushman. 2001. Role of the non-homologous DNA end joining pathway in the early steps of retroviral infection. EMBO J 20:3272-81.
- Li, L., K. Yoder, M. S. Hansen, J. Olvera, M. D. Miller, and F. D. Bushman. 2000. Retroviral cDNA integration: stimulation by HMG I family proteins. J Virol 74:10965-74.
- Li, Q., M. A. Ali, and J. I. Cohen. 2006. Insulin degrading enzyme is a cellular receptor mediating varicella-zoster virus infection and cell-to-cell spread. Cell 127:305-16.
- 185. Li, W., M. J. Moore, N. Vasilieva, J. Sui, S. K. Wong, M. A. Berne, M. Somasundaran, J. L. Sullivan, K. Luzuriaga, T. C. Greenough, H. Choe, and M. Farzan. 2003. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 is a functional receptor for the SARS coronavirus. Nature 426:450-4.
- 186. Lin, X., C. A. Derdeyn, R. Blumenthal, J. West, and E. Hunter. 2003. Progressive truncations C terminal to the membrane-spanning domain of simian immunodeficiency virus Env reduce fusogenicity and increase concentration dependence of Env for fusion. J Virol **77**:7067-77.
- 187. Lindenbach, B. D., M. J. Evans, A. J. Syder, B. Wolk, T. L. Tellinghuisen, C. C. Liu, T. Maruyama, R. O. Hynes, D. R. Burton, J. A. McKeating, and C. M. Rice. 2005. Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. Science 309:623-6.
- 188. Llano, M., S. Delgado, M. Vanegas, and E. M. Poeschla. 2004. Lens epithelium-derived growth factor/p75 prevents proteasomal degradation of HIV-1 integrase. J Biol Chem 279:55570-7.
- 189. Lodge, R., H. Gottlinger, D. Gabuzda, E. A. Cohen, and G. Lemay. 1994. The intracytoplasmic domain of gp41 mediates polarized budding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in MDCK cells. J Virol **68**:4857-61.

- 190. Lopalco, L., C. De Santis, R. Meneveri, R. Longhi, E. Ginelli, F. Grassi, A. G. Siccardi, and A. Beretta. 1993. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 C5 region mimics the HLA class I alpha 1 peptide-binding domain. Eur J Immunol 23:2016-21.
- 191. Lopez-Verges, S., G. Camus, G. Blot, R. Beauvoir, R. Benarous, and C. Berlioz-Torrent. 2006. Tail-interacting protein TIP47 is a connector between Gag and Env and is required for Env incorporation into HIV-1 virions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:14947-52.
- 192. Lu, M., S. C. Blacklow, and P. S. Kim. 1995. A trimeric structural domain of the HIV-1 transmembrane glycoprotein. Nat Struct Biol **2**:1075-82.
- 193. Lu, M., and P. S. Kim. 1997. A trimeric structural subdomain of the HIV-1 transmembrane glycoprotein. J Biomol Struct Dyn **15**:465-71.
- Lu, X., Y. Zhang, and Y. K. Shin. 2008. Supramolecular SNARE assembly precedes hemifusion in SNARE-mediated membrane fusion. Nat Struct Mol Biol 15:700-6.
- 195. Lummis, S. C. 2004. The transmembrane domain of the 5-HT3 receptor: its role in selectivity and gating. Biochem Soc Trans **32**:535-9.
- 196. Lyles, R. H., A. Munoz, T. E. Yamashita, H. Bazmi, R. Detels, C. R. Rinaldo, J. B. Margolick, J. P. Phair, and J. W. Mellors. 2000. Natural history of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viremia after seroconversion and proximal to AIDS in a large cohort of homosexual men. Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. J Infect Dis 181:872-80.
- 197. **Makinson, A., and J. Reynes.** 2009. The fusion inhibitor enfuvirtide in recent antiretroviral strategies. Curr Opin HIV AIDS **4:**150-8.
- 198. **Mammano, F., E. Kondo, J. Sodroski, A. Bukovsky, and H. G. Gottlinger.** 1995. Rescue of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix protein mutants by envelope glycoproteins with short cytoplasmic domains. J Virol **69:**3824-30.
- 199. **Manel, N., F. J. Kim, S. Kinet, N. Taylor, M. Sitbon, and J. L. Battini.** 2003. The ubiquitous glucose transporter GLUT-1 is a receptor for HTLV. Cell **115:**449-59.
- Markovic, I., and K. A. Clouse. 2004. Recent advances in understanding the molecular mechanisms of HIV-1 entry and fusion: revisiting current targets and considering new options for therapeutic intervention. Curr HIV Res 2:223-34.
- 201. Martens, S., and H. T. McMahon. 2008. Mechanisms of membrane fusion: disparate players and common principles. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol **9**:543-56.
- 202. Martin, K. A., R. Wyatt, M. Farzan, H. Choe, L. Marcon, E. Desjardins, J. Robinson, J. Sodroski, C. Gerard, and N. P. Gerard. 1997. CD4-independent binding of SIV gp120 to rhesus CCR5. Science **278**:1470-3.

- Martin, M. P., X. Gao, J. H. Lee, G. W. Nelson, R. Detels, J. J. Goedert, S. Buchbinder, K. Hoots, D. Vlahov, J. Trowsdale, M. Wilson, S. J. O'Brien, and M. Carrington. 2002. Epistatic interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-B delays the progression to AIDS. Nat Genet 31:429-34.
- 204. Massiah, M. A., M. R. Starich, C. Paschall, M. F. Summers, A. M. Christensen, and W. I. Sundquist. 1994. Three-dimensional structure of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix protein. J Mol Biol **244**:198-223.
- 205. Mattapallil, J. J., D. C. Douek, B. Hill, Y. Nishimura, M. Martin, and M. Roederer. 2005. Massive infection and loss of memory CD4+ T cells in multiple tissues during acute SIV infection. Nature **434**:1093-7.
- McBurney, S. P., and T. M. Ross. 2007. Developing broadly reactive HIV-1/AIDS vaccines: a review of polyvalent and centralized HIV-1 vaccines. Curr Pharm Des 13:1957-64.
- 207. McKeating, J. A., J. P. Moore, M. Ferguson, H. S. Marsden, S. Graham, J. W. Almond, D. J. Evans, and R. A. Weiss. 1992. Monoclonal antibodies to the C4 region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120: use in topological analysis of a CD4 binding site. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 8:451-9.
- 208. McKeating, J. A., C. Shotton, J. Cordell, S. Graham, P. Balfe, N. Sullivan, M. Charles, M. Page, A. Bolmstedt, S. Olofsson, and et al. 1993. Characterization of neutralizing monoclonal antibodies to linear and conformation-dependent epitopes within the first and second variable domains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120. J Virol 67:4932-44.
- 209. Mehandru, S., M. A. Poles, K. Tenner-Racz, A. Horowitz, A. Hurley, C. Hogan, D. Boden, P. Racz, and M. Markowitz. 2004. Primary HIV-1 infection is associated with preferential depletion of CD4+ T lymphocytes from effector sites in the gastrointestinal tract. J Exp Med 200:761-70.
- 210. Melar, M., D. E. Ott, and T. J. Hope. 2007. Physiological levels of virionassociated human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope induce coreceptordependent calcium flux. J Virol 81:1773-85.
- 211. Meucci, O., A. Fatatis, A. A. Simen, T. J. Bushell, P. W. Gray, and R. J. Miller. 1998. Chemokines regulate hippocampal neuronal signaling and gp120 neurotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**:14500-5.
- Miller, M. A., M. W. Cloyd, J. Liebmann, C. R. Rinaldo, Jr., K. R. Islam, S. Z. Wang, T. A. Mietzner, and R. C. Montelaro. 1993. Alterations in cell membrane permeability by the lentivirus lytic peptide (LLP-1) of HIV-1 transmembrane protein. Virology 196:89-100.
- Miller, M. A., T. A. Mietzner, M. W. Cloyd, W. G. Robey, and R. C. Montelaro. 1993. Identification of a calmodulin-binding and inhibitory peptide domain in the HIV-1 transmembrane glycoprotein. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 9:1057-66.

- 215. **Miyauchi, K., R. Curran, E. Matthews, J. Komano, T. Hoshino, D. M. Engelman, and Z. Matsuda.** 2006. Mutations of conserved glycine residues within the membrane-spanning domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 can inhibit membrane fusion and incorporation of Env onto virions. Jpn J Infect Dis **59**:77-84.
- 216. Miyauchi, K., J. Komano, Y. Yokomaku, W. Sugiura, N. Yamamoto, and Z. Matsuda. 2005. Role of the specific amino acid sequence of the membranespanning domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in membrane fusion. J Virol **79:**4720-9.
- 217. Modrow, S., B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, R. C. Gallo, F. Wong-Staal, and H. Wolf. 1987. Computer-assisted analysis of envelope protein sequences of seven human immunodeficiency virus isolates: prediction of antigenic epitopes in conserved and variable regions. J Virol 61:570-8.
- 218. Montgomery, R. I., M. S. Warner, B. J. Lum, and P. G. Spear. 1996. Herpes simplex virus-1 entry into cells mediated by a novel member of the TNF/NGF receptor family. Cell 87:427-36.
- 219. Moore, J. P., J. A. McKeating, R. A. Weiss, and Q. J. Sattentau. 1990. Dissociation of gp120 from HIV-1 virions induced by soluble CD4. Science 250:1139-42.
- 220. Moore, J. P., M. Thali, B. A. Jameson, F. Vignaux, G. K. Lewis, S. W. Poon, M. Charles, M. S. Fung, B. Sun, P. J. Durda, and et al. 1993. Immunochemical analysis of the gp120 surface glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: probing the structure of the C4 and V4 domains and the interaction of the C4 domain with the V3 loop. J Virol **67**:4785-96.
- 221. **Moreno, M. R., M. Giudici, and J. Villalain.** 2006. The membranotropic regions of the endo and ecto domains of HIV gp41 envelope glycoprotein. Biochim Biophys Acta **1758**:111-23.
- 222. Morita, E., and W. I. Sundquist. 2004. Retrovirus budding. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 20:395-425.
- 223. Morrison, H. G., F. Kirchhoff, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1995. Effects of mutations in constant regions 3 and 4 of envelope of simian immunodeficiency virus. Virology **210**:448-55.
- 224. **Morrison, T. G.** 2003. Structure and function of a paramyxovirus fusion protein. Biochim Biophys Acta **1614:**73-84.
- 225. **Murakami, T., and E. O. Freed.** 2000. Genetic evidence for an interaction between human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix and alpha-helix 2 of the gp41 cytoplasmic tail. J Virol **74**:3548-54.

- 226. **Murakami, T., and E. O. Freed.** 2000. The long cytoplasmic tail of gp41 is required in a cell type-dependent manner for HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein incorporation into virions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **97**:343-8.
- 227. Natarajan, V., M. Bosche, J. A. Metcalf, D. J. Ward, H. C. Lane, and J. A. Kovacs. 1999. HIV-1 replication in patients with undetectable plasma virus receiving HAART. Highly active antiretroviral therapy. Lancet **353**:119-20.
- 228. Nguyen, D. H., and J. E. Hildreth. 2000. Evidence for budding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 selectively from glycolipid-enriched membrane lipid rafts. J Virol **74**:3264-72.
- 229. Nydegger, S., S. Khurana, D. N. Krementsov, M. Foti, and M. Thali. 2006. Mapping of tetraspanin-enriched microdomains that can function as gateways for HIV-1. J Cell Biol **173**:795-807.
- 230. Ohgimoto, S., T. Shioda, K. Mori, E. E. Nakayama, H. Hu, and Y. Nagai. 1998. Location-specific, unequal contribution of the N glycans in simian immunodeficiency virus gp120 to viral infectivity and removal of multiple glycans without disturbing infectivity. J Virol **72**:8365-70.
- Ohno, H., R. C. Aguilar, M. C. Fournier, S. Hennecke, P. Cosson, and J. S. Bonifacino. 1997. Interaction of endocytic signals from the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein complex with members of the adaptor medium chain family. Virology 238:305-15.
- 232. Oldstone, M. B., D. Homann, H. Lewicki, and D. Stevenson. 2002. One, two, or three step: measles virus receptor dance. Virology **299:**162-3.
- 233. Olson, W. C., and J. M. Jacobson. 2009. CCR5 monoclonal antibodies for HIV-1 therapy. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 4:104-11.
- 234. **Ono, A., and E. O. Freed.** 2004. Cell-type-dependent targeting of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 assembly to the plasma membrane and the multivesicular body. J Virol **78**:1552-63.
- 235. **Ono, A., and E. O. Freed.** 2001. Plasma membrane rafts play a critical role in HIV-1 assembly and release. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **98**:13925-30.
- 236. Ono, A., J. M. Orenstein, and E. O. Freed. 2000. Role of the Gag matrix domain in targeting human immunodeficiency virus type 1 assembly. J Virol **74**:2855-66.
- Orenstein, J. M., M. S. Meltzer, T. Phipps, and H. E. Gendelman. 1988. Cytoplasmic assembly and accumulation of human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2 in recombinant human colony-stimulating factor-1-treated human monocytes: an ultrastructural study. J Virol 62:2578-86.

- 238. Orentas, R. J., and J. E. Hildreth. 1993. Association of host cell surface adhesion receptors and other membrane proteins with HIV and SIV. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 9:1157-65.
- 239. Orloff, S. L., C. I. Bandea, M. S. Kennedy, G. P. Allaway, P. J. Maddon, and J. S. McDougal. 1995. Increase in sensitivity to soluble CD4 by primary HIV type 1 isolates after passage through C8166 cells: association with sequence differences in the first constant (C1) region of glycoprotein 120. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 11:335-42.
- 240. **Otteken, A., P. L. Earl, and B. Moss.** 1996. Folding, assembly, and intracellular trafficking of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein analyzed with monoclonal antibodies recognizing maturational intermediates. J Virol **70**:3407-15.
- 241. Owens, R. J., C. Burke, and J. K. Rose. 1994. Mutations in the membranespanning domain of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein that affect fusion activity. J Virol **68**:570-4.
- 242. Owens, R. J., J. W. Dubay, E. Hunter, and R. W. Compans. 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus envelope protein determines the site of virus release in polarized epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **88**:3987-91.
- 243. **Pan, Z., W. Radding, T. Zhou, E. Hunter, J. Mountz, and J. M. McDonald.** 1996. Role of calmodulin in HIV-potentiated Fas-mediated apoptosis. Am J Pathol **149:**903-10.
- 244. **Pashov, A., G. Canziani, S. Macleod, J. Plaxco, B. Monzavi-Karbassi, and T. Kieber-Emmons.** 2005. Targeting carbohydrate antigens in HIV vaccine development. Vaccine **23:**2168-75.
- 245. **Pashov, A., M. Perry, M. Dyar, M. Chow, and T. Kieber-Emmons.** 2007. Defining carbohydrate antigens as HIV vaccine candidates. Curr Pharm Des **13**:185-201.
- 246. **Paxton, W., R. I. Connor, and N. R. Landau.** 1993. Incorporation of Vpr into human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virions: requirement for the p6 region of gag and mutational analysis. J Virol **67:**7229-37.
- 247. Perfettini, J. L., M. Castedo, T. Roumier, K. Andreau, R. Nardacci, M. Piacentini, and G. Kroemer. 2005. Mechanisms of apoptosis induction by the HIV-1 envelope. Cell Death Differ **12 Suppl 1:**916-23.
- 248. Perkins, N. D., N. L. Edwards, C. S. Duckett, A. B. Agranoff, R. M. Schmid, and G. J. Nabel. 1993. A cooperative interaction between NF-kappa B and Sp1 is required for HIV-1 enhancer activation. EMBO J **12**:3551-8.
- 249. **Peruzzi, F.** 2006. The multiple functions of HIV-1 Tat: proliferation versus apoptosis. Front Biosci **11**:708-17.

- 250. **Pettit, S. C., L. E. Everitt, S. Choudhury, B. M. Dunn, and A. H. Kaplan.** 2004. Initial cleavage of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 GagPol precursor by its activated protease occurs by an intramolecular mechanism. J Virol **78**:8477-85.
- 251. **Pfeiffer, T., H. Zentgraf, B. Freyaldenhoven, and V. Bosch.** 1997. Transfer of endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi retention signals to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp160 inhibits intracellular transport and proteolytic processing of viral glycoprotein but does not influence the cellular site of virus particle budding. J Gen Virol **78 (Pt 7):**1745-53.
- Piguet, V., O. Schwartz, S. Le Gall, and D. Trono. 1999. The downregulation of CD4 and MHC-I by primate lentiviruses: a paradigm for the modulation of cell surface receptors. Immunol Rev 168:51-63.
- 253. **Pikora, C. A.** 2004. Glycosylation of the ENV spike of primate immunodeficiency viruses and antibody neutralization. Curr HIV Res **2**:243-54.
- 254. Pileri, P., Y. Uematsu, S. Campagnoli, G. Galli, F. Falugi, R. Petracca, A. J. Weiner, M. Houghton, D. Rosa, G. Grandi, and S. Abrignani. 1998. Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. Science **282**:938-41.
- 255. **Pinter, C., A. G. Siccardi, R. Longhi, and A. Clivio.** 1995. Direct interaction of complement factor H with the C1 domain of HIV type 1 glycoprotein 120. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **11:**577-88.
- 256. **Pinter, C., A. G. Siccardi, L. Lopalco, R. Longhi, and A. Clivio.** 1995. HIV glycoprotein 41 and complement factor H interact with each other and share functional as well as antigenic homology. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **11**:971-80.
- 257. **Pontow, S. E., N. V. Heyden, S. Wei, and L. Ratner.** 2004. Actin cytoskeletal reorganizations and coreceptor-mediated activation of rac during human immunodeficiency virus-induced cell fusion. J Virol **78:**7138-47.
- 258. Potempa, S., L. Picard, J. D. Reeves, D. Wilkinson, R. A. Weiss, and S. J. Talbot. 1997. CD4-independent infection by human immunodeficiency virus type 2 strain ROD/B: the role of the N-terminal domain of CXCR-4 in fusion and entry. J Virol **71**:4419-24.
- 259. **Poumbourios, P., W. el Ahmar, D. A. McPhee, and B. E. Kemp.** 1995. Determinants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein oligomeric structure. J Virol **69**:1209-18.
- 260. **Provitera, P., R. El-Maghrabi, and S. Scarlata.** 2006. The effect of HIV-1 Gag myristoylation on membrane binding. Biophys Chem **119:**23-32.
- 261. Qian, K., S. L. Morris-Natschke, and K. H. Lee. 2009. HIV entry inhibitors and their potential in HIV therapy. Med Res Rev 29:369-93.

- Quigley, J. G., C. C. Burns, M. M. Anderson, E. D. Lynch, K. M. Sabo, J. Overbaugh, and J. L. Abkowitz. 2000. Cloning of the cellular receptor for feline leukemia virus subgroup C (FeLV-C), a retrovirus that induces red cell aplasia. Blood 95:1093-9.
- 263. Racz, P., K. Tenner-Racz, C. Kahl, A. C. Feller, P. Kern, and M. Dietrich. 1986. Spectrum of morphologic changes of lymph nodes from patients with AIDS or AIDS-related complexes. Prog Allergy **37**:81-181.
- Radding, W., Z. Q. Pan, E. Hunter, P. Johnston, J. P. Williams, and J. M. McDonald. 1996. Expression of HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein alters cellular calmodulin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 218:192-7.
- 265. **Raja, N. U., M. J. Vincent, and M. abdul Jabbar.** 1994. Vpu-mediated proteolysis of gp160/CD4 chimeric envelope glycoproteins in the endoplasmic reticulum: requirement of both the anchor and cytoplasmic domains of CD4. Virology **204:**357-66.
- 266. **Rasko, J. E., J. L. Battini, R. J. Gottschalk, I. Mazo, and A. D. Miller.** 1999. The RD114/simian type D retrovirus receptor is a neutral amino acid transporter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **96**:2129-34.
- 267. Ray, N., and R. W. Doms. 2006. HIV-1 coreceptors and their inhibitors. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 303:97-120.
- 268. Reeves, J. D., A. McKnight, S. Potempa, G. Simmons, P. W. Gray, C. A. Power, T. Wells, R. A. Weiss, and S. J. Talbot. 1997. CD4-independent infection by HIV-2 (ROD/B): use of the 7-transmembrane receptors CXCR-4, CCR-3, and V28 for entry. Virology 231:130-4.
- 269. **Richman, D. D., T. Wrin, S. J. Little, and C. J. Petropoulos.** 2003. Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **100**:4144-9.
- Rigoni, M., P. Caccin, S. Gschmeissner, G. Koster, A. D. Postle, O. Rossetto, G. Schiavo, and C. Montecucco. 2005. Equivalent effects of snake PLA2 neurotoxins and lysophospholipid-fatty acid mixtures. Science 310:1678-80.
- 271. Roche, S., A. A. Albertini, J. Lepault, S. Bressanelli, and Y. Gaudin. 2008. Structures of vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein: membrane fusion revisited. Cell Mol Life Sci 65:1716-28.
- Roos, M. T., J. M. Lange, R. E. de Goede, R. A. Coutinho, P. T. Schellekens, F. Miedema, and M. Tersmette. 1992. Viral phenotype and immune response in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Infect Dis 165:427-32.
- Rosenberg, E. S., M. Altfeld, S. H. Poon, M. N. Phillips, B. M. Wilkes, R. L. Eldridge, G. K. Robbins, R. T. D'Aquila, P. J. Goulder, and B. D. Walker. 2000. Immune control of HIV-1 after early treatment of acute infection. Nature 407:523-6.

- 274. Roux, K. H., and K. A. Taylor. 2007. AIDS virus envelope spike structure. Curr Opin Struct Biol 17:244-52.
- 275. Rowell, J. F., P. E. Stanhope, and R. F. Siliciano. 1995. Endocytosis of endogenously synthesized HIV-1 envelope protein. Mechanism and role in processing for association with class II MHC. J Immunol **155**:473-88.
- 276. Russ, W. P., and D. M. Engelman. 2000. The GXXXG motif: a framework for transmembrane helix-helix association. J Mol Biol **296:**911-9.
- 277. Salzwedel, K., P. B. Johnston, S. J. Roberts, J. W. Dubay, and E. Hunter. 1993. Expression and characterization of glycophospholipid-anchored human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins. J Virol **67**:5279-88.
- 278. **Salzwedel, K., J. T. West, and E. Hunter.** 1999. A conserved tryptophan-rich motif in the membrane-proximal region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 ectodomain is important for Env-mediated fusion and virus infectivity. J Virol **73:**2469-80.
- 279. Salzwedel, K., J. T. West, Jr., M. J. Mulligan, and E. Hunter. 1998. Retention of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein in the endoplasmic reticulum does not redirect virus assembly from the plasma membrane. J Virol **72**:7523-31.
- 280. Saphire, A. C., M. D. Bobardt, and P. A. Gallay. 1999. Host cyclophilin A mediates HIV-1 attachment to target cells via heparans. EMBO J 18:6771-85.
- 281. Saphire, A. C., M. D. Bobardt, and P. A. Gallay. 2000. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 hijacks host cyclophilin A for its attachment to target cells. Immunol Res 21:211-7.
- Sattentau, Q. J., J. P. Moore, F. Vignaux, F. Traincard, and P. Poignard. 1993. Conformational changes induced in the envelope glycoproteins of the human and simian immunodeficiency viruses by soluble receptor binding. J Virol 67:7383-93.
- 283. Schibli, D. J., R. C. Montelaro, and H. J. Vogel. 2001. The membrane-proximal tryptophan-rich region of the HIV glycoprotein, gp41, forms a well-defined helix in dodecylphosphocholine micelles. Biochemistry **40**:9570-8.
- 284. Schonning, K., B. Jansson, S. Olofsson, J. O. Nielsen, and J. S. Hansen. 1996. Resistance to V3-directed neutralization caused by an N-linked oligosaccharide depends on the quaternary structure of the HIV-1 envelope oligomer. Virology **218**:134-40.
- 285. Schwartz, O., Y. Riviere, J. M. Heard, and O. Danos. 1993. Reduced cell surface expression of processed human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein in the presence of Nef. J Virol 67:3274-80.

- Seddiki, N., H. Bouhlal, L. Rabehi, A. Benjouad, C. Devaux, J. C. Gluckman, and L. Gattegno. 1997. Involvement of the HIV-1 external envelope glycoprotein 120 (gp120) C2 region in gp120 oligomerization. Biochim Biophys Acta 1340:277-82.
- 287. Senes, A., D. E. Engel, and W. F. DeGrado. 2004. Folding of helical membrane proteins: the role of polar, GXXXG-like and proline motifs. Curr Opin Struct Biol 14:465-79.
- 288. Senes, A., M. Gerstein, and D. M. Engelman. 2000. Statistical analysis of amino acid patterns in transmembrane helices: the GXXXG motif occurs frequently and in association with beta-branched residues at neighboring positions. J Mol Biol **296**:921-36.
- 289. Shang, L., L. Yue, and E. Hunter. 2008. Role of the membrane-spanning domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein in cell-cell fusion and virus infection. J Virol 82:5417-28.
- 290. Shankarappa, R., J. B. Margolick, S. J. Gange, A. G. Rodrigo, D. Upchurch, H. Farzadegan, P. Gupta, C. R. Rinaldo, G. H. Learn, X. He, X. L. Huang, and J. I. Mullins. 1999. Consistent viral evolutionary changes associated with the progression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 73:10489-502.
- 291. Shaw, G. M., B. H. Hahn, S. K. Arya, J. E. Groopman, R. C. Gallo, and F. Wong-Staal. 1984. Molecular characterization of human T-cell leukemia (lymphotropic) virus type III in the acquired immune deficiency syndrome. Science 226:1165-71.
- 292. Shimizu, N., and T. Gojobori. 2000. How can human and simian immunodeficiency viruses utilize chemokine receptors as their coreceptors? Gene 259:199-205.
- 293. Shioda, T., S. Oka, X. Xin, H. Liu, R. Harukuni, A. Kurotani, M. Fukushima, M. K. Hasan, T. Shiino, Y. Takebe, A. Iwamoto, and Y. Nagai. 1997. In vivo sequence variability of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope gp120: association of V2 extension with slow disease progression. J Virol 71:4871-81.
- 294. Shukla, D., J. Liu, P. Blaiklock, N. W. Shworak, X. Bai, J. D. Esko, G. H. Cohen, R. J. Eisenberg, R. D. Rosenberg, and P. G. Spear. 1999. A novel role for 3-O-sulfated heparan sulfate in herpes simplex virus 1 entry. Cell **99**:13-22.
- 295. Sirven, A., F. Pflumio, V. Zennou, M. Titeux, W. Vainchenker, L. Coulombel, A. Dubart-Kupperschmitt, and P. Charneau. 2000. The human immunodeficiency virus type-1 central DNA flap is a crucial determinant for lentiviral vector nuclear import and gene transduction of human hematopoietic stem cells. Blood 96:4103-10.
- 296. Slobod, K. S., M. Bonsignori, S. A. Brown, X. Zhan, J. Stambas, and J. L. Hurwitz. 2005. HIV vaccines: brief review and discussion of future directions. Expert Rev Vaccines 4:305-13.

- 297. Smyth, R. J., Y. Yi, A. Singh, and R. G. Collman. 1998. Determinants of entry cofactor utilization and tropism in a dualtropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 primary isolate. J Virol **72**:4478-84.
- 298. Sokolskaja, E., D. M. Sayah, and J. Luban. 2004. Target cell cyclophilin A modulates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity. J Virol **78**:12800-8.
- 299. **Somasundaran, M., and H. L. Robinson.** 1988. Unexpectedly high levels of HIV-1 RNA and protein synthesis in a cytocidal infection. Science **242**:1554-7.
- 300. Stiasny, K., and F. X. Heinz. 2006. Flavivirus membrane fusion. J Gen Virol 87:2755-66.
- 301. Strack, B., A. Calistri, S. Craig, E. Popova, and H. G. Gottlinger. 2003. AIP1/ALIX is a binding partner for HIV-1 p6 and EIAV p9 functioning in virus budding. Cell **114**:689-99.
- 302. Suhasini, M., and T. R. Reddy. 2009. Cellular proteins and HIV-1 Rev function. Curr HIV Res 7:91-100.
- Sun, X., S. Belouzard, and G. R. Whittaker. 2008. Molecular architecture of the bipartite fusion loops of vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein G, a class III viral fusion protein. J Biol Chem 283:6418-27.
- 304. Takada, A., C. Robison, H. Goto, A. Sanchez, K. G. Murti, M. A. Whitt, and Y. Kawaoka. 1997. A system for functional analysis of Ebola virus glycoprotein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:14764-9.
- 305. Tan, K., J. Liu, J. Wang, S. Shen, and M. Lu. 1997. Atomic structure of a thermostable subdomain of HIV-1 gp41. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:12303-8.
- Tanner, J., J. Weis, D. Fearon, Y. Whang, and E. Kieff. 1987. Epstein-Barr virus gp350/220 binding to the B lymphocyte C3d receptor mediates adsorption, capping, and endocytosis. Cell 50:203-13.
- 307. Tardif, M. R., and M. J. Tremblay. 2005. Tetraspanin CD81 provides a costimulatory signal resulting in increased human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gene expression in primary CD4+ T lymphocytes through NF-kappaB, NFAT, and AP-1 transduction pathways. J Virol **79**:4316-28.
- 308. Tassaneetrithep, B., T. H. Burgess, A. Granelli-Piperno, C. Trumpfheller, J. Finke, W. Sun, M. A. Eller, K. Pattanapanyasat, S. Sarasombath, D. L. Birx, R. M. Steinman, S. Schlesinger, and M. A. Marovich. 2003. DC-SIGN (CD209) mediates dengue virus infection of human dendritic cells. J Exp Med 197:823-9.
- 309. Tencza, S. B., M. A. Miller, K. Islam, T. A. Mietzner, and R. C. Montelaro. 1995. Effect of amino acid substitutions on calmodulin binding and cytolytic properties of the LLP-1 peptide segment of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmembrane protein. J Virol 69:5199-202.

- 311. Thoulouze, M. I., M. Lafage, M. Schachner, U. Hartmann, H. Cremer, and M. Lafon. 1998. The neural cell adhesion molecule is a receptor for rabies virus. J Virol **72**:7181-90.
- 312. Titti, F., A. Cafaro, F. Ferrantelli, A. Tripiciano, S. Moretti, A. Caputo, R. Gavioli, F. Ensoli, M. Robert-Guroff, S. Barnett, and B. Ensoli. 2007. Problems and emerging approaches in HIV/AIDS vaccine development. Expert Opin Emerg Drugs 12:23-48.
- 313. **Toohey, K., K. Wehrly, J. Nishio, S. Perryman, and B. Chesebro.** 1995. Human immunodeficiency virus envelope V1 and V2 regions influence replication efficiency in macrophages by affecting virus spread. Virology **213**:70-9.
- 314. **Triantafilou, K., Y. Takada, and M. Triantafilou.** 2001. Mechanisms of integrinmediated virus attachment and internalization process. Crit Rev Immunol **21:**311-22.
- 315. **Tuffereau, C., J. Benejean, D. Blondel, B. Kieffer, and A. Flamand.** 1998. Low-affinity nerve-growth factor receptor (P75NTR) can serve as a receptor for rabies virus. EMBO J **17**:7250-9.
- 316. Ugolini, S., I. Mondor, and Q. J. Sattentau. 1999. HIV-1 attachment: another look. Trends Microbiol 7:144-9.
- Unterreitmeier, S., A. Fuchs, T. Schaffler, R. G. Heym, D. Frishman, and D. Langosch. 2007. Phenylalanine promotes interaction of transmembrane domains via GXXXG motifs. J Mol Biol 374:705-18.
- 318. Vincent, N., C. Genin, and E. Malvoisin. 2002. Identification of a conserved domain of the HIV-1 transmembrane protein gp41 which interacts with cholesteryl groups. Biochim Biophys Acta **1567**:157-64.
- 319. Vishwanathan, S. A., and E. Hunter. 2008. Importance of the membraneperturbing properties of the membrane-proximal external region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 to viral fusion. J Virol 82:5118-26.
- 320. Vzorov, A. N., K. M. Gernert, and R. W. Compans. 2005. Multiple domains of the SIV Env protein determine virus replication efficiency and neutralization sensitivity. Virology **332**:89-101.
- 321. Waheed, A. A., S. D. Ablan, M. K. Mankowski, J. E. Cummins, R. G. Ptak, C. P. Schaffner, and E. O. Freed. 2006. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by amphotericin B methyl ester: selection for resistant variants. J Biol Chem 281:28699-711.

- 322. Waheed, A. A., S. D. Ablan, J. D. Roser, R. C. Sowder, C. P. Schaffner, E. Chertova, and E. O. Freed. 2007. HIV-1 escape from the entry-inhibiting effects of a cholesterol-binding compound via cleavage of gp41 by the viral protease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:8467-71.
- 323. Waheed, A. A., S. D. Ablan, F. Soheilian, K. Nagashima, A. Ono, C. P. Schaffner, and E. O. Freed. 2008. Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 assembly and release by the cholesterol-binding compound amphotericin B methyl ester: evidence for Vpu dependence. J Virol 82:9776-81.
- 324. Waheed, A. A., and E. O. Freed. 2009. Lipids and membrane microdomains in HIV-1 replication. Virus Res 143:162-76.
- 325. Wang, K. S., R. J. Kuhn, E. G. Strauss, S. Ou, and J. H. Strauss. 1992. Highaffinity laminin receptor is a receptor for Sindbis virus in mammalian cells. J Virol 66:4992-5001.
- 326. Wang, W. K., M. Essex, and T. H. Lee. 1996. Single amino acid substitution in constant region 1 or 4 of gp120 causes the phenotype of a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variant with mutations in hypervariable regions 1 and 2 to revert. J Virol **70**:607-11.
- 327. Wang, Y., X. Y. Liu, and E. De Clercq. 2009. Role of the HIV-1 positive elongation factor P-TEFb and inhibitors thereof. Mini Rev Med Chem 9:379-85.
- 328. Wei, X., J. M. Decker, H. Liu, Z. Zhang, R. B. Arani, J. M. Kilby, M. S. Saag, X. Wu, G. M. Shaw, and J. C. Kappes. 2002. Emergence of resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in patients receiving fusion inhibitor (T-20) monotherapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 46:1896-905.
- 329. Wei, X., J. M. Decker, S. Wang, H. Hui, J. C. Kappes, X. Wu, J. F. Salazar-Gonzalez, M. G. Salazar, J. M. Kilby, M. S. Saag, N. L. Komarova, M. A. Nowak, B. H. Hahn, P. D. Kwong, and G. M. Shaw. 2003. Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. Nature **422**:307-12.
- Weinhold, K. J., H. K. Lyerly, S. D. Stanley, A. A. Austin, T. J. Matthews, and D. P. Bolognesi. 1989. HIV-1 GP120-mediated immune suppression and lymphocyte destruction in the absence of viral infection. J Immunol 142:3091-7.
- Weiss, C. D. 2003. HIV-1 gp41: mediator of fusion and target for inhibition. AIDS Rev 5:214-21.
- 332. Weissenhorn, W., A. Dessen, S. C. Harrison, J. J. Skehel, and D. C. Wiley. 1997. Atomic structure of the ectodomain from HIV-1 gp41. Nature **387**:426-30.
- 333. Weissman, D., R. L. Rabin, J. Arthos, A. Rubbert, M. Dybul, R. Swofford, S. Venkatesan, J. M. Farber, and A. S. Fauci. 1997. Macrophage-tropic HIV and SIV envelope proteins induce a signal through the CCR5 chemokine receptor. Nature **389**:981-5.
- 334. Welman, M., G. Lemay, and E. A. Cohen. 2007. Role of envelope processing and gp41 membrane spanning domain in the formation of human

immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) fusion-competent envelope glycoprotein complex. Virus Res **124:**103-12.

- 335. Weng, J., D. N. Krementsov, S. Khurana, N. H. Roy, and M. Thali. 2009. Formation of syncytia is repressed by tetraspanins in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-producing cells. J Virol 83:7467-74.
- 336. West, J. T., P. B. Johnston, S. R. Dubay, and E. Hunter. 2001. Mutations within the putative membrane-spanning domain of the simian immunodeficiency virus transmembrane glycoprotein define the minimal requirements for fusion, incorporation, and infectivity. J Virol **75**:9601-12.
- 337. West, J. T., S. K. Weldon, S. Wyss, X. Lin, Q. Yu, M. Thali, and E. Hunter. 2002. Mutation of the dominant endocytosis motif in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 can complement matrix mutations without increasing Env incorporation. J Virol 76:3338-49.
- 338. Wherry, E. J., J. N. Blattman, K. Murali-Krishna, R. van der Most, and R. Ahmed. 2003. Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment. J Virol 77:4911-27.
- 339. Wherry, E. J., V. Teichgraber, T. C. Becker, D. Masopust, S. M. Kaech, R. Antia, U. H. von Andrian, and R. Ahmed. 2003. Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8 T cell subsets. Nat Immunol 4:225-34.
- 340. White, J. M., S. E. Delos, M. Brecher, and K. Schornberg. 2008. Structures and mechanisms of viral membrane fusion proteins: multiple variations on a common theme. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol **43**:189-219.
- 341. Wickner, W., and R. Schekman. 2008. Membrane fusion. Nat Struct Mol Biol 15:658-64.
- 342. Wildum, S., M. Schindler, J. Munch, and F. Kirchhoff. 2006. Contribution of Vpu, Env, and Nef to CD4 down-modulation and resistance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected T cells to superinfection. J Virol 80:8047-59.
- Wilk, T., T. Pfeiffer, A. Bukovsky, G. Moldenhauer, and V. Bosch. 1996. Glycoprotein incorporation and HIV-1 infectivity despite exchange of the gp160 membrane-spanning domain. Virology 218:269-74.
- 344. Willey, R. L., J. S. Bonifacino, B. J. Potts, M. A. Martin, and R. D. Klausner. 1988. Biosynthesis, cleavage, and degradation of the human immunodeficiency virus 1 envelope glycoprotein gp160. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:9580-4.
- 345. Willey, R. L., F. Maldarelli, M. A. Martin, and K. Strebel. 1992. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein induces rapid degradation of CD4. J Virol 66:7193-200.

- 346. Willey, R. L., F. Maldarelli, M. A. Martin, and K. Strebel. 1992. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein regulates the formation of intracellular gp160-CD4 complexes. J Virol 66:226-34.
- 347. Willey, R. L., and M. A. Martin. 1993. Association of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein with particles depends on interactions between the third variable and conserved regions of gp120. J Virol **67:**3639-43.
- 348. Willey, R. L., R. Shibata, E. O. Freed, M. W. Cho, and M. A. Martin. 1996. Differential glycosylation, virion incorporation, and sensitivity to neutralizing antibodies of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope produced from infected primary T-lymphocyte and macrophage cultures. J Virol **70**:6431-6.
- 349. Wu, X., J. A. Conway, J. Kim, and J. C. Kappes. 1994. Localization of the Vpx packaging signal within the C terminus of the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Gag precursor protein. J Virol **68**:6161-9.
- 350. Wyatt, R., P. D. Kwong, E. Desjardins, R. W. Sweet, J. Robinson, W. A. Hendrickson, and J. G. Sodroski. 1998. The antigenic structure of the HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein. Nature **393**:705-11.
- 351. Wyatt, R., J. Moore, M. Accola, E. Desjardin, J. Robinson, and J. Sodroski. 1995. Involvement of the V1/V2 variable loop structure in the exposure of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 epitopes induced by receptor binding. J Virol **69:**5723-33.
- 352. Wyatt, R., and J. Sodroski. 1998. The HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins: fusogens, antigens, and immunogens. Science **280**:1884-8.
- 353. Wyatt, R., N. Sullivan, M. Thali, H. Repke, D. Ho, J. Robinson, M. Posner, and J. Sodroski. 1993. Functional and immunologic characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins containing deletions of the major variable regions. J Virol 67:4557-65.
- 354. Wyss, S., A. S. Dimitrov, F. Baribaud, T. G. Edwards, R. Blumenthal, and J. A. Hoxie. 2005. Regulation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein fusion by a membrane-interactive domain in the gp41 cytoplasmic tail. J Virol **79**:12231-41.
- 355. Xiang, S. H., P. D. Kwong, R. Gupta, C. D. Rizzuto, D. J. Casper, R. Wyatt, L. Wang, W. A. Hendrickson, M. L. Doyle, and J. Sodroski. 2002. Mutagenic stabilization and/or disruption of a CD4-bound state reveals distinct conformations of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 envelope glycoprotein. J Virol **76**:9888-99.
- 356. **Yang, X., Y. Chen, and D. Gabuzda.** 1999. ERK MAP kinase links cytokine signals to activation of latent HIV-1 infection by stimulating a cooperative interaction of AP-1 and NF-kappaB. J Biol Chem **274**:27981-8.
- 357. Yoo, J., and Q. Cui. 2008. Does arginine remain protonated in the lipid membrane? Insights from microscopic pKa calculations. Biophys J 94:L61-3.

- 358. Yu, X., X. Yuan, Z. Matsuda, T. H. Lee, and M. Essex. 1992. The matrix protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 is required for incorporation of viral envelope protein into mature virions. J Virol 66:4966-71.
- 359. Yue, L., L. Shang, and E. Hunter. 2009. Truncation of the Membrane-spanning Domain of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type I Envelope Glycoprotein Defines Elements Required for Fusion, Incorporation and Infectivity. J Virol.
- 360. Zennou, V., C. Petit, D. Guetard, U. Nerhbass, L. Montagnier, and P. Charneau. 2000. HIV-1 genome nuclear import is mediated by a central DNA flap. Cell **101**:173-85.
- Zhou, Y., H. Zhang, J. D. Siliciano, and R. F. Siliciano. 2005. Kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 decay following entry into resting CD4+ T cells. J Virol 79:2199-210.
- Zhu, P., J. Liu, J. Bess, Jr., E. Chertova, J. D. Lifson, H. Grise, G. A. Ofek, K. A. Taylor, and K. H. Roux. 2006. Distribution and three-dimensional structure of AIDS virus envelope spikes. Nature 441:847-52.
- Zhu, P., H. Winkler, E. Chertova, K. A. Taylor, and K. H. Roux. 2008. Cryoelectron tomography of HIV-1 envelope spikes: further evidence for tripodlike legs. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000203.
- Zolla-Pazner, S., J. O'Leary, S. Burda, M. K. Gorny, M. Kim, J. Mascola, and F. McCutchan. 1995. Serotyping of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates from diverse geographic locations by flow cytometry. J Virol 69:3807-15.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

293T	human kidney epithelial cell line
AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
AP-2	clathrin-associated protein 2
AP-3	clathrin-associated protein 3
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
bp	base pair
СА	capsid domain or capsid protein
capsid	protein shell of a virion
CD4	complement determinant
cDNA	complementary DNA
COS-1	African green monkey kidney fibroblast-like cells
СТ	cytoplasmic tail
Cys	cysteine
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
env	envelope gene
Env	Envelope glycoprotein
F-actin	filamentous actin
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
gag	group specific antigen gene
Gag	group specific antigen polyprotein
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GTPase	guanine nucleotide phosphatase
НА	hemagglutinin
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus

HIV-1	HIV type I
HTLV	Human T-cell leukemia virus
I domain	interaction domain
IN	integrase protein
L domain	late domain
LTR	long terminal repeat
МА	matrix domain or matrix protein
μm	micrometer
MMTV	mouse mammary tumor virus
M-PMV	Mason-Pfizer monkey virus
MSD	membrane-spanning domain
mRNA	messenger RNA
MuLV	Moloney murine leukemia virus
MVB	multi-vesicular body
NC	nucleocapsid domain or nucleocapsid protein
nm	nanometer
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
nt	nucleotide
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
pen	penicillin
рН	potential of hydrogen
Phe	phenylalanine
PIC	preintegration complex
pol	polymerase gene
Pol	polymerase protein domain

poly(A)tail	adenine nucleodies attached to messenger RNA
PPT	polypurine tract
PR	protease protein
pro	protease gene
retrovirus	RNA tumor virus
Rev	regulator of expression viral proteins
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RRE	Rev response element
RT	reverse transcriptase
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SIV	simian immunodeficiency virus
SRP	signal recognition particle
strep	streptomycin
SU	surface unit
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TGN	trans-Golgi network
Thr	threonine
ТМ	transmembrane domain or protein
tRNA	transfer RNA
Tsg101	tumor susceptibility gene 101
Tyr	tyrosine
VSV	vesicular stomatitis virus
VSV-G	glycoprotein of VSV
WT	wild type